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AFFIDAVIT 

I, Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang, of 2900 - 733 Seymour Street, Vancouver, BC, V6B 0S6, legal 

administrative assistant, AFFIRM THAT: 

1. I am a legal administrative assistant of the law finn of Owen Bird Law Corporation, 

counsel for 5993 15 B.C. Ltd. ("599") and Daniel Matthews ("Matthews") in this legal 
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proceeding, and as such have personal knowledge of the facts and matters hereinafter 

deposed to. 

2. Attached hereto as Exhibit "A" is a copy of emails exchanged between Scott H. Stephens, 

counsel for 599 and Matthews, and Kibben Jackson, counsel for Sanovest Holdings Ltd. 

("Sanovest") on June 30, 2025 and July 2, 2025. 

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit "B" is the Reasons for Judgment of Associate Judge Nielsen 

dated April 18, 2024. 

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit "C" 1s the Oral Reasons for Judgment of 

Madam Justice Morellato dated May 16, 2025. 

5. 599 and Matthews commenced a petition proceeding on June 1, 2023 in Supreme Court 

of British Columbia and converted to an action later with an Action Number of S-234048 

(the "Oppression Action"): 

a) Attached hereto as Exhibit "D" is a copy of the Petition to Court filed on 

June 1, 2023 in the Oppression Action; and 

b) Attached hereto as Exhibit "E" is a copy of the Response to Petition filed by the 

respondents Tian Kusumoto and Sanovest on August 25, 2023 in the Oppression 

Action. 

6. Sanovest commenced an action on May 13, 2022 in Supreme Court of British Columbia 

with an Action Number of S-223937 (the "Sanovest Action"): 

a) Attached hereto as Exhibit "F" is a copy of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim 

filed on March 20, 2023 in the Sanovest Action; 

b) Attached hereto as Exhibit "G" is a copy of the Response to Amended Notice of 

Civil Claim filed by Matthews on May 5, 2023 in the Sanovest Action; 

c) Attached hereto as Exhibit "H" is a copy of the Third Party Notice filed by 

Matthews on May 5, 2023 in the Sanovest Action; 
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d) Attached hereto as Exhibit "I" is a copy of the Counterclaim filed by Matthews on 

May 5, 2023 in the Sanovest Action; 

e) Attached hereto as Exhibit "J" is a copy of the Response to Civil Claim filed by 

Tomoson Kusumoto on May 12, 2023 in the Sanovest Action; 

f) Attached hereto as Exhibit "K" is a copy of the Response to Counterclaim filed 

by Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto on June 22, 2023 in the Sanovest Action; 

g) Attached hereto as Exhibit "L" is a copy of the Reply filed by Sanovest on 

June 22, 2023 in the Sanovest Action; 

h) Attached hereto as Exhibit "M" is a copy of the Response to Counterclaim filed 

by Tomoson Kusumoto on August 1, 2023 in the Sanovest Action; and 

i) Attached hereto as Exhibit "N" is a copy of the Response to Third Party Notice 

filed by Tomoson Kusumoto on August 1, 2023 in the Sanovest Action. 

7. Tom Kusumoto commenced an action on August 2, 2022 in Supreme Court of British 

Columbia with an Action Number ofS-226218 (the "Tom Debt Action"): 

a) Attached hereto as Exhibit "O" is a copy of the Notice of Civil Claim filed on 

August 2, 2022 in the Tom Debt Action; 

b) Attached hereto as Exhibit "P" is a copy of the Response to Civil Claim filed on 

March 23, 2023 in the Tom Debt Action; 

c) Attached hereto as Exhibit "Q" IS a copy of the 

Counterclaim filed on March 23, 2023 in the Tom Debt Action; and 

d) Attached hereto as Exhibit "R" is a copy of the Response to Counterclaim filed on 

June 16, 2023 in the Tom Debt Action. 
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8. Ecoasis Developments LLP, Ecoasis Resort and Golf LLP, and 599 commenced an action 

on Jm1e 1, 2023 in Supreme Court of British Columbia with an Action Number of 

S-234047 (the "Partnership Action"): 

a) Attached hereto as Exhibit "S" is a copy of the Notice to Civil Claim filed on June 

1, 2023 in the Partnership Action; and 

b) Attached hereto as Exhibit "T" is a copy of the Response to Civil Claim filed by 

the defendants Sanovest, Tian Kusumoto, and TRK Investments Corporation on 

August 25, 2023 in the Partnership Action. 

AFFIRMED BEFORE ME at the City of 
Vancouver, in the Province of British 
Columbia, this 3rd day of July 2025. 

A C~ i~ for taking Affiinivtfs for 
British Colwnbia 

LILY Y. ZHANG 
Barris/I'/' & Solicilur 

P.O. Box 1 
2900-733 SEYMOUR STREET 
VANCOUVER, B.C. V68 0S6 

(604) 691-7571 
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This is Exhibit "A" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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Vivienne Zhang 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Kibben Jackson <kjackson@fasken.com> 
Wednesday, July 2, 2025 10:38 AM 
Scott H. Stephens 

002 

Cc: Lily Y. Zhang; Jessica Cameron; Lily Y. Zhang; peter.rubin@blakes.com; Andrew I. 
Nathanson; Lars Brusven 

Subject: RE: [EXT] Sanovest - litigation schedule application 

[External Email- Use Caution] 

Hi Scott. 

It may be useful to discuss what you are suggesting below. In our view, amt. defence to our client's entitlement to 
the amounts owing in respect of its loan, including interest and fees, needs to be raised in response to the 
application in the receivership proceedings. Otherwise we risk inconsistent results (i.e. a decision saying Sanovest 
gets all its interest and fees and one which says it does not). So to the extent any of the extant litigation includes as 
any part of the relief sought by your clients a denial of Sanovest's entitlement to the full amount of its loan 
(including interest and fees), then that claim/defence should be included as part of the summary process in the 
receivership. Failing to do so would result in a defence of issue estoppel (in the other litigation). 

It may be that you and I are on the same page on this, in which case a discussion around process and t iming may 
obviate the need for a protracted hearing tomorrow on the scope and schedule of our application. Let me know if 
that's the case. 

In any event, you have asked about when your Response might be due. In our CPO,' we had July 18, which should 
be possible given that pleadings are closed in the related litigation. But if you need another week, I'm okay with 
that. 

The point is we need to work towards an early hearing date, including to try to align with the Receiver's timing 
around a sale process. We should be able to get to a date in October 2025. 

Kibben Jackson* 

Partner 

T +1604631 4786 I kjackson@fasken.com 

Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP 

*Law Corporation 

From: Scott H. Stephens <sstephens@owenbird.com> 
Sent: July-02-25 10:24 AM 
To: Kibben Jackson <kjackson@fasken.com> 
Cc: Lily Y. Zhang <lzhang@owenbird.com>; Jessica Cameron <jcameron@fasken.com>; Lily Y. Zhang 
<lzhang@owenbird.com>; peter.rubin@blakes.com; Andrew I. Nathanson <anathanson@fasken.com>; Lars Brusven 
<lbrusven@fasken.com> 
Subject: RE: [EXT] Sanovest - litigation schedule application 

{CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Fasken. Exercise care before clicking links or opening attachments.} 
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I think I'll probably get instructions to agree to a limited scope of the application (i.e., just address quantum and leave a II 
other matters to be litigated in the underlying actions). Even if not, we should address the timeline you put forward. 
Those dates are obviously no longer workable - please propose new ones so I have an idea of what you consider 
reasonable. 

Scott H. Stephens 
Owen Bird LawCorporation 
direct tel. (604) 691-7521 
direct fax. (604) 632-4447 
web. www.owenbird.com 

From: Scott H. Stephens 
Sent: Wednesday, July 2, 2025 8:07 AM 
To: Kibben Jackson <kjackson@fasken.com> 
Cc: Jessica Cameron <jcameron@fasken.com>; Lily Y. Zhang <lzhang@owenbird.com>; peter.rubin@blakes.com; 
Andrew I. Nathanson <anathanson@fasken.com>; Lars Brusven <lbrusven@fasken.com> 
Subject: Re: [EXT] Sanovest - litigation schedule application 

Let's start with the first step - how long do you say my clients shou ld have to deliver a response? 

On Jul 2, 2025, at 6:29 AM, Kibben Jackson <kjackson@fasken.com> wrote: 

[External Email- Use Caution] 

Hi Scott. 

I don't think we will come to agreement on this -the time lines you propose are too long and I don't 
see the need for the additional step you propose. I'm happy to have a call, but I would be surprised 
if one of us will convince the other. 

Kibben Jackson* 

Partner 

T +1 604 631 4786 I kjackson@fasken.com 

Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP 

*Law Corporation 

From: Scott H. Stephens <sstephens@owenbird.com> 
Sent: June-30-25 9:29 PM 
To: Kibben Jackson <kjackson@fasken.com> 
Cc: Jessica Cameron <jcameron@fasken.com >; Lily Y. Zhang <lzhang@owenbird.com>; 
peter.rubin@blakes.com 
Subject: [EXT] Sanovest - litigation schedule application 

{CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Fasken. Exercise care before clicking links or opening 

attachments.} 

Kibben, 
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Writing regarding the " litigation schedule" application. As discussed briefly in court, our clients' view is 
that any order made ought to be without prejudice to the arguments that: 1. the issue of the quantum 
of the indebtedness should not be determined in isolation from the other claims between the parties to 
the four underlying actions (an argument previously adjudicated and accepted the by court per the 
attached reasons -which we learned of a day or so ago ... we still don't have our clients' file); and 2. the 
claims are not suitable for summary determination (i.e., including via hybrid procedures). In court you 
referred to Alderbridge as analogous. In that case, it appears that all related issues were litigated 
together, and fulsome pre-trial procedures were afforded to the parties, albeit on a somewhat 
expedited schedule. 

@Peter - would you be so kind as to flip Lily and I a copy of the case plan order made in Alderbridge? 
Can't find it on the website. 

A complicating factor is that my clients have not yet retained new counsel for the underlying actions. My 
understanding is that they expect to retain new counsel very shortly (or perhaps did so earlier today). 
But the long and short of it is that me and my clients reasonably require the views of counsel who will 
actually litigate those issues in order to formulate the response (and in order to give informed advice, 
new counsel will need some time to get up to speed). 

What I propose is as follows: 

1. The debt declaration application is adjourned generally, to be re-set for hearing by agreement 
or further order. 

2. My clients' response to the debt declaration application will be filed and served by August 22, 
2025. 

3. Reply materials will be filed and served by August 29, 2025. 

4. We will reserve a date before Justice Walker for so soon thereafter as he is available to 
determine: 

1. The threshold issues of whether the debt declaration claim should be determined in 
isolation from some or any of the other claims in the four underlying actions and 
whether some or all of the various parties' claims should be litigated in this proceeding; 

2. If some or all of the claims are to be litigated in this proceeding, then what pre-trial 
procedures should be made available to the parties, on what time line should the pre­
trial/hearing steps be carried out, and what form of trial/hearing should this all 
culminate in. 

It seems to me going beyond the above schedule would require Justice Walker to pre-judge arguments 
that we will only be organizing and advancing in the application response (for which we need, among 
other things, some working knowledge of the four underlying actions, our clients' file and the input of 
new counsel). Let me know your thoughts. As you might've guessed, I' ll be in the office tomorrow 
should you want to connect on a call. 

Regards, 

Scott H Stephens* 
Barrister & Solici tor I Shareho lder 

OWEN BIRD LAW CORPORATION 
0: 604-688-0401 D: 604-691-7521 F: 604-632-4447 
E: sstephens@owenbird.com I W: www.owenbird.com 
2900 - 733 Seymour St., P.O. Box 1, Vancouver, BC V6B 0S6 
*Scott H Stephens Law Corporation 
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This email contains privileged or confidential information and is intended only for the named recipients. If you have received this email in error or 
are not a named recipient, please notify the sender and destroy the email. A detailed statement of the terms of use can be found at the following 
address: https:/fwww.fasken com/en/terms-of-use-email/. 

Ce message contient des renseignements confidentiels ou privil8gi8s et est destine seu/ement 8 la personne 8 qui il est adresse. Sivous avez re9u 
ce courriel par erreur, S. V.P. le retourner 8 l'expediteur et le d6truire. Une version d8tail/8e des moda/ites et conditions d'utilisation se retrouve 8 
l'adresse suivante: https•/fwww.fasken.com/frlterms-of-use-email/. 
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This is Exhibit "B" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

Citation: 

Between: 

And 

Ecoasis Developments LLP v. Sanovest 
Holdings Ltd., 
2024 BCSC 635 

Date: 20240418 
Docket: S234047 

Registry: Vancouver 

Ecoasis Developments LLP, Ecoasis Resort and Golf LLP 
and 599315 B.C. Ltd. 

Plaintiffs 

Sanovest Holdings Ltd., Tian Kusumoto, TRK Investments Corporation and 
Ecoasis Bear Mountain Developments Ltd. 

Defendants 

- and -
Docket: S223937 

Registry: Vancouver 

Between: 

And 

And 

And 

Sanovest Holdings Ltd. 
Plaintiff 

Daniel Matthews, Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto, Ecoasis Bear Mountain 
Developments Ltd. and BM Mountain Gold Course Ltd. 

Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto 

Sanovest Holdings Ltd., Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto and 
Tian Kusumoto 

Defendants 

Third Party 
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Defendants by way of counterclaim 

- and -
Docket: S226218 

Registry: Vancouver 

Between: 

Tom Kusumoto 
Plaintiff 

And 

Daniel Matthews 
Defendant 

- and -
Docket: S234048 

Registry: Vancouver 

Between: 

599315 B.C. Ltd. and Daniel Matthews 
Plaintiffs 

And 

Ecoasis Bear Mountain Developments Ltd., Ecoasis Developments LPP, and 
Ecoasis Resort and Golf LLP, Tian Kusumoto, and Sanovest Holdings Ltd. 

Defendants 

Before: Associate Judge Nielsen 

Reasons for Judgment 

Counsel for the Plaintiffs in Action No: 
S234047: 

Counsel for the Defendant, Tomoson (Tom) 
Kusumoto in Action No: S223937: 

G. Brandt 
D. Bains, Articled Student 

W.E. Pedersen 
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Counsel for the Defendants, Sanovest 
Holdings Ltd., Tian Kusumoto and TRK 
Investments Corporation in Action No: 
S234047 
Defendants by way of counterclaim 
Sanovest Holdings Ltd., and Tian Kusumoto 
in Action No: S223937: 

No other appearances 

Place and Dates of Hearing: 

Place and Date of Judgment: 

D. Byma 

New Westminster, B.C. 
January 29 and April 12, 2024 

Vancouver, B.C. 
April 18, 2024 
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Ecoasis Developments LLP v. Sanovest Holdings Ltd. 

[1] This is an application pursuant to Supreme Court Civil Rule 22-5(8) by 
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599315 B.C. Ltd. and Daniel Matthews to join three actions which I will refer to as 

the ("Oppression petition"), the ("Partnership action") and the ("Sanovest action") to 

be tried and heard together. 

[2] The application also seeks to convert the Oppression petition into an action. 

As all parties agree, that order will go by consent. 

[3] There is a further action, which I will refer to as the ("Debt action"), which the 

applicant also seeks to have joined to the other three actions. This latter application 

is not specifically enumerated as an order sought in the applications, but was made 

orally during the course of argument. The plaintiff in the Debt action opposes the 

applications to consolidate. The other parties agree. 

[4] The application also seeks an order that the evidence arising in the Debt 

action be admissible in the three afore mentioned actions. This application is 

opposed by the plaintiffs in both the Debt action, and the Sanovest action. 

Background facts 

[5] The four actions all arise from a common factual matrix relating to the 

ownership, financing, development, sale, and management of the Bear Mountain 

project located near Victoria BC, on Vancouver Island. 

[6] In October 2013, 599315 B.C. Ltd. and Sanovest Holdings Ltd. went into 

business together to obtain assets associated with the Bear Mountain project. At the 

time, 599315 was represented by Mr. Daniel Matthews, and Sanovest by Mr. Tom 

Kusumoto. The Bear Mountain assets were acquired by two limited liability 

partnerships involving both Daniel Matthews and Tom Kusumoto. Ecoasis Bear 

Mountain Developments Ltd. ("EMBD") was created to be the managing partner of 

the resort, and Mr. Daniel Matthews and Mr. Tom Kusumoto were appointed as 

EBMD's directors. The parties did not prepare a formal written business plan, but did 

allegedly have a verbal business plan with the terms it would embody. 
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[7] From October 2013 to June 2021 the partnerships developed the project, and 

eventually sought the global sale of the project's assets. This was halted when Tom 

Kusumoto was replaced as Sanovest's nominee, and director, to EBMD's board by 

his son, Tien Kusumoto. 

[8] Mr. Matthews and 599315 allege that since Tien Kusomoto assumed the role 

of director of EBMD, Sanovest has prevented and interfered with the operation of the 

Bear Mountain project, wrongfully prevented sales, and withheld funding. Tien 

Kusumoto and Sanovest allege various self-interested transactions on the part of 

Mr. Matthews and Tom Kusumoto. And finally, Mr. Tom Kusumoto alleges that he 

lent Mr. Matthews money on terms that provide payment is past due. From these 

various allegations, the four law suits have arisen. 

Consolidation 

[9] SCCR 22-5(8) allows the court to consolidate proceedings so they may be 

ordered tried at the same time. The legal test which applies in relation to SCCR 22-

5(8) is canvassed by the Chief Justice in Callan v. Cooke, 2020 BCSC 290 at paras. 

122 to 124 where the court states: 

[122] An order under Rule 22-5(8) engages the discretion of the court. The 
order is discretionary and regard must be given to the administration of 
justice when considering an application to consolidate actions. 

[123] The law to be applied in applications under Rule 22-5(8) is well­
settled, and ably set out by Master Kirkpatrick in Merritt v. lmasco Enterprises 
Inc., (1992) 2 C.P.C. (3d) 275. There are two questions that must be 
addressed. The first question is: do common claims, disputes and 
relationships exist between the parties? That determination is made on a 
review of the pleadings. The second question is: are the actions so 
interwoven that separate trials at different times before different judges would 
be undesirable and fraught with problems and expense? This question 
involves a consideration of factors beyond the pleadings. 

[124] The factors to consider when making a determination on consolidation 
or ordering that actions be heard together include whether the consolidation 
will : 

1) create a saving in pre-trial procedures; 

2) reduce the number of trial days taken up by the actions 
heard together; 
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Ecoasis Developments LLP v. Sanovest Holdings Ltd. 

3) avoid serious inconvenience to a party being required 
to attend a trial in which they only have a marginal interest; 

4) save the time and witness fees of experts; 

5) dispose of all actions at the same time due to common 
issues of fact or law; 

6) avoid a multiplicity of proceedings; and 

7) whether the degree of commonality and intertwining of 
issues outweighs the prejudicial factors raised by the party 
opposing consolidation; 

bearing in mind: 

8) the relative stages of the actions; 

9) whether the trial will be delayed and prejudice one or 
some of the parties; and 

10) whether the refusal to consolidate risks inconsistent 
results. 

(See: Merritt; Insurance Corporation of British Columbia v. 
Sam (1998), 24 C.P.C. (4th) 338; Liu v. Tsai, 2017 BCSC 221 
(Master)) 

012 
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[1 O] The issue of whether multiple proceedings should be ordered tried together 

involves a two-step test. The first issue is whether the proceedings involve common 

claims, disputes and relationships. This issue is determined on a review of the 

pleadings. 

[11] The four actions have an interconnected relationship. Several have common 

parties, and in the actions where the parties are not common, those actions will 

require the testimony by key witness's who are parties in the other actions. In other 

words, the parties are involved in each of the four actions, one way or another. I find 

the first step of the test is met. 

[12] The second issue to be addressed is whether the proceedings are so 

interwoven as to make separate trials at different times, before different judges 

undesirable and potentially fraught with problems and expense. On the application 

before me, all parties, with the exception of Tom Kusumoto, agree that consolidation 

is appropriate. They agree there will be a saving in pre-trial procedures, that there 

will be a reduction in the number of trial days needed, that there will be a savings in 

time and witness fees, that each of the four actions are at relatively the same stage 
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with examinations for discoveries having not yet to taken place, and that there would 

be the risk of conflicting findings if the actions proceeded before different judges. 

[13] The objection of Tom Kusomoto is essentially that he is not a party to two of 

the three actions for which consolidation is sought, and therefore, being forced to 

participate in all three would be financially detrimental and prejudicial to him. In 

response, the other parties submit that he will be a critical witness in each action, 

whether or not he is a party, and he will be required to participate in each action in 

any event. 

[14] In my view consolidation of the three actions as sought is appropriate. The 

underlying factual matrix is common to each action. The alleged underlying business 

arrangements will impact each action depending on the court's findings. Each of the 

actions are at the same stage of proceeding, where examinations for discovery have 

not taken place. There will undoubtedly be a reduction in time for trial when they are 

viewed globally, rather than individually. The common use of oral and documentary 

discoveries would also save time and expense. There would also be a serious risk of 

conflicting findings if the matters were heard by different judges. 

[15] I agree there would be an element of prejudice to Mr. Tom Kusumoto as he is 

not a party in two of the three actions, however, I consider this prejudice to be 

outweighed by the factors in favor of consolidation. 

[16] The Oppression petition, the Partnership action, and the Sanovest action are 

ordered consolidated in the form sought. 

[17] As stated above, there is no application to consolidate the Debt action 

enumerated in the applications before me. Although argument was presented in that 

regard, in the absence of a proper application, which affords the opportunity of a 

formal response, and in the face of the objection of the plaintiff within the Debt 

action, I decline to address the issue of consolidating the Debt action. The issue can 

be addressed when, and if, a proper application is brought. 
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Relief from the Implied Undertaking in the Debt Action 

014 
Page8 

[18] The remaining issue in dispute is whether evidence from the Debt action 

ought to be allowed in the three joined actions. The applicants submit that permitting 

the common use of documents and oral discovery evidence in each of the Bear 

Mountain proceedings will result in significant savings in trial procedures. 

[19] The respondents object on a number of grounds. Both the respondents 

Mr. Tom Kusumoto and Sanovest submit that the lifting of an implied undertaking 

requires the applicant to demonstrate, on the balance of probabilities, that there 

exists a public interest of greater weight than the values that the implied undertaking 

is intended to protect, namely privacy and the efficient conduct of civil litigation. 

Further, the court must balance the mix of competing values in order to reach this 

determination, keeping in mind that relief from the implied undertaking is not the 

norm, and should only be set aside in exceptional circumstances. See Nuchatlaht v. 

British Coiumbia, 2021 BCCA 351, at paras. 19 to 23, and Juman v. Doucette, 2008 

SCC 8 at paras. 32, 34, and 38. 

[20] Specifically, Mr. Tom Kusumoto submits that it is not necessary or in the 

interests of justice to relieve the implied undertaking because the Debt action is a 

collections matter with written promissory notes which are admitted, and the 

remaining issue being whether the monies are due or not. He further submits the 

debt claim relates to events before June 21, 2021, and therefore, would have limited 

relevance, and the applicants have not shown any necessity to lift the implied 

undertaking. Finally, he submits relief from the implied undertaking will add delay, 

expense, and further complexity. 

[21] The Respondent Sanovest also objects to the use of oral and documentary 

evidence from the Debt action, unless the Debt action is also consolidated. 

Otherwise, they submit they will be prejudiced as it would allow only the parties to 

the Debt action to transmit evidence across the four proceedings at their discretion, 

while Sanovest would have no right to participate in, or otherwise test the evidence 

in the Debt action to which they are not a party. Further, they submit this would allow 
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the applicants to create an asymmetrical access to evidence in the Debt action for 

the determination of the other three related proceedings. 

(22] Sanovest also submits there is no independent rule or jurisprudence which 

allows a party to import evidence wholesale from one action into another, and the 

applicants have not provided authority for their request to mix and match their 

evidence across separate actions not being tried together. They further caution that 

evidence from a witness in a prior proceeding, prima facie, raises a hearsay danger 

because the trier of fact cannot examine the demeanor of the witness at trial. See R. 

v. Hawkins, (1996] 3 R.C.S. 1043 at para. 60. 

(23] I agree with the respondents that to allow the application to import the 

evidence from the Debt action would result in prejudice to the respondents as they 

would not have equal access to evidence, including participatory rights in the 

discovery process, or the ability to test the evidence sought to be used at trial. In my 

view, this would be a significant prejudice which is not otherwise outweighed by the 

interests of justice. 

[24] In the circumstances, the application to grant relief from the implied 

undertaking in the Debt action is denied. 

Summary 

1. The Oppression petition is converted to an action by consent; 

2. The Oppression petition, the Partnership action, and the Sanovest action are 

ordered consolidated in the form sought; 

3. The issue of whether the Debt action is to be consolidated is adjourned 

pending an application in the proper form; 

4. The application to grant relief from the implied undertaking in the Debt action 

is denied. 

"Associate Judge Nielsen" 
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This is Exhibit "C" refen-ed to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

[1] There are four applications concurrently before me. 
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[2] The first of the applicants, 599315 B.C. Ltd. ("599"), is a plaintiff in Action S-

234047 ("Partnership Action). 599 seeks essentially three orders in its Partnership 

Action; the first order is that Action S-226218, under style of proceedings Tom 

Kusumoto v. Daniel Matthews ("Debt Action"), be tried and heard together with its 

own Partnership Action, and also with two other actions, namely: 

(i) Action No. S-234048, under style of proceeding 599315 B. C. Ltd. et at. v. 
Ecoasis Bear Mountain Developments Ltd. et at., ("Oppression Action"); and 

(ii) Action No. S-223937, under style of proceedings Sanovest Holdings Ltd. v. 
Daniel Matthews et al. ("Sanovest Action"). 

[3] The second order sought by 599 in this first application is that the evidence in 

each of the Debt Action, Oppression Action, Partnership Action and the Sanovest 

Action be admissible in the other actions, subject to the right of any party to dispute 

the admissibility, in one of the proceedings, of evidence admissible in another 

proceeding, on the basis of relevance or otherwise. 

[4] Third, 599 seeks other relief, ancillary to these first two orders, as set out in 

Schedule "A" of the Notice of Application. 599 also seeks the cost of its application. 

[5] In the second application, 599 and Mr. Daniel Matthews, who are the plaintiffs 

in the Oppression Action, seek the same orders that 599 is seeking as in the 

Partnership Action. 

[6] The applicant in the third application before me is the defendant Mr. Daniel 

Matthews in the Sanovest Action. He seeks the same orders as the plaintiffs in the 

Oppression Action and the Partnership Action. 

[7] The applicant in the fourth application before me is the defendant, Mr. Daniel 

Matthews, in the Debt Action. He seeks the same orders at he does in the Sanovest 

Action and the Oppression Action. 
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[8] Mr. Tom Kosomoto opposes each and all of these applications and the orders 

sought by the applicants. He submits that the Debt Action is a simple case and 

ought is not be enmeshed in the three other actions. Sanovest and Mr. Tian 

Kusumoto take no position on the orders sought by any of the applicants in the 

applications before me. 

II. BACKGROUND 

[9] This case relates to the Bear Mountain Resort and a land development 

project near Victoria, BC ("Bear Mountain Project" or "Project"). The assets of the 

Bear Mountain Project included two golf courses, a hotel and, apparently, hundreds 

of acres of land ("Bear Mountain Assets"). 

[1 OJ In or about September 2013, Sanovest and 599 went into business together 

and formed a partnership to acquire the Bear Mountain Assets and to advance the 

Bear Mountain Project. The company, Ecoasis Bear Mountain Development 

("EBMD"), was also formed at this time to act as the "managing partner" of this 

partnership which comprised Sanovest, 599 and EBMD ("Partnership"). These 

Partners' respective interests in the Partnership are as follows: Sanovest and 599 

each equally own a 49.75% interest and EBMD holds the remaining 0.5% interest. 

[11] In a loan agreement, dated October 8, 2013, Sanovest agreed to provide 

financing for the Bear Mountain Project in the form of a mortgage loan for purposes 

of funding the acquisition, development work and operations. At that time, it appears 

that 599 was represented by Mr. Matthews, and Sanovest was represented by 

Mr. Tom Kusumoto. Mr. Kusumoto is the plaintiff in the Debt Action, but also the 

founder of Sanovest. 

[12] The acquisition of the Bear Mountain Assets completed on October 8, 2013. 

In connection with this acquisition, Mr. Matthews was appointed as EBMD's 

President and Chief Executive Officer, responsible for managing the Bear Mountain 

Project's overall operations. Mr. Matthews and Mr. Tom Kusumoto were each 

appointed as directors of EBMD. 
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[13] Between September 2013 and June 2021, Mr. Kusumoto was a director of 

EBMD as the nominee of Sanovest. 

[14] These applications relate to four legal actions that arise out of the business 

relationships, partnerships and transactions concerning the Bear Mountain Project. 

The respective pleadings may be summarized and framed as follows: 

a) In the Sanovest Action, commenced in May 2022 (and amended in March 
2023), Sanovest advances claims against Mr. Tom Kusumoto and 
Mr. Matthews, alleging self-interested transactions and wrongdoings in their 
capacities as directors of EBMD and with respect to Ecoasis Partnership's 
affairs, between January 2016 and June 2022. 

b) In the Debt Action, commenced in August 2022, Mr. Tom Kusumoto seeks 
judgment against Mr. Daniel Matthews for $1,585,000 plus interest in regard 
to three loans that Mr. Tom Kusumoto advanced to Mr. Daniel Matthews 
between July 2019 and February 2020, but which Mr. Matthews asserts are 
not due. Mr. Matthews asserts these loans were part of a larger agreement 
between himself and Mr. Kusumoto, as reflected in Mr. Matthews' 
counterclaim, where Mr. Matthews asserts that Mr. Tom Kusumoto failed to 
advance the full sum of $5,000,000 that he promised under an agreement 
relating to the Bear Mountain Project ("Umbrella Agreement"). 

c) In the Partnership Action, commenced in June 2023, 599 (in the name of and 
on behalf of the Ecoasis Partnership and the Ecoasis Resort Partnership), the 
plaintiffs assert that Sanovest and Mr. Tian Kusumoto committed "Partnership 
breaches" that have prevented Mr. Matthews from carrying out his role as 
Chief Executive Officer and President of EBMD, and from carrying out the 
parties' agreed Bear Mountain Business Terms. 

d) In the Oppression Action, commenced in June 2023, 599 and Mr. Matthews 
allege oppression resulting from Sanovest and Mr. Tian Kusumoto's course of 
conduct since June 2021, including, inter alia, interference with Mr. Matthews' 
role as President and CEO of EBMD, as well as Sanovest's and Mr. Tian 
Kusumoto's disruptive conduct such as the blocking of sales, refusal to 
authorize financing under the Sanovest Loan Agreement, and refusal to 
authorize the ordinary course of business payments. 

[15] I refer to these four proceedings, collectively, as the "Bear Mountain Actions". 

[16] In or around 2021, Mr. Kusumoto transferred his interest and control of 

Sanovest to a family trust, with his son, Mr. Tian Kusumoto, as the trustee. The 

Sanovest Action was commenced against Mr. Matthews, Mr. Tom Kusumoto, EBMD 
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and BM Mountain Golf Course Ltd. In that Action, Sanovest makes claims against 

Mr. Tom Kusumoto and Mr. Matthews in respect of certain alleged breaches of 

fiduciary duty. 

[17] On October 31, 2023, Mr. Daniel Matthews applied for orders joining the 

Oppression Action, the Partnership Action and the Sanovest Action. At this October 

31, 2023 application, Mr. Matthews also informally requested that the Debt Action be 

tried with the other three actions. Associate Judge Nielsen ordered that the 

Oppression Action, the Partnership Action and the Sanovest Action be tried 

together. However, Associate Judge Nielsen declined to address the issue of 

whether the Debt Action should also be heard along with these other three actions 

because Mr. Matthews had not filed a Notice of Application, at that time, requesting 

this specific order. Associate Judge Nielsen reasoned: 

[17] ... there is no application to consolidate the Debt action enumerated in 
the applications before me. Although argument was presented in that regard, 
in the absence of a proper application, which affords the opportunity of a 
formal response, and in the face of the objection of the plaintiff within the 
Debt action, I decline to address the issue of consolidating the Debt action. 
The issue can be addressed when, and if, a proper application is brought. 

[18] Counsel for the applicants underscores that such a "proper application" has 

now been brought through these very applications before me. He asserts that the 

interests of justice and the object of the Supreme Court Civil Rules favour hearing 

the Debt Action together with the other three Actions. Further, the applicants submit 

that the Debt Action is not, as Mr. Tom Kusumoto asserts, a "simple debt action that 

deals with the discrete issue of money owed by Matthews to Kusumoto". Rather, 

counsel argues that the Debt Action is "one aspect interwoven in a long and complex 

history of business dealings between the parties", a characterization which Mr. Tom 

Kusumoto strongly disputes. 

[19] In 2024, Sanovest sought relief in bankruptcy and a Receiver was appointed 

over the assets and undertakings of the Ecoasis Partnership and Ecoasis Resort 

Partnership, subject to certain exclusions. Among those exclusions are the four Bear 

Mountain Actions that are the subject of these applications. The Receiver is tasked 
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with developing a report respecting a marketing and sales process for the assets, 

and marketing and selling the assets once the marketing and sales process is 

approved by the court. 

[20] For each of these proceedings, at the time of these applications were heard: 

a) document discovery had yet to be completed; 

b) no examinations for discovery had yet occurred; 

c) the trials of the Partnership Action, the Oppression Action and the Sanovest 
Action, which will be heard together, are currently scheduled to begin in 
January 2026 for 25 days; and 

d) no notice of trial had been filed in the Debt Action. 

[21] The applicants are not seeking to adjourn the January 2026 trial and are of 

the view that the four Bear Mountain Actions can be heard and completed within the 

25 allotted days. 

A. The Applicants' Position 

[22] The applicants assert that each of the Debt Action, the Oppression Action, the 

Partnership Action and the Sanovest Action arise from a common factual matrix 

concerning the ownership, financing, development, management and sale of a 

master plan community development project; that is, the Bear Mountain Project. 

[23] The applicants depose that between October 2013 and about April 2021, the 

Bear Mountain Project proceeded in accordance with the terms of a business plan 

discussed and agreed to between Mr. Matthews and Mr. Tom Kusumoto ("Bear 

Mountain Business Terms"). The applicants add that circumstances changed around 

May 17, 2021 when Mr. Tom Kusumoto's son, Mr. Tian Kusumoto, unilaterally 

ended a new Bear Mountain sales strategy developed by Colliers International. The 

applicants submit that weeks earlier, Mr. Daniel Matthews learned that Mr. Tom 

Kusumoto was being removed as Sanovest's President and no longer had full 

authority to act for Sanovest in respect of EBMD and the Ecoasis Partnership. 
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Sanovest's nominee to EBMD and other related companies. Subsequently, further 

disputes arose, as reflected in the pleadings relating to the Bear Mountain Actions. 

[25] The applicants further assert that documentary and oral discoveries in the 

Debt Action will be directly relevant to the matters at issue in the Partnership Action, 

the Oppression Action and the Sanovest Action - and vice versa - including: 

(a) the parties' reasonable expectations with respect to the Bear 
Mountain Business Terms, including the expected timing of land 
sales; 

(b} the arrangements between Mr. Tom Kusumoto and Mr. Matthews to 
induce Mr. Matthews to lead the Bear Mountain Project and to 
compensate Mr. Matthews for the limited salary earned through 
EBMD; and 

(c) Mr. Tom Kusumoto's credibility in relation to the matters in dispute 
between the parties in all four Bear Mountain Actions. 

[26] The applicants also submit that, regarding Tom Kusumoto's then-voiced 

objection to the joinder of the Partnership Action, the Oppression Action and the 

Sanovest Action, Associate Judge Nielsen reasoned: 

[ 13] The objection of Tom Kusomoto is essentially that he is not a party to 
two of the three actions for which consolidation is sought, and therefore, 
being forced to participate in all three would be financially detrimental and 
prejudicial to him. In response, the other parties submit that he will be a 
critical witness in each action, whether or not he is a party, and he will be 
required to participate in each action in any event. 

[14] In my view consolidation of the three actions as sought is appropriate. 
The underlying factual matrix is common to each action. The alleged 
underlying business arrangements will impact each action depending on the 
court's findings. Each of the actions are at the same stage of proceeding, 
where examinations for discovery have not taken place. There will 
undoubtedly be a reduction in time for trial when they are viewed globally, 
rather than individually. The common use of oral and documentary 
discoveries would also save time and expense. There would also be a 
serious risk of conflicting findings if the matters were heard by different 
judges. 

[15] I agree there would be an element of prejudice to Mr. Tom Kusumoto 
as he is not a party in two of the three actions, however, I consider this 
prejudice to be outweighed by the factors in favor of consolidation. 
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[27] The applicants allege that, with the Partnership Action, the Oppression Action 

and the Sanovest Action now joined together, any prejudice to Tom Kusumoto 

arising from the joinder of the Debt Action to the other Bear Mountain Actions is 

diminished, with corresponding efficiencies of having a single trial proceed for all 

four actions. 

B. The Respondents' Position 

[28] Mr. Tom Kusumoto underscores that between July 22, 2019, and 

February 10, 2020, he made a series of personal demand loans to the Defendant 

Daniel Matthews, as follows: 

a) On July 22, 2019, Mr. Tom Kusumoto loaned the defendant CA $250,000.00 
with a date of recall of October 31, 2019, at an interest rate of 5% per annum 
("First Loan"). The interest on the First Loan, calculated to July 31, 2022, 
amounts to CA $25,610.61. 

b) On October 28, 2019, Mr. Tom Kusumoto loaned the defendant CA 
$700,000.00 with a date of recall of January 15, 2020, at an interest rate of 
5% per annum ("Second Loan"). The interest on the Second Loan, calculated 
to July 31, 2022, amounts to CA $97,427.42. 

c) On February 10, 2020, Mr. Tom Kusumoto loaned the defendant CA 
$635,000.00 with a date of recall of May 31, 2020, at an interest rate of 5% 
per annum ("Third Loan"). The interest on the Third Loan, calculated to 
July 31, 2022, amounts to CA $79,414.20. 

(collectively "Mr. Matthews' Loans") 

[29] Mr. Matthews' Loans were documented with written promissory notes 

executed by Mr. Matthews. Mr. Tom Kusumoto demanded the repayment of these 

loans, and Mr. Matthews declined to repay the loans immediately. Accordingly, 

asserts Mr. Kusumoto, Mr. Matthews' Loans are in default. 

[30] Mr. Kusumoto's Debt Action was brought on August 2, 2022, to collect 

Mr. Matthews' Loans. 

[31] Mr. Kusumoto underscores that he delivered a Notice to Admit in the Debt 

Action, wherein Mr. Matthews admitted, inter a/ia, that: 
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a) he executed a promissory note to document the First Loan, received the sum 
of $250,000.00 from Mr. Tom Kusumoto pursuant to the First Loan, and has 
made no payment on the First Loan; 

b) he executed a promissory note to document the Second Loan, received the 
sum of $700,000.00 from Mr. Tom Kusumoto, and has made no payment on 
the Second Loan; 

c) That (with some qualification regarding date and interest rate) he executed a 
promissory note documenting the Third Loan, received the sum of 
$635,000.00 from Tom Kusumoto, and has made no payment on the Third 
Loan; and 

d) The written promissory notes attached to the Notice to Admit accurately 
depict Mr. Matthew's signature. 

[32] Mr. Kusumoto emphasizes that Mr. Matthews does not deny owing him 

monies. However, Mr. Matthews asserts that Mr. Kusumoto is subject to the 

Umbrella Agreement under which these loans are not yet payable and, further, 

Mr. Kusumoto is liable to Mr. Matthews for breach of the Umbrella Agreement. 

Again, Mr. Tom Kusumoto denies these allegations. 

[33] Mr. Kusumoto further asserts that the Debt Action is unrelated to the relief 

sought in the other three actions. He argues that both the Loans, and the alleged 

Umbrella Agreement asserted by Mr. Matthews, pre-date June 1, 2021, which is the 

critical date after which the disputes in the other actions arose. 

[34] Mr. Tom Kusumoto submits that both the Partnership Action and the 

Oppression Action, were filed by Mr. Matthews and 599 in 2023, and argues that 

both relate to the affairs of the various Bear Mountain entities after June 1, 2021, 

when Mr. Tian Kusumoto became a director of EBMD. Mr. Kusumoto adds that he is 

not named as a party in the Partnership Action or the Oppression Action and 

submits that all of the alleged conduct complained of by the Petitioners in these two 

actions occurred after he ceased to be a director of EBMD. 

[35] Mr. Tom Kusumoto further submits that the claims made against him in the 

Sanovest Action, and by Mr. Matthews via counterclaim in his third-party notice, are 

entirely discrete from the claims made in the "two new actions" (presumably referring 

~ 

m 
m 
u 
CJ) 

u 
co 
'-0 
N 
0 
N 



Ecoasis Developments LLP v. Sanovest Holdings Ltd. 
028 

Page 12 

to the Partnership Action and the Oppression Action). He argues there is no basis 

for them to be joined and heard together, and for Tom Kusumoto to be delayed in 

advancing his Debt Action , simply due to the complexity of the other proceedings. 

Ill. DISCUSSION 

[36] Under Rule 22-5(8) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules, proceedings may, at 

any time, be ordered tried at the same time or on the same day. 

[37] In Raymond James Investment Counsel Ltd. v. Clyne, 2018 BCSC 720, the 

court set out a two-step analysis to determine whether proceedings should be tried 

together: 

1. whether the proceedings involve common claims, disputes and relationships 
upon review of the pleadings; and 

2. whether the proceedings are so interwoven as to make separate trials 
undesirable and fraught with expense. 

[38] In assessing the second question, the court may consider a number of 

following factors including, as applicable: 

a) whether hearing the matters together will save pre-trial procedures; 

b) whether doing so will reduce the number of days of trial ; 

c) whether hearing the matters together will seriously inconvenience a party by 
being required to attend a trial in which they have little interest; 

d) whether one proceeding is more advanced than the other; 

e) whether hearing the matters together will result in delay of trial of one of the 
proceedings, including the prejudice of that delay; 

f) whether there is a serious inconvenience to a party of marginal interest; 

g) the risk of inconsistent findings on identical issues; 

h) whether there will be savings in expert time and fees. 

See Callan v. Cooke, 2020 BCSC 290 at paras.122-124; Merritt v. lmasco 

Enterprizes Inc. (1992), 2 C.P.C. (3d) 275; Hashimi v. Miki, 2019 BCSC 2287 at 

paras. 7-8; and Grewal v. Grewal, 2017 BCSC 291 at paras. 40-41. 
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[39] I draw a distinction, as do the applicants, in relation to an application to join 

trials, as distinct from an application to consolidate multiple extant proceedings into 

one. Consolidation is most appropriate where the commonality in issues and parties 

in the multiple actions "will mean that the disposition of one action will necessarily 

dispose of the issues in the other'': see Liu v. Tsai, 2017 BCSC 221 at para 3; 

Raymond James Investment Counsel at para. 39; Discovery Enterprises Inc. v. Ebco 

Industries Ltd., 2001 BCSC 235 at para. 23. That same test need not be met for a 

joinder order where the matters are to be heard together, which is the main order 

sought in this proceeding. 

[40] In exercising its discretion under Rule 22-5(8), the court must ultimately 

decide whether the degree of commonality and intertwinement of the issues 

outweighs prejudice to the party opposing joinder. Put another way, the ultimate 

question is whether an order joining actions, to be heard together, "makes sense" 

and is in the interests of justice: Simmonds v. The Corporation of the City of Victoria, 

2016 BCSC 951 at para. 25; 0081092 BC Ltd. v. Callahan, 2024 BCSC 864 at 

para . 56; Wu v. Li, 2023 BCSC 1205 at para. 20; 

A. Stage 1: Common Claims, Disputes and Relationships 

[41] I begin then by addressing the first stage in the requisite analysis; that is, by 

assessing whether there are common claims, disputes and relationships. Having 

regard to the first stage, I am mindful of Associate Judge Nielsen's finding, referred 

to further in these Reasons, at para. 11 of his judgment: 

[11] The four actions have an interconnected relationship. Several have 
common parties, and in the actions where the parties are not common, those 
actions will require the testimony by key witness's who are parties in the other 
actions. In other words, the parties are involved in each of the four actions, 
one way or another ... . 

[42] Associate Judge Nielsen's observations are well-taken and also apply in the 

context of the applications before me. That is, Mr. Matthews, 599 and Mr. Tom 

Kusumoto are defendants in the Sanovest Action, with related counterclaims and 

third-party claims; Mr. Matthews is a defendant in the Debt Action, which Mr. Tom 

Kusumoto has brought and Mr. Matthews is also plaintiff by counterclaim; Sanovest 
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and Mr. Tian Kusumoto are respondents in the Oppression Petition , as are each of 

Ecoasis Partnership and Ecoasis Resort Partnership; Sanovest is a defendant in the 

Partnership Action brought by 599. All these actions relate to the Bear Mountain 

Project, including various agreements and arrangements by Mr. Matthews and 

Mr. Tom Kusumoto relating to their involvement in the development of the Project 

and its assets. 

[43] Subsumed within the Debt Action and the other Bear Mountain Actions, and 

rooted in the pleadings regarding the agreements and arrangements between 

Mr. Matthews and Mr. Tom Kusumoto to advance the Bear Mountain Project, is a 

core issue concerning whether Mr. Matthews was and is entitled to compensation in 

advance of any substantial disposition of the Bear Mountain Assets. Mr. Matthews' 

Umbrella Agreement is also linked to the propriety or impropriety of the actions of 

each of the parties in relation to the Bear Mountain Actions that, in turn, concerns 

not only the Debt Action but also the Oppression Action, the Partnership Action and 

the Sanovest Action. In this regard, I have considered the following contextual 

backdrop, as framed by the pleadings. 

[44] Mr. Matthews pleads that under the agreed upon business arrangement, he 

was to lead the Bear Mountain Project's overall operations. While he would receive 

an agreed-upon salary for this work, his salary would be substantially less than his 

customary annual earnings. Accordingly, pleads Mr. Matthews, he (and 599 and 

Sanovest) reasonably expected that far more substantial earnings would be realized 

after the sale of their Project's land and buildings. As such, pleads Mr. Matthews, his 

agreement with Mr. Tom Kusumoto was revised and his loans were advanced to him 

by Mr. Kusumoto subject to the Umbrella Agreement, in which Mr. Tom Kusumoto 

agreed to provide Mr. Matthew with continued access to the loaned funds pending 

distribution of profits on the occurrence of a "Liquidity Event", which has not 

occurred. Mr. Matthew also filed a Counterclaim asserting that Mr. Tom Kusumoto 

failed to advance the full $5 million amount promised under the Umbrella 

Agreement. 
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[45] While Mr. Tom Kusumoto denies entering such an Umbrella Agreement, this 

issue not only runs through the pleaded Umbrella Agreement in the Debt Action but 

also through alleged agreements and arrangements between Mr. Matthews and 

Mr. Tom Kusumoto that were made between them pending the sale or disposition of 

Bear Mountain Assets, which Sanovest in turn pleads constitute breaches of 

fiduciary duty and the misappropriation of funds by Mr. Matthews and Mr. Kusumoto. 

[46] For example, Mr. Tom Kusumoto, ostensibly on behalf of Sanovest, 

authorized the Ecoasis Partnership to lend $1 million to Mr. Matthews in June 2020. 

This monetary advance creates an alleged link in the factual matrix underlying the 

Umbrella Agreement and the promissory notes that ought to be scrutinized and 

assessed by the Court in light of the entire turn of events relating to the Bear 

Mountain Project. Notably, when Mr. Tom Kusumoto advanced the last of the three 

promissory notes to Mr. Matthews in February 2020, on Mr. Matthews' pleadings at 

least, some $3.5 million was still available under the Umbrella Agreement. Yet, these 

funds were advanced after the stated date of recall on the first of the three 

promissory notes, which was October 31, 2019. Also, arguably consistent with the 

existence of the Umbrella Agreement as alleged by Mr. Matthews, is Mr. Tom 

Kusumoto's Response to Counterclaim in the Sanovest Action. In that Response, 

Mr. Tom Kusumoto states that "Kusumoto agreed that EBMD could advance these 

sums to Mr. Matthews, based on representations from Mr. Matthews that the 

Proposed Asset Sale completed". Mr. Matthews asserts that in so pleading, Mr. Tom 

Kusumoto acknowledges he authorized the advance of additional funds to 

Mr. Matthews at a time when the first of the promissory notes under the Debt Action 

was already due on its terms, which Mr. Matthews asserts evidences the existence 

of the Umbrella Agreement. Further, no demand was made on any of the promissory 

notes until January 2022, after Mr. Tom Kusumoto's role with Sanovest had ceased 

and only several months before the Sanovest Action was first filed on May 13, 2022 

alleging wrongdoing by both Mr. Matthews and Mr. Kusumoto. I should note that 

these are all issues arising in the pleadings and I make no finding regarding their 

merits. 
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authorization of funds that were advanced to Mr. Matthews is related to the issues 

that are the subject of the other Bear Mountain Actions, which includes the Sanovest 

Action and also the course of conduct of Mr. Tian Kusumoto addressed in the 

Oppression Action. Mr. Tian Kusumoto, through the Sanovest pleadings, takes issue 

with funds being advanced to Mr. Matthews as they were. In the Oppression Action, 

599 and Mr. Matthews allege oppression resulting from Mr. Tian Kusumoto and 

Sanovest's course of conduct since June 2021 that includes, among other things, 

interference with Mr. Matthews' role as President and CEO, disruptive conduct, 

blocking of sales, refusal to authorize financing under the Sanovest Loan for the 

purchase of the Bear Mountain Assets, and Mr. Tian Kusumoto's refusal to authorize 

"ordinary course business payments". 

[48] In this light, the pleadings in the Bear Mountain Actions establish an 

overlapping set of relationships and interconnected issues in dispute. On the 

pleadings, questions arise in each of the four Actions with respect to, for example: 

(i) whether and how the Umbrella Agreement exists, is enforceable, applies or 

informs the alleged wrongdoings of each of the parties in each of the Bear Mountain 

Actions; ii) the past and ongoing relationships and legal obligations between 599, 

Mr. Matthews, Mr. Tom Kusumoto and Sanovest; and iii) the agreements and 

arrangements between Mr. Matthews and Mr. Tom Kusumoto in utilizing, directing 

and advancing the Bear Mountain Project including its assets, and whether they 

constituted breaches of fiduciary duty or misappropriation of Bear Mountain Assets. 

[49] Accordingly, after reviewing the various pleadings in all four actions, I have no 

difficulty in concluding that the applicants have satisfied the first branch of the test 

under Rule 22-5(8). I am satisfied that the relationships between the parties, the 

inter-connected disputes between them, and the determinations to be made by the 

court in each of the Bear Mountain Actions, including findings of fact and 

conclusions of credibility, will inform the findings and conclusion in each of the Bear 

Mountain Actions. 
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B. Stage 2: Are Proceeding so Interwoven as to make Separate Trials 
Undesirable and Fraught with Problems 

[50] I now consider the second step of my analysis in these applications. That is, 

whether the Bear Mountain Actions, including the Debt Action, are so interwoven as 

to make separate trials undesirable and fraught with problems. The factors set out 

by the authorities, and summarized earlier in these Reasons, have facilitated my 

assessment. 

[51] A review of the pleadings, in the four Bear Mountain Actions, reveals that the 

issues as framed by Mr. Kusumoto in the Debt Action are not as discrete, clear and 

independent from the other Bear Mountain Actions and issues as he asserts. I have 

already addressed the interwoven nature of the issues between each of the Bear 

Mountain Actions and these need not be repeated here. 

[52) I am satisfied, given the interconnected nature of the Bear Mountain Actions 

that hearing them together will streamline pre-trial procedures and will reduce the 

number of days of trial. The common background, factual matrix and inter-related 

issues will very likely reduce the trial time required for the Bear Mountain Actions if 

they are heard together, better ensuring the court is more fully informed of the 

entirety of the facts and issues before it, and avoiding the need to call and recall the 

same witnesses multiple times to speak to overlapping and related matters. Hearing 

the matters together should also facilitate in streamlining pre-trial discovery and 

other procedures. 

[53] In addition, I find that any prejudice to Mr. Tom Kusumoto if the Debt Action is 

joined with the other Bear Mountain Actions is significantly outweighed by the 

efficiencies of having all four actions heard and tried together. Further, there will be 

less inconvenience to Mr. Tom Kusumoto because he will already be examined for 

discovery and required as a critical witness in the trial of the other three Bear 

Mountain Actions, which Associate Judge Nielsen has already determined ought to 

be heard together. 
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(54] As well, the proceedings are at similar stages in their pre-trial preparation 

such that Mr. Tom Kusumoto will not be more or disproportionately inconvenienced. 

He is not a party with a marginal interest in the Bear Mountain Project and its 

subsequent legal proceedings. 

(55] Importantly, I am of the view that hearing these Actions together will reduce 

the risk of inconsistent findings and conclusions. 

(56] In the final analysis, considering the pleadings, the parties' submissions and 

the guiding authorities, I am of the view that having a separate trial of the Debt 

Action is not in the interests of justice. Rather, hearing the four Bear Mountain 

Actions together would, in my view, promote the just, speedy and inexpensive 

determination of all four Bear Mountain Proceedings on their merits. 

(57] Accordingly, I order that the Debt Action, the Partnership Action, the 

Oppression Action and the Sanovest Action be heard together. 

(58] I am of the view that the second order sought by the applicants, in each of 

their respective Notices of Application and noted at the onset of these Reasons, is 

also just, expedient and consistent with the proper administration of justice. As such, 

I also order that evidence in the Partnership Action, Debt Action, Oppression Action, 

and Sanovest Action be admissible in each of these Actions, subject to the right of 

any party to dispute the admissibility, in any one of the proceedings, of evidence 

admissible in another proceeding, either on the basis of relevance or otherwise. 

(59] I have also reviewed the other orders sought, ancillary to these two orders, as 

set out in the draft terms of order set out in Schedule "A", appended to the Notices of 

Application herein. I also find these other draft terms acceptable, reasonable and 

aligned with my decision to have the Bear Mountain Actions heard together. These 

draft terms will also form part of this order in addition to my first two orders, as 

follows. 

(60] Third, while each of the Bear Mountain Actions will be heard together, each 

will proceed to trial as if they were separate actions and nothing in this order shall be 
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construed to merge or consolidate the claims. Subject to the discretion of the trial 

judge, the parties are at liberty to reach agreement on the sequencing and 

presentation of the four Bear Mountain Actions at trial. 

[61] Fourth, these orders will not prejudice any application by a party, pursuant to 

Rule 9-6 or Rule 9-7 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules, for judgment either generally 

or on an issue in any of the Bear Mountain Actions. 

[62] Fifth, any party may apply for an order that one or more of the Bear Mountain 

Actions be tried separately in the event of a material change in circumstances, such 

that having these Actions heard together would result in an unnecessary delay, 

complication or prolongation of the common trial, or would otherwise more seriously 

prejudice a party to the Bear Mountain Actions in a manner not contemplated in 

these Reasons. 

[63] Costs will be in the cause. 

"Morellato J ." 
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This proceeding is brought for the relief set out in Part I below, by the Petitioners, 599315 B.C. 
Ltd. and Daniel Matthews. 

If you intend to respond to this Petition, you or your lawyer must 

(a) file a Response to Petition in Form 67 in the above-named registry of this court 

within the time for Response to Petition described below, and 

(b) serve on the Petitioner 

i. 2 copies of the filed Response to Petition; and 

ii. 2 copies of each filed affidavit on which you intend to rely at the hearing. 

Orders, including orders granting the relief claimed, may be made against you, without any 
further notice to you, if you fail to file the Response to Petition within the time for response. 

Time for Response to Petition 

A Response to Petition must be filed and served on the Petitioner, 

(a) if you were served with the Petition anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that 

service, 

( c) if you were served with the Petition anywhere in the United States of America, 

within 35 days after that service 

(d) if you were served with the Petition anywhere else, within 49 days after that 

service, or 

( e) if the time for Response has been set by order of the court, within that time. 

The address of the Registry is 800 Smithe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

The ADDRESS FOR SERVICE of the Petitioners is c/o Lawson Lundell LLP, 1600 - 925 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 312. 

Fax number address for service of the Petitioners is: (604) 669-1620. 

Email address for service of the Petitioners 1s: cferris@lawsonlundell.com and 
gbrandt@lawsonlundell.com 
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The name and office address of the Petitioners' solicitor is: Lawson Lundell LLP, 1600 - 925 
West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3L2 (Attention: Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C, 
/ Gordon Brandt), 

CLAIM OF PETITIONERS 

Part 1: ORDERS SOUGHT 

I. The petitioners apply for a declaration that the affairs of Ecoasis Bear Mountain 

Developments Ltd. ("EBMD") are being conducted in a manner that is oppressive to 599315 B.C. 

Ltd,, entitling the petitioners to relief under s. 227 of the Business Co1porations Act, S.B.C. 2002, 

c. 57 (the "BCA"). 

2. The petitioners apply for the following interim and final orders: 

(a) An order removing the respondent Tian Kusumoto ("Kusumoto") as a director and 

officer ofEBMD; 

(b) An order authorizing EBMD to obtain third party debt financing, replacing the 

financing and security held by the respondent Sanovest Holdings Ltd. 

("Sanovest"); 

(c) An order directing that 599315 purchase the shares ofSanovest in EBMD; 

(d) In the alternative, an order for one shareholder's purchase or sale of the other's 

shares by "shotgun sale"; 

(e) Orders that Sanovest and Kusumoto compensate 599315 as follows: 

(i) By reversing interest credited to Sanovest on its financing from and after 

June 1, 2021, or such other date as the Court deems appropriate; 

(ii) By payment to 599315 to the extent oflost distributions through the limited 

liability partnerships that EBMD manages, in amounts as may be 

established at the hearing or trial, resulting from lost sales revenues from 

and after June 1, 2021; and 
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(iii) By disentitling Sanovest from receiving preferential payments on 

distributions to be paid through the limited liability partnerships that EBMD 

manages; 

(f) An order directing that Kusumoto compensate the petitioner Daniel Matthews 

("Matthews"), as an aggrieved person, for harm and loss suffered as a result of 

disparaging statements Kusumoto has made against Matthews and his family in 

connection with the conduct of EBMD' s affairs; and 

(g) In the alternative, an order directing the appointment of a third director to EBMD' s 

board of directors, to have equal voting powers to the directors appointed by 

Sanovest and 599315; 

3. An Order converting this Petition into an Action; 

4. Such further and other relief as counsel may advise and this Court may permit; and 

5. Special costs, or in the alternative, costs. 

Part 2: FACTUAL BASIS 

A. The Parties 

I. The petitioner 599315 B.C. Ltd. ("599315") is a corporation incorporated under the 

laws of British Columbia wjth an address for service in this proceeding of 1600 - 925 West 

Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 312. 

2. The petitioner Daniel Matthews ("Matthews") is an individual resident in British 

Columbia with an address for service in this proceeding of 1600 - 925 West Georgia Street, 

Vancouver, BC, V6C 312. Matthews is a principal of 599315. Matthews has been the nominee 

appointed by 599315 to the board of directors of the respondent Ecoasis Bear Mountain 

Developments Ltd. ("EBMD") since 20 I 3, except for a period between 20 I 4 and 2016 when his 

spouse held this role. 
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3. EBMD is a corporation incorporated under the laws of British Columbia with a 

registered and records office located at 2800- 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, B.C., V6C 2Z7. As 

set out in more detail below, EBMD • is the "managing partner" of the respondents Ecoasis 

Developments LLP (the "Partnership") and Ecoasis Resort and Golf LLP (the "Resort 

Partnership"). 

4, The Partnership and the Resort Partnership are each limited liability partnerships 

registered in accordance with Part 6 of the Partnership Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 348, both having a 

registered office located at 2800- 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, B.C,, V6C 2Z7. 

5. The respondent Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest") is a corporation incorporated 

under the laws of Canada and registered extraprovincially in British Columbia with a head office 

located at 224 West 5th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., VSY 1J4, and an attorney in British Columbia 

of Tian Kusumoto ("Kusumoto") having an address of 228 West 5th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., 

VSY 1J4. 

6. Kusumoto is an individual resident in British Columbia with an address of228 West 

5th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., V5Y 1J4. Since June 1, 2021, Kusumoto has been Sanovest's 

nominee to EBMD's board of directors, replacing his father Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto, who had 

served in that role since EBMD' s incorporation in 2013. 

B. Overview of Claim 

7. In 2013, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto agreed to go into business together in the 

acquisition of land, assets and operations associated with the "Bear Mountain" resort community 

development in the Greater Victoria area (the "Bear Mountain Project"). As described in more 

detail below, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto had a pre-existing business relationship, which served 

as a framework for their expectations in relation to the Bear Mountain Project. 

8. Matthews and Tom Kusumoto agreed that the assets to be acquired would be held 

in a limited liability partnership structure, with a new company incorporated to serve as "managing 

partner" of the limited liability partnerships. That company, and the units in the underlying limited 

liability partnerships, would be held 50% by Sanovest, which Matthews understood Tom 

Kusumoto controlled, and 50% by 599315, which Matthews controlled. 
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9. The acquisition completed on October 8, 2013. The assets were acqmred by or on 

behalf of the Partnership and the Resort Partnership, with EBMD serving as managing partner of 

both. The Partnership held all of the units in the Resort Partnership, except for one unit held by 

EBMD. 

10. From October 2013 and until June 2021, EBMD operated in accordance with the 

business terms that had been established at the time of acquisition. As set out in more detail below, 

these terms contemplated land development work and investment in operations and amenities 

suitable to the development of a unique, high calibre, urban resort community at Bear Mountain. 

This was intended to increase the value of the Bear Mountain Project's assets, and ultimately lead 

to a return on investment tln·ough the sale of those assets in an appropriate manner. In accordance 

with Matthews' and Tom Kusumoto's agreement that Matthews would be responsible for the 

overall operations, Matthews was appointed to the positions of President and CEO ofEBMD. Tom 

Kusumoto was appointed as Secretary. Sanovest's primary responsibility was to provide the 

funding necessary for the acquisition and for the ongoing operations and land development work 

that Matthews and Tom Kusumoto intended to pursue in order to realize their return on investment. 

11. On June 1, 2021, Kusumoto replaced Tom Kusumoto as Sanovest's nominee to 

EBMD. Since that time, Kusumoto has interfered markedly with the course ofEBMD's operations 

and direction, as established over the· previous 8 years, and has prevented Matthews from 

effectively carrying out his role as EBMD's President and CEO. In turn, EBMD has been unable 

to effectively manage the Partnership and Resort Partnership in accordance with the established 

business terms. Kusumoto has sought to radically alter the business objectives by seeking to 

involve EBMD and the Partnership in vertical bmlding partnerships with developers, rather than 

pursue the established plan of bulk sales of multi-family sites and single family residential lots. In 

order to further this plan, or to otherwise force the sale of 599315's interest in EBMD and the 

Partnership on a distressed and devalued basis, Kusumoto and Sanovest have improperly withheld 

funding and prevented sales to deliberately place financial and operational pressure on Matthews 

and 599315. This conduct is oppressive to 599315 as shareholder in that Kusumoto has acted in 

his and Sanovest's self-interest and to the detriment of EBMD and the Partnership, and because 

this conduct is contrary to the parties' reasonable expectations that, among other things: (a) the 

Bear Mountain Project's assets would be managed for the purpose of realizing on favourable sales 
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opportunities; (b) Matthews, as 599315's nominee, would be able to direct EBMD's overall 

operations in a manner consistent with the role of President and CEO; and ( c) Sano vest would not 

entrench and then abuse its position as lender to unilaterally impose new business terms on 599315. 

C. The Bear Mountain Project 

1. Background 

12. In March 2013, Matthews approached Tom Kusumoto with an investment 

opportunity involving the acquisition of the Bear Mountain Project's assets. The assets included 

more than eight hundred acres of land on and adjacent to Skirt Mountain in the City of Langford 

and District of Highlands, as well as the Westin Bear Mountain Golf Resort and Spa (the "Hotel") 

and two golf courses located on those lands (the "Bear Mountain Assets"). 

13. At that time, Tom Kusumoto and Matthews were involved in a land development 

project at Whistler Mountain (the "Whistler Project"). The Whistler Project involved the 

acquisition, site servicing, land development, and ultimately the sale of single-family residential 

lots. 

14. 

(a) 

The Whistler Project operated under the following general structure: 

The project operated under the "Ecoasis" brand: a brand that Matthews had created 

and developed; 

(b) An operating company represented 50% by Matthews, 30% by Tom Kusumoto/ 

Sanovest, and 20% by a third partner; 

(c) Matthews was responsible for all operational aspects of the Whistler Project; 

Sanovest' s primary responsibility was to provide the funding necessary for the 

acquisition and site servicing work; 

( d) Sanovest was entitled to receive an 8% - 8.5% rate of return on the debt financing, 

together with a first charge on assets; 
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( e) The parties' objective throughout was to sell serviced lots as and when market 

conditions permitted, with an approximate time horizon of three to five years. 

(the "Whistler Business Terms"). 

In or around 2011, Matthews became aware of the potential sale of the Bear 

Mountain Assets through business contacts. On learning of the potential sale opportunity, 

Matthews, at his expense, conducted investigations and inquiries over a period of approximately 

18 months into the assets' development potential, their potential operating and land development 

costs, and the feasibility of the project and its acquisition. 

16. When Matthews approached Tom Kusumoto with the Bear Mountain Project 

opportunity, Tom Kusumoto and Matthews agreed that if they were successful in acquiring the 

Bear Mountain Assets, they enter into a business arrangement with the financing and development 

obligations modeled on the Whistler Business Terms. 

17. Ultimately, Matthews, through a company he controlled, entered into a purchase 

and sale agreement for the Bear Mountain Assets in August 2013. Matthews and Tom Kusumoto 

agreed to the following general business structure for their business endeavour: 

(a) the Bear Mountain Assets would be held in a limited liability partnership structure, 

which would take an assigmnent of the purchase and sale agreement. The 

partnership would be owned equally by Sanovest, which Matthews understood 

Tom Kusumoto controlled, and 50% by 599315, which Matthews controlled; 

(b) 599315, through Matthews, would be responsible for managing the overall 

operations, setting strategic direction and managing relationships with stakeholders 

at Bear Mountain and in the broader community; including the land development 

work; Sanovest's primary responsibility was to provide the funding necessary for 

the acquisition, operations, and land development work; 

(c) Matthews, nominated by 599315, and Tom Kusumoto, nominated by Sanovest, 

would serve as directors in any companies associated with the partnership. In such 
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companies, Matthews would serve in the role of President/CEO, reflecting 

599315' s responsibility for managing the overall operations; 

( d) Sano vest would receive an 8% rate ofreturn on its debt financing, together with a 

first charge on assets and a preferred waterfall distribution based on profitability; 

and 

(e) Their objectives with the Bear Mountain Assets would be to: (i) service and 

improve the operating businesses and amenities, with a view to improving the 

public image and community character of the Bear Mountain development; (ii) 

conduct land development work, including site servicing work, with a view to 

selling bulk sites to developers with vertical construction expertise and single 

family lots to high quality home builders, thereby increasing the sale value of the 

land assets as a whole; (iii) generate sufficient revenues from initial sales to pay 

down the financing provided by Sanovest; and (iv) sell the land assets, either in 

tranches or en bloc, in an appropriate manner, once the increased land value yielded 

a reasonable return on their investment. 

(the "Bear Mountain Business Terms") 

2. Asset Acquisition and Business Structure 

18. On August 29, 2013, Ecoasis Innovative Communities Inc., a company Matthews 

controlled, acquired the right to purchase the Bear Mountain Assets from Bear Mountain Land 

Holdings Ltd. 

19. Matthews and Torn Kusumoto then set up the business structure to support the 

acquisition of the assets. Thus, EBMD was incorporated on September 17, 2013, with 599315 and 

Sanovest each owning 50% of its issued and outstanding shares. Matthews and Tom Kusumoto 

were the first directors. In accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms, Matthews was 

appointed President and CEO ofEBMD and Tom Kusumoto was appointed Secretary. 

20. The Partnership was formed by agreement dated September 24, 2013 (the 

"Partnership Agreement") for the purpose of holding the Bear Mountain Assets. 599315, 
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Sanovest and EBMD each became partners in the Partnership. In accordance with the Partnership 

Agreement, EBMD subscribed for one Class A Unit, 599315 subscribed for 100 Class B Units, 

and Sanovest subscribed for 100 Class C Units. 

21. As set out in the preamble to the Partnership Agreement, the assets to be acquired 

included: (a) the "Mountain Course" and the "Valley Course" (the "Golf Courses"); (b) the Hotel; 

and ( c) significant tracts of lands, including as described as Schedule "C" to the Partnership 

Agreement. 

22. Section 2.3 of the Partnership Agreement specified that the Partnership would 

acquire and maintain a limited liability partnership interest in a second limited liability partnership, 

the Resort Partnership, which would own and operate the Golf Courses and the Hotel. 

23. Section 11.3 of the Partnership Agreement provides that after accounting for certain 

tax liabilities, distributions to the partners are to be made, on pari passu basis between 599315 and 

Sanovest for the first $15,000,000 in distributions. Thereafter, Sanovest is entitled to a preferential 

payment of $30,000,000; equal payments then resume. 

24. The Resort Partnership was formed by a separate partnership agreement also dated 

September 24, 2013 (the "Resort Partnership Agreement"). The Partnership and EBMD became 

its partners, with the latter as "managing partner". The units of the Resort Partnership were held 

100 by the Partnership and 1 by EBMD. As described in the Resmt Partnership Agreement, the 

Resort Partnership was formed for the purpose of acquiring the assets comprising the Golf Courses 

and the Hotel, and to carry out the businesses of the Golf Courses and the Hotel and other activities 

or business ancillary to or in furtherance of those businesses. 

25. Section 11.3 of the Resort Partnership Agreement provides that, after accounting 

for certain tax liabilities, distributions to the partners are to be made, on a pari passu basis between 

599315 and Sanovest. 

26. In accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms, Matthews and Tom 

Kusumoto discussed and agreed that as funds became available from sales or operations, they 

would determine the extent to which such funds should be reinvested into amenities. Thereafter, 

for any remaining funds not required for operations, repayment of the Sano vest financing ( as 
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discussed below) would be a priority, limiting the distributions available to partners until the 

Sanovest financing was repaid. 

3. Sanovest Loan Agreement 

27. In accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms, Sanovest advanced the debt 

financing required for the purchase of the Bear Mountain Assets, and at that stage, made available 

additional funds required for the business operation and land development work (the "Sanovest 

Loan"). 

28. The terms of the Sanovest Loan were set out in a commitment letter to the 

Partnership dated October 8, 2013 (the "Sanovest Loan Agreement"). The terms of Sanovest's 

financing included, among other things, an interest rate of 8% per annum, stated to be calculated 

daily and compounded quarterly, in addition to a lender's fee of $700,000 paid from the initial 

advance. The Sanovest Loan Agreement set a maturity date ofNovember 30, 2017. The Sanovest 

Loan was secured by, inter ulia, a mortgage over real property held by nominee companies on 

behalf of the Partnership, as well by guarantees from the Resort Partnership. 

29. By agreement dated June 15, 2016 (the "First Modification Agreement"), 

Sanovest and the Partnership agreed to extend and increase the amount of the Sanovest Loan. By 

that time, according to the First Modification Agreement, Sanovest had advanced $40,000,000 

under the Sanovest Loan. 

30. Pursuant to the First Modification Agreement, Sanovest agreed to increase the 

Sanovest Loan limit to $70,000,000 and to extend the term of the Sanovest Loan to November 1, 

2021. As set out further below, a second modification agreement subsequently extended the 

Sanovest Loan to May 1, 2024. 

D. Operation under Bear Mountain Business Terms 

1. 2013 - 2016 

31. Following the acquisition, Matthews, as President and CEO of EBMD, began to 

carry out the Bear Mountain Business Terms. By agreement between Matthews and Tom 

39583.160286.GBB.23251032.7 



048 

12 

Kusumoto, the Bear Mountain Business Terms became EBMD's approved business plan (the 

"Business Plan") for all purposes, including to satisfy the requirements of the Paiinership 

Agreement and the Resort Partnership Agreement in that regard. 

32. Matthews carried out operational matters under his own authority, reporting to Tom 

Kusumoto from time to time. As and when significant business decisions needed to be made, 

including with respect to sales, Matthews brought those matters to Tom Kusumoto for discussion 

and for agreement on behalf of Sanovest. 

33. Torn Kusumoto represented to Matthews that Sanovest was "his" company, and 

that he had full authority to act on Sano vest's behalf. At various times, and from time to time, Torn 

Kusumoto involved Kusumoto in various aspects of the Partnership. However, where decisions of 

partners were required, all such decisions were made by Matthews for 599315 and by Torn 

Kusumoto for Sanovest, who advised Matthews that Kusumoto did not have authority to make 

decisions on Sanovest's behalf in respect of the Bear Mountain Project. This changed in April 

2021, as described in more detail below. 

34. In carrying out the Bear Mountain Business Terms, Matthews focused on 

strengthening and managing the Bear Mountain resort community, whose reputation, public 

image, and community relations had been negatively impacted by earlier circumstances, which 

had involved the removal of the original owner and the Bear Mountain Assets coming into the 

control of HSBC Bank Canada. 

35. This involved, among other things, the visibility and presence of Matthews as a 

representative of the ownership group to the Bear Mountain community's approximately 3,000 

residents; and Matthews' work in developing relationships and strategic partnerships with 

residents, developers, local governments, business leaders, municipals staff and council, and 

national sports organizations. Matthews also set out to improve the on-site amenities and to resume 

site servicing and land development work, generating significant momentum for Bear Mountain 

as a growing community. 

36. By the end of 2016, key achievements in these areas included the following: 
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(a) Significant increase in the purchase price of residences in the Bear Mountain 

neighbourhoods (reflecting an overall increase in the value of the Bear Mountain 

lands that exceeded property value growth in the surrounding region); 

(b) Work with local governments and adjacent landowners to have construction begin 

on the Bear Mountain Parkway extension, which would significantly improve road 

access and bring public transportation to Bear Mountain; 

(c) Improvements to the quality and profile of the Golf Courses, including hosting the 

PGA Pacific Links Bear Mountain Championship in 2016; 

( d) Integration of cycling, hiking, and running features and events into the Bear 

Mountain resort community experience; 

(e) Refurbishment of the Hotel, a significant project involving a major investment of 

Partnership funds; and 

(f) Intensive community engagement, including profile associated with sponsorships 

of various community events, charities and non-profit organizations. 

37. In addition, EBMD had executed strategic sales of single family lots and sites to 

vertical builders. Sales of single family lots were brought to market in 2013, August 2014 and June 

2016 and September 2016. In planning the single family lot sales, Matthews developed specific 

relationships with high-quality builders in to order to ensure consistent, quality construction of the 

neighbourhoods. 

38. By 2016, the Partnership had received numerous expressions of interest for bulk 

sales of all, or substantially all of the Bear Mountain Assets. This included interest from several 

Canadian and international investment groups and large scale developers, who conducted due 

diligence on the Bear Mountain Assets and operations. Given the volume of interest, Matthews 

and Tom Kusumoto determined that the appropriate course of action would be to engage a 

commercial broker in order to obtain better market information in setting pricing. 
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2. 2017 - May 2021 

39. In late 2016, the Partnership retained the real estate services firm Jones Lang 

LaSalle ("JLL") to review the Bear Mountain Assets and prepare a marketing strategy for the sale 

of all or substantially all of the assets. EBMD publicly announced JLL's engagement in February 

2017. That announcement confirmed that JLL would be seeking interest from organizations 

qualified to "build out" the Bear Mountain development, while maintaining the high standards that 

EBMD had established. 

40. By April 2017, and after discussions between Matthews and Tom Kusumoto as to 

the specific assets to be included, JLL had prepared a confidential offering memorandum for 

circulation to potential purchasers. JLL' s work attracted expressions of interest from several 

potential purchaser groups, who performed due diligence with respect to the Bear Mouotain 

Assets. 

41. In this process, Kusumoto was involved, at Tom Kusumoto's request, in reviewing 

the confidential offering memorandum and the expressions of interest received. Tom Kusumoto 

advised Matthews that Kusumoto could be of assistance to EBMD in providing tax analysis. 

42. In reviewing expressions of interest received, Kusumoto, frequently and repeatedly, 

pressed for sales to various potential purchasers. Thus, and by way of example, Kusumoto at times 

advocated a process of selling without a focus on amenities. While Matthews and Kusumoto 

agreed with pursuing sales, they did not agree to do so on a basis that diminished the brand and 

quality of the Bear Mouotain Project as a resort development. 

43. However, ultimately, and for various reasons, including expressions of interest that 

offered prices below the current market value, no large-scale sales of the Bear Mountain Assets 

occurred at that time. The Bear Mouotain Project continued to hit important milestones during this 

period. In 2017, Bear Mountain Tennis Facility opened eight new red clay tennis courts and the 

Partnership hosted the PGA Tour Champions Pacific Links Bear Mountain Championship. 

Residential single-family sites continued to be brought to market and other major sporting events 

were held. 
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44. In 2019, a potential purchaser group entered into negotiations with the Partnership. 

The group consisted of representatives who had first looked at a potential purchase in 2015 

together with additional partners, These discussions ultimately led to a conditional "framework 

agreement" for the purchase of a majority of the Bear Mountain Assets. 

45, The purchaser group proceeded with its due diligence in 2020 resulting in a 

framework agreement that went through several iterations as to deal structure. However, the 

overall deal collapsed following negotiations in early 2021, with the purchaser group refusing to 

remove conditions absent a significant price concession from the Partnership, which was refused. 

46, Despite the apparent collapse of this potential purchase, Kusumoto continued to 

press Tom Kusumoto and Matthews to return to negotiations with the group, seeking to revive the 

purchase and sale agreement despite the significantly lower sale price now proposed, Further 

negotiations were attempted but were not successful. 

47, While the above discussions were progressing, Matthews aml Tom Kusumoto also 

pursued an alternative marketing plan dividing a majority of the Bear Mountain lands into five 

distinct sites, each representing a separate purchase opportunity. Sales also occurred during this 

period: in January 2021 in relation to the Elevate multi-family condominium site, and for the 

Turnberry Corner multi-family site, which closed in March 2021. 

48, In or around March 2021, Matthews identified a new potential purchaser group 

through personal contacts. Following discussions, that group presented a memorandum of 

understanding on April 21, 2021, which contemplated the purchase of Sanovest's interest in the 

Partnership, with 599315 retaining an interest, and Matthews partnering with the purchaser group, 

who expressed the desire for him to continue managing overall operations. 

49. Kusumoto was involved, on behalf of Sanovest, in considering the memorandum 

and the Partnership's response. Taking an insistent position, and despite reservations that 

Matthews had expressed to him, Kusumoto presented a counterproposal for a sale of the Bear 

Mountain Assets at a higher price than. was offered and with the option of Sano vest retaining a 

20% interest. This resulted in the purchaser group revoking its memorandum of understanding and 

discontinuing further discussions. In response, Kusumoto suggested that Matthews contact the 
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purchaser group's representative with a view to "revive this deal in any way". Matthews' efforts 

in this regard did not result in any new proposal being advanced. 

50. In April 2021, the Partnership engaged Colliers International ("Colliers") as real 

estate broker to market the distinct sites, noted above, as separate purchase opportunities. Colliers 

scheduled a marketing launch to occur on May 19, 2021 for the "Players Peak" site. Two days 

prior to the launch, Kusumoto purported to issue a notice of meeting of EBMD's directors to, 

among other things: (a) "Create a special committee to approve the sale and purchase of assets 

including the negotiations and structure of the transactions"; and (b) advance Kusumoto's proposal 

of having him appointed to the board as a Sanovest representative, with Tom Kusumoto being 

appointed as "non-executive Chairman" of the board. 

51. Matthews objected to such a meeting being held without adequate notice. However, 

Kusumoto maintained that the planned Colliers launch could not occur until such a meeting was 

held. On May 18, 2021, he contacted Colliers to cancel a scheduled pre-launch call and the 

marketing launch itself. 

52. These matters were resolved with the agreement that, effective June 1, 2021, 

Kusumoto would replace Tom Kusumoto as Sanovest's nominee to EBMD's board of directors 

and would have the title of "CFO" on EBMD' s board. No special committee was created. 

3. June 2021 to Present 

53. Kusumoto's appointment as Sanovest's nominee to EBMD's board of directors 

followed an internal change within Sanovest whereby, on or around March I, 2021, and unknown 

to Matthews at that time, Kusumoto was added as a director of Sanovest. Subsequently, on or 

around October 20, 2021, Tom Kusumoto ceased to be a director of Sanovest. 

54. Since Iris appointment as a director and CFO ofEBMD, Kusumoto has persisted in 

a course of conduct designed to further ·his interests and Sanovest' s interests to the detriment of 

EBMD, the Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 599315. Such conduct represents a significant 

depaiture from the Bear Mountain Business Terms and from the shareholders' reasonable 

expectations, including as followed over the previous eight years. 
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55. As set out in the following sections, Kusumoto's misconduct as director includes, 

among other things, the following categories: (a) refusal to engage in good faith and in accordance 

with the Bear Mountain Business Terms in the marketing and sale of the Bear Mountain Assets; 

(b) blocking third-paity financing, while also withholding necessary project funding available 

under the Sanovest Loan Agreement; (c) disruptive and prejudicial conduct with respect to the 

Partnership's operations; and (d) disruptive conduct in relation to litigation involving the 

Partnership. Tbis conduct is expressly designed to place improper pressure on 599315 and 

Matthews, to either dictate new partnership terms or compel 599315 to sell its interest in the Bear 

Mountain Project at a discount. 

(a) Initial Disruptive Conduct 

56. Kusumoto's initial disruptive conduct began in the days following his appointment 

as a director and CFO of EBMD. 

57. Kusumoto's appointment as director and CFO permitted discussions with Colliers 

to resume, leading to the marketing launch occurring in the morning of June 7, 2021. However, 

hours after the launch had occurred, Kusumoto wrote to the Colliers' representative asking to place 

the marketing "on hold". Although he later relented on this request, on June 11, 2021, and acting 

unilaterally, he requested that Colliers identify him as "Director/ CFO and majority stakeholder" 

in outgoing marketing materials. Matthews objected to this title as misleading, first verbally and 

later in a letter from counsel. Nonetheless, Kusumoto has persisted in using this styling in this and 

other external communications. 

58. Beginning at or around the same time, Kusumoto attempted to revoke Matthews' 

access to the Partnership's financial institutions. 

59. In correspondence between June 10 and 18, 2021, Kusumoto attempted to remove 

Matthews as a signing authority to the Paitnership's account at Coast Capital Federal Credit Union 

("Coast Capital"). Matthews did not become aware of this correspondence until copied in to the 

email exchange by Coast Capital, who advised that Matthews was a director and therefore could 

not be removed as a signatory. 
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60. Kusumoto made a second similar attempt to disrupt the Partnership's banking on 

July 26, 2021, when, acting unilaterally, he purported to instruct Bank of Montreal ("BMO") to 

suspend all Partnership bank accounts until he was added as a signing authority in place of Tom 

Kusumoto. This triggered an objection from 5993 lS's corporate counsel confirming that 

Kusumoto did not have authority to unilaterally suspend any of the Partnership's bank accounts. 

(b) Blocked Sales 

61. By late June 2021, the Colliers' marketing process was well underway. Colliers proposed 

setting July 20, 2021 as the date to begin reviewing/accepting offers, and that this date be 

armounced on July 8, 2021. In response, Kusumoto wrote to the Collier's representative asking 

them not to "reach out to prospective purchasers until further notice". He further expressed the 

intention to consider "partnership vs site sale", which was not something that had been part of 

Colliers' mandate. Matthews had not discussed this communication with Kusumoto before it was 

sent, and disagreed ,vifa this course of action. 

62. Ultimately, Kusumoto permitted the marketing process to continue. In late July 

2021, the Partnership considered three letters of intent that Colliers had received from three 

separate purchaser groups, each expressing interest on the "Player's Peak" site and providing a 

non-binding dollar value for an intended offer. 

63. All three letters of interest expressed values well within the appraised value and 

the valuation that Colliers had projected for the site. 

64. In response to the first letter of intent received, Kusumoto proposed to Colliers 

that the Partnership seek a revised letter of intent for a higher price and that the Partnership remain 

a partner in the development. Kusumoto stated his opinion that the Partnership's involvement 

would command a higher price, and that the Partnership should pursue "participation in the vertical 

development of Players Peak if the pro formajustifies". 

65. Kusumoto's position was inconsistent with the Bear Mountain Business Terms, 

which did not contemplate ongoing Partnership involvement after the sale of the Bear Mountain 

Assets nor Partnership involvement in any major vertical development endeavors. Matthews did 

not agree with this approach. 
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66. By August 2021, two candidates remained for the Players' Peak site. Colliers 

strongly recommended engaging with one of those candidates with a view to entering into a 

purchase and sale agreement. Specifically, Colliers' Executive Vice President advised that "[i]n 

all of our engagements, we have never, ever witnessed a vendor turn down a record-breaking 

value". Colliers further warned that refusal to engage with either candidate risked reputational 

damage in the investor/developer community by creating the perception that the Partnership was 

not a serious vendor. 

67. Kusumoto disagreed with Colliers' recommendation, and instead repeated a version 

of his prior proposals - that the Partnership partner with the purchaser ( a scenario that was not 

contemplated by Colliers' offering memorandum). Matthews did not agree to proceed in this 

fashion. In response, and despite Matthews' admonition that he could not unilaterally reject the 

offer, Kusumoto informed Colliers on August 12, 2021 that "[w]e cannot at this time accept ... 

offer to purchase as the price and terms are unacceptable." Kusumoto also refused Matthews' 

suggestion to discuss the matter further at an upcoming meeting of the EBMD board of directors 

before responding to the candidate. 

68. In early October, 2021, the Partnership was awaiting a revised letter of intent from 

a group in relation to the "Village Core" site. However, on October 4, 2021, and acting unilaterally, 

Kusumoto wrote to that group advising that "I believe Dan [Matthews] has told you we are on 

'pause' ... as we finish reviewing the development strategy". As a result, discussions with that 

group di(! not proceed further. 

69. During the sununer and fall of 2021, Kusumoto was openly stating to Matthews 

and to others that he intended for Sanovest to purchase 5993 lS's interest in the Partnership on a 

discounted basis, and that he had the benefit of time to force such a sale, as the accrual of interest 

on the Sanovest Loan would, over time, effectively erode 599315's equity in the Partnership. 

Matthews also learned that Kusumoto had made inquiries with one of the Partnership's financial 

institutions as to them providing funding to Sanovest for purchasing 5993 lS's interest in the 

Partnership and developing the Bear Mountain Project. 

70. Kusumoto's conduct in blocking sales was done for the purpose of furthering the 

above strategy in that it deprived the Partnership of funds necessary to pay down the Sanovest 
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Loan and to pay for necessary operating expenditures. As set out in more detail below, this conduct 

was done in concert with other steps also designed to deprive the Partnership of operating funds 

and to have Sanovest unilaterally exercise control over EBMD through its position as lender. 

(c) Financial Oppression 

71. Under the Sanovest Loan Agreement, Sanovest is required to advance funds to the 

Partnership, as and when requested, for Partnership activities, including development of the Bear 

Mountain Assets and to fund ongoing operations. As noted above, the Modification Agreement 

extended the Sanovest Loan term to November 1, 2021 and increased the loan limit to $70,000,000. 

It also expressly provided that the permitted uses of the funds remained as set out in the Sano vest 

Loan Agreement. 

72. Contrary to the Sanovest Loan Agreement and the First Modification Agreement, 

Sanovest refused to advance funds after June 1, 2021 as and when required for permitted uses. In 

particular, Kusumoto caused Sanovest, as lender, to withhold funds in order to improperly advance 

his agenda as director. At this time, and at all material times thereafter, the amount drawn under 

the Sanovest Loan Agreement was significantly below the $70,000,000 loan limit. 

73. In particular, and beginning in the weeks following his appointment as director, 

Kusumoto refused to advance funding that had been validly requested under the Sanovest Loan 

Agreement and took the position that: (a) Sanovest would not advance any further funding to the 

Partnership in the near term; and (b) proceeds of sale closings (which were occurring during this 

period) must be paid to Sanovest directly, without any reserve funds retained within the 

Partnership. The consequences of this included, among other things, the following: 

(a) Partnership expenses were left unpaid, including essential items such as property 

taxes, leading to reputational damage and avoidable interest charges; and 

(b) The Partnership was required to abruptly discontinue site servicing work on the 

"Shadow Creek" project (which was previously approved by the EBMD board of 

directors), leaving an unsightly unfinished site in a prominent location, generating 

false rumours of insolvency within the Partnership, and damaging the Partnership's 
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relationship with builders that had worked on the site for many years, and had 

committed to purchasing Shadow Creek lots once serviced. 

Following Matthews' complaints that Sanovest was improperly withholding 

advances under the Sanovest Loan Agreement, Kusumoto proposed that Sanovest advance funds 

as a "cash call", attracting an interest rate of 18%. When Matthews' refused to accept such a 

proposal, Kusumoto continued to tie the advance of further funding under the Sanovest Loan 

Agreement to resolving his newly asserted concerns respecting the Partnership's previous 

management-matters that had proceeded by agreement between Matthews and Tom Kusumoto 

during the latter's tenure as Sanovest's nominee to EBMD. 

75. In particular, on or around June 30, 2021, Matthews and Kusumoto discussed the 

Partnership's finances with the Partnership's external accountant. On that call, Matthews raised 

the significant harms being incurred by Sanovest's refusal to advance funds under the Sanovest 

Loa.'1 Agreement. Matthews proposed that: (a) Sa.'lovest permit the Partnership to enter into a loan 

agreement with a new lender in order to permit development work to proceed and financial 

commitments to be met; and (b) proceeds from ongoing land closings remain in the Partnership, 

rather than paid entirely to Sanovest. Kusumoto, as a director of EBMD and as a principal of 

Sanovest, refused these proposals, stating expressly that Sanovest wished to remain in control of 

EBMD's financing, given the control this provided to Sanovest over EBMD and the Partnership's 

activities. 

76. On August 14, 2021, two days after Kusumoto's rejection of the letter of intent for 

Player's Peak, Mathews issued a Notice of Meeting of the Board of Directors to be held on August 

17, 2021. The agenda proposed four items: (a) the refinancing of the Sanovest debt; (b) resolutions 

to address issues at the Shadow Creek site; (c) a process for valuing the assets of EBMD, the 

Partnership and the Resort Partnership; and ( d) a resolution proposing the approval of the letter of 

intent for Player's Peak. 

77. The proposed resolution with respect to financing was as follows: 

On motion duly made, the Board resolve to approve the seeking, as a matter 
of priority, of third party debt financing to repay and replace the existing 
debt financing provided by Sano vest Holdings Ltd., with the terms and legal 
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documentation in respect of such refinancing to be submitted to the Board 
at a later meeting for consideration and approval. 

After requests by Kusumoto to postpone, the meeting was held on August 19, 2021. 

The directors were deadlocked on all four resolutions. 

79. Matthews and Kusumoto exchanged further correspondence with respect to 

funding following the August 19, 2021 board of directors' meeting. However, Kusumoto 

continued to refuse alternate funding or to otherwise permit funds to remain within the Partnership, 

expressly stating asserted concerns regarding the Partnership's previous management, as well as a 

desire to revisit the Bear Mountain Business Terms, as a basis for Sanovest's refusal to advancing 

funding under the Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

80. On or around January 26, 2022, Sanovest and the Partnership agreed to extend the 

Sanovest Loan to May 1, 2024 by second modification to the Sanovest Commitment Letter (the 

"Second Modification Agreement"), with an extension fee of $700,000 accruing to Sanovest. 

81. Following the Second Modification Agreement, Kusumoto authorized Sano vest to 

advance funding for certain matters, but refused others. Kusumoto's conduct in this regard was 

calculated to have Sanovest exert control over EBMD outside ofEBMD's board of directors and 

to circumvent Matthews' authority under the Bear Mountain Business Terms: as President and 

CEO ofEBMD nominated by 599315 with authority to direct the Partnership's overall operations. 

82. Further, Kusumoto has continued to use his position within Sanovest to withhold 

funding for necessary operational matters. Among other things, Kusumoto withheld property taxes 

when due in June 30, 2022 in an effort to compel Matthews to provide him with exclusive signing 

authority for the Partnership's banking. Kusumoto also confirmed that he would not consider 

external funding absent a revision to the Business Plan expressed in the Bear Mountain Business 

Terms. Kusumoto has also continued to refuse to permit the Shadow Creek project to advance. 

83. Kusumoto has exercised this control by insisting, including as noted above, that 

any significant funds coming into the Partnership be paid first to Sanovest, even if operating funds 

were required, and even if Sanovest would be required to re-advance the same funds in short order. 
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84. Kusumoto has also refused to consider the replacement of the Sanovest Loan 

Agreement by other financing, or the subordination of Sanovest's security in order to secure an 

additional lender. Sanovest's refusal in this regard is commercially unreasonable, given that the 

current value of Sano vest's security significantly exceeds the amount outstanding on the Sanovest 

Loan. 

85. Kusumoto's conduct with respect to the Sanovest Loan is done out of self-interest, 

in that TRK Investments Corporation, a company he owns and controls, earns management fees 

from the advancing and re-advancing of funds from Sanovest to the Partnership. 

( d) Interference in Litigation 

86. When Kusumoto was appointed as Sanovest's nominee in June 2021, the 

Partnership and Resort Partnership were involved in several ongoing legal matters. The two 

primary matters were a significant arbitration matter and a construction dispute, both of which 
. . 

remam ongmng 

87. Prior to June 2021, Matthews had been responsible for instructing counsel in 

relation to these matters on behalf ofEBMD, informing Tom Kusumoto of material developments 

as they occurred. 

88. Within days of his appointment, Kusumoto attempted to take over exclusive control 

of the ongoing litigation matters. Although Matthews did not agree to this, as described in this 

section, Kusumoto has nevertheless acted unilaterally in relation to those matters, causing harm to 

the Partnership and the Resort Partnership's litigation positions. 

89. On June 11, 2021, Kusumoto wrote to Matthews opining that he should "take over 

all Ecoasis representation on lawsuits". Kusumoto sought to justify this position by reference to 

Sanovest's position as a lender. Although the legal expenses were Partnership expenses, he stated 

that he should take control as "the legal bills will be paid by Sanovest", collapsing the distinction 

between Sanovest's role oflender and Tian's position as a director in a company owned equally 

by 599315 and Sanovest. 
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90. Although Matthews did not agree to this proposal, Kusumoto subsequently falsely 

advised the Partnership's external accountant later that "Dan has agreed that I will be tal.cing over 

handing of all lawsuits". 

91. In October 2021, Matthews learned that Kusumoto had been holding direct 

discussions with the principal of the adverse party in the construction dispute. He had done so 

without coordination with Matthews, who did not agree to or approve any such direct 

communications. On October 19, 2021, Kusumoto wrote to Matthew suggesting - in contrast to 

his refusal to otherwise fund Partnership operations-that Sanovest advance $50,000 to the adverse 

party for the purpose of construction work. Matthews responded that no such payments should be 

made, given the ongoing litigation and the nature of the claims the adverse party had made against 

the Partnership. In reply, Kusumoto asserted, incorrectly, that Matthews had agreed to him "taking 

over the lawsuits against and by Ecoasis". 

92. As a result of representations that Kusumoto made to the principal of the adverse 

party, unilaterally and without authorization, the details of which are not known to Matthews or 

599315, but are known to Kusumoto and Sanovest, the adverse party discontinued the settlement 

discussions that were ongoing with the Partnership at that time. As a result, the Partnership has 

and will incur damages, increased legal costs and litigation risk and impaired litigation outcomes. 

93. Kusumoto engaged in similar unilateral and disruptive conduct in the arbitration 

matter. In similar form, Kusumoto engaged in direct contact with the representatives of the adverse 

parties, acted contrary to the recommendations of the Partnership's counsel, and disrupted the pre­

existing litigation strategy. Kusumoto's purpose in doing so included, among other things, to gain 

a separate advantage for Sanovest - through partnerships or business arrangements with the 

adverse party - outside of the Partnership, the details of which are not known to Matthews or 

599315, but are known to Kusumoto and Sanovest. As a result, the Partnership has and will incur 

damages, including increased legal costs, increased litigation risk, abandoned or lapsed legal 

claims, and impaired litigation outcomes. 
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(e) Unauthorized Fees 

94. In or around 2019, Kusumoto, who at that time maintained the loan schedule for 

the Sanovest Loan, added an "additional fee" of$100,000 to the loan schedule, attributing this fee 

to the Sanovest Loan reaching an outstanding amount of $70,000,000. This amount was 

unauthorized by the Sanovest Loan Agreement in that: (a) the Sanovest Loan Agreement does not 

provide for an "additional fee" to be incurred when reaching the $70,000,000 threshold; and (b) in 

calculating that threshold, Kusumoto attributed certain funds that Tom Kusumoto had advanced 

directly (rather than through Sauovest). Matthews did not learn of this unauthorized fee until on 

or around June 10, 2021, when provided with a partial snapshot of the loan schedule. When 

confronted with this unauthorized fee in 2022, Kusumoto provided the justification that "Ecoasis 

got >$70M in funding, shouldn't it pay for the fee's on that amount". 

95. To date, Matthews has not been provided with a complete copy of the Sanovest 

loan schedule, and has accordingly been unable to ascertain the validity or accuracy of the cu..-rrent 

loan balance indicated. 

(:t) Interference with Role of President and CEO, and Disparagement 

96. Kusumoto's attempts at interference in Matthews' role as CEO continued beyond 

the initial period described above and remain ongoing. Kusumoto' s actions in this regard constitute 

a pattern of conduct designed to create an intolerable situation for Matthews as President and CEO, 

and for 599315's continued participation in the Partnership. 

97. This section sets out only a partial recitation of this misconduct. 

98. On June 28, 2022, Kusumoto made a further attempt to obtain unilateral control of 

the Project's banking and finance arrangements. He emailed the Partnership's counsel asserting, 

falsely, that "Dan has agreed to give me financial control over the bank accounts and finances of 

Ecoasis and he want to make it officially represented in a consent director's resolution". He further 

asserted that he then intended to advance funds from Sanovest for Partnership needs, including 

property tax payments, effectively conditioning such financing on gaining unilateral financial 

control. Matthews responded the next day confirming that Kusumoto' s email was inaccurate, but 
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that he was willing to work within the existing banking arrangements to satisfy Kusumoto' s 

apparent concerns. 

99. Kusumoto's misconduct has also been directed at Matthews personally and at his 

family, causing harm to Matthews' personal reputation, the Partnership's reputation and the 

Ecoasis brand, all of which has impacted interest from potential purchasers and activity partners. 

100. Kusumoto's disruptive conduct has also extended to Paiinership employees. For 

example, in September 2021, Kusumoto copied staff, for no operational reason, on emails 

suggesting that Matthews had or would improperly take funds from the Partnership. More recently, 

on January 25, 2023, Kusumoto communicated to the Partnership's controller that he should 

"demand to be removed" from banking authority with the Partnership's accounts at HSBC; and 

that he would otherwise be "in this position of being Dan co-conspirator". Shortly afterwards, that 

employee resigned his employment with the Partnership, due in part to the improper pressure that 

Kusumoto had applied on hin1. 

101. These departures have stressed the Partnership's senior management. This has, in 

turn, significantly impaired Matthews' ability to function as CEO. 

102. Since the Partnership's inception, and by agreement between Sanovest and 599315, 

Matthews had received a monthly management fee for serving in the role of CEO and leading the 

project's overall operations. The management fee had been paid to Matthews, through Ecoasis 

Innovative Communities Inc., including after June 2021 with Kusumoto's express agreement this 

could be paid without further authority However, beginning in January 2023, Kusumoto has 

prevented the payment of this management fee. 

103. Accordingly, Matthews has been fulfilling his responsibilities as CEO without 

remuneration since January 2023; and has been unable to replace this lost income given that these 

responsibilities occupy more than full time working hours. Kusumoto' s conduct in this regard was 

done for the purpose of placing financial pressure on and extracting concessions from Matthews 

and 599315, and not for any proper purpose related to EMBD or the Partnership. 
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(g) Bear Mouutaiu Activity Funding 

104. The Bear Mountain Activity Centre ("BMAC") is a community centre facility 

located near the centre of the Bear Mountain village area. It was previously known as the N01ih 

Langford Recreation Centre and was owned by the City of Langford. In December 2020, the Resort 

Partnership funded the purchase ofBMAC. However, ownership of the BMAC assets was assigned 

to a separate company, Bear Mountain Adventures Ltd. ("BMA"). BMA is owned 50% by a 

company associated with Matthews and 50% by a company associated with Tom Kusumoto (not 

599315 or Sanovest). The BMAC purchase was done in this way for strategic reasons, in 

coordination with the marketing strategy for the Bear Mountain Assets in place at that time. 

However, EBMD (through Tom Kusumoto and Matthews as directors) agreed that BMAC would 

be treated as an asset of the Resort Partnership; that its operations would be funded from the Resort 

Partnership; and that any profits generated would be treated as Resort Partnership revenues. 

105. RMAC was operated in this way from December 2020 until in or around August 

2022. In August 2022, Kusumoto stated that he would refuse further payments to BMA (which he 

was also a director of) and wished to create a separate bank account for BMAC within BMA. In 

response, Matthews reaffirmed that BMAC had always been treated as an asset of the Resort 

Paiinership ( and its revenues paid into a designated account within the Resort Partnership), and 

that if Kusumoto wished, the ownership could be formally transferred to the Resort Partnership. 

On September 27, 2022, before any resolution had been reached on these issues, and knowing that 

the payroll payment to BMAC employees needed to forwarded the next day, Kusumoto prevented 

that payment from proceeding (i.e. from the BMAC account within the Resort Partnership). 

However, he stated to Matthews that he would authorize payroll if Matthews signed a form of 

agreement he had presented in Angust, and that Matthews had not accepted. 

I 06. As a result, Matthews was required to ·advance personal funds, by way of loan, to 

fund BMAC's ongoing operations, including staff payroll. More recently, the BMAC revenue has 

been sufficient to cover operations and may generate a modest profit for the Resort Partnership. 

107. On March 20, 2023, Sanovest filed an Amended Notice of Civil Claim against 

Matthews (and others) in British Columbia Supreme Court Action No. S-223937. In the Amended 

Notice of Civil Claim, Sanovest introduced the allegation that Matthews "diverted" funds to 
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BMAC without authorization. That allegation forms part of Kusumoto's oppressive conduct: he 

has persisted in alleging that the Partnership should not fund BMAC, but has refused to accept the 

transfer of those assets to the Resort Partnership. He was also prepared to continue funding BMAC 

payroll provided that Matthews make certain concessions to him ( an act that would be in breach 

of his duties as director, if his allegation as to "diverted funds" were accepted). In sum, Kusumoto 

has taken advantage of BMAC's current structure as formally held outside of the Partnership to 

improperly pressure Matthews and to interfere with his role as President and CEO, 

(h) Additional Lost Sales Opportunities 

108. Following the steps Kusumoto took in the summer and fall of 2021 to derail 

discussion with prospective purchasers, and the sales strategy more generally, the Partnership has 

not engaged in a concerted sales strategy for the sale of either asset tranches or the Bear Mountain 

Assets en bloc. Nevertheless, the Partnership has continued to receive serious expressions of 

interest meeting or exceeding market value estimates. 

109. In 2022 alone, the Partnership received credible and serious expressions of interest 

on certain bulk sites worth more than $164,000,000. However, Kusumoto refused to permit those 

processes to move forward towards sale. 

110. But for Kusumoto' s actions, beginning in or around August 2021 and continuing to 

present, to prevent sales from proceeding in accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms, 

the Bear Mountain Assets, or large portions thereof, would have been sold. The Sanovest Loan 

would have been long since retired. The overall value of the Bear Mountain Assets would also 

have been increased by reinvestment in the community and amenities prior to any bulk or en bloc 

sale. Further, 599315 and Sanovest would have received significant distributions, realizing on the 

value generated through 10 years of effort in the Bear Mountain Project. 

111. Kusumoto's conduct in preventing sales has been oppressive and unfairly 

prejudicial towards 599315, which did not reasonably expect that: (a) it would continue to pay 

interest to Sanovest under the Sanovest Loan in circumstances where alternative financing was 

available and where commercially reasonable sales opportunities existed; and (b) that Sanovest 

would take advantage of the situation it had manufactured - by remaining a creditor of the 
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Partnership - to prevent appropriate funding of Partnership activities and to interfere with 

Matthews' role as President and CEO ofEBMD. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

A. The Affairs of EBMD are being Conducted in an Oppressive Manner 

112. Section 227(2) of the BCA permits a shareholder to apply to court for an equitable 

remedy on the following bases: 

(a) that the affairs of the company are being or have been conducted, or that 
the powers of the directors are being or have been exercised, in a manner 
oppressive to one or more of the shareholders, including the applicant, or 

(b) that some act of the company has been done or is threatened, or that some 
resolution of the shareholders or of the shareholders holding shares of a 
class or series of shar~s has been passed or is proposed, that is unfairly 
prejudicial to one or more of the shareholders, including the applicant. 

113. The oppression remedy involves a two-step enquiry. The first step requires a 

consideration of the stakeholder's reasonable expectations. If a breach ofreasonable expectations 

is established, the Court must then consider whether the conduct complained of amounts to 

"oppression" or '\mfair prejudice". Courts considering claims for oppression should look at 

business realities, not merely narrow legalities, and ought to enforce not just what is legal but what 

is fair. An oppression claim requires the· claimant to first show that it held a reasonable expectation 

with respect to the conduct of the company, and second, that the reasonable expectation was 

violated by conduct that was oppressive or unfairly prejudicial. 

BCE Inc. v. 1976 Debentureholders, 2008 SCC 69 ("BCE'), paras 56, 58, 68. 

114. The concept ofreasonable expectations is objective and contextual. The question is 

whether the expectation is reasonable having regard to the facts of the specific case, the 

relationships at issue, and the entire context. 

BCE, paras 62, 71-72 

115. Representations and agreements, such as shareholder agreements, may be viewed 

as reflecting the reasonable expectations .of the parties. A departure from normal business practices 
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that has the effect of undermining or frustrating the complainant's exercise of his or her legal rights 

will generally (although not inevitably) give rise to a remedy. Reasonable expectations may also 

be effected by past practice, the nature of the corporation and representations made to stakeholders 

or to the public in promotional material, prospectuses, offering circulars and other 

communications. 

BCE, paras 72, 73, 79-80. 

116. 599315 and Sanovest's reasonable expectations flow from the Bear Mountain 

Business Te1ms. Those expectations include the following: 

117. 

(a) The Bear Mountain Assets would be managed for the purpose of realizing on bulk 

site and lot sales opportunities that reflected market value, following a reasonable 

period in which those assets' value would grow through investment in the Bear 

Mountain Project's land infrastructure and operations; 

(b) Matthews would be able to direct EBMD's overall operations m a manner 

consistent with the role of President and CEO; 

(c) Sanovest's main responsibility was to provide financing for the Bear Mountain 

Project's acquisition costs, operating costs, and land development costs, which 

obligation was reflected, inter alia, in the $30,000,000 preferential payment 

allocated to Sanovest under the Partnership Agreement; 

( d) Repaying the Sano vest Loan from the proceeds of sales would be a priority; and as 

a corollary of this, Sanovest would not entrench and then abuse its position as lender 

to profit from or unilaterally impose new business terms on 599315; and 

(e) Through the directors they appointed to EBMD, Sanovest and 599315 would 

operate honestly and in good faith, in a commercially reasonable manner, and in 

the best interests of EBMD and the partnerships it managed. 

At a basic level, shareholders also have a reasonable expectation that directors will 

act in the best interest of the company and not for their own personal gain. 
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1043325 Ontario Ltd. v. CSA Building Sciences Western Ltd., 2014 BCSC 1197, 
para. 126, rev'd in part 2016 BCCA 258, leave to appeal refd [2016) S.C.C.A. 

No.3 83. 

118. In light of the shareholders' reasonable expectations, Kusumoto' s conduct has been 

oppressive and unfairly prejudicial to 599315. Oppression is conduct which is "burdensome, harsh 

or wrongful", whereas unfairly prejudicial conduct is conduct which is unjustly or inequitably 

detrimental to a shareholder's interests. 

Walker v. Betts, 2006 BCSC 128 at para. 80. 

119. A stalemate between two equal shareholders and the directors they appoint is 

oppressive where the company fails to live up to its obligation to the shareholders, justifying a 

remedy from the Court. 

Kirtzinger v. Schlosser, 2010 SKQB 478 ("Kirtzinger"), paras. 7 and 11 - 13. 

B. Corporate Remedies 

120. Section 227(3) gives the court broad discretion to fashion an appropriate remedy. 

There are four general factors to guide the court in fashioning a fit remedy under s. 227 of the 

BCA: 

(a) the remedy must be a fair way of dealing with the situation; 

(b) the remedy should go no further than necessary to rectify the oppression; 

(c) the remedy may only vindicate the reasonable expectations of parties in their 

capacity as corporate stakeholders and not those expectations that arise merely by 

virtue of a familial or personal relationship; and 

( d) the remedy must take into account the general corporate law context. 
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121. The removal of a director or officer is a remedy available under s. 227 of the BCA. 

The remedy may be appropriate where a director or officer has engaged in misconduct, including 

by preferring his or interests over those of the company, 

122. 

Walker v, Betts, 2006 BCSC 1096; 
Catalyst Fund General Partner I Inc. v, Hollinger Inc., 

[2004] O.T.C. 1025 (Sup. Ct J.) affd (2006), 79 O.R. (3d) 288 (C.A.) 

In order to finally resolve a deadlock between shareholders, the Court has broad 

discretion to fashion a fair sale process of one party's interest to the other. This may include, among 

other processes, a "shotgun sale". 

123. 

Mostyn v. Schmiing, 2011 BCSC 275; 
Sonderhoff v Ellesmere Farm Corporation, 2021 BCSC 2311. 

In instances of stalemate between equal shareholders and the directors they appoint, 

the appointment of a third director may be a reasonable remedy. 

Kinzinger at para 15. 

C. Orders for Compensation 

124. Under s. 227(3)(j) of the BCA, the Court may vary or set aside a transaction to 

which the company is a party and direct a party to the transaction to compensate any other party 

to the transaction. Section 227(3)(m) provides general authority for the Court to order the company 

to compensate an aggrieved person. 

125. Compensatory orders from Kusumoto and Sanovest to 599315 are appropriate in 

this case where: 

(a) Kusumoto, as the Sanovest-appointed director to EBMD, has acted to prevent sales 

from occurring in accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms, losing the 

advantage of a favourable market, and preventing distributions from flowing to 

599315 in accordance with the parties' reasonable expectations; 

(b) Sanovest has itself benefitted from this misconduct as it continues to earn interest 

on the Sanovest Loan; and 

39583.160286.GBB.23251032.7 



126. 

33 

(c) Kusumoto has personally benefitted from the Sanovest Loan remaining outstanding 

through his arrangement, personally or through TRK Investments Corporation, in 

providing fund management services to Sanovest. 

The provision in the Partnership Agreement for Sanovest to receive a preferential 

distributions was part of the parties' overall arrangement and expectations, which included that: 

(a) Sanovest would advance funding as required for the Bear Mountain Project; (b) Sanovest would 

not take advantage of its position as lender; ( c) Sanovest would not deprive the Bear Mountain 

Project of operating capital; and ( d) Sanovest would allow land sales so as to permit the repayment 

of the Sano vest Loan. Having failed to abide by this overall arrangement, it is appropriate that the 

Partnership Agreement be varied so as to disentitle Sanovest from receiving preferential 

distributions. 

127. There are instances where the court's broad discretion to make any appropriate 

interim or final order it \Vill contemplate holding directors personally liable tu1der section 227(3). 

128. The imposition of personal liability on Kusumoto is appropriate in light of the 

principles developed in Wilson v. Alharayeri, 2017 SCC 39. 

129. 

See also: Azam v Andrews Custom Furniture Designs Inc., 2022 BCSC 1166, para 80; 
Multiguide GmbH v. Broer, 2022 BCSC 852. 

Matthews, as an aggrieved person, seeks a compensation order against Kusumoto 

to account for damage to his personal reputation and the Ecoasis brand occasioned by the tactics 

of personal disparagement that Kusrunoto has employed in carrying out the oppressive conduct 

described in this Petition. 

Part 4: MATERIAL TO BE RELIED ON 

1. Affidavit #1 of Daniel Matthews, made June 1, 2023 

2. Such further and other material as counsel may advise and the Court may allow. 

The Petitioners estimate that the hearing of the Petition will take 5 days. 

Dated at the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia, this 1st day of June, 2023. 
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Lawson Lundell LLP 
Solicitors for the Petitioners, 599315 B.C. 
Ltd. and Daniel Matthews 

This Petition to the Court is filed by Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C. and Gordon Brandt, of the law firm 
of Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of business and address for delivery is 1600 - 925 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. 

To be completed by the court only: 

Order made 

Din the terms requested in paragraphs_ 
of Part 1 of this Petition 

Owith the following variations and additional terms: 

Date: 
Signature of 0Judge 0Master 
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No. S234048 
Vancouver Registry 

PETITIONERS 

RESPONDENTS 

Filed by: Tian Kusumoto and Sanovest Holdings Ltd. (the "Petition Respondents") 

THIS IS A RESPONSE TO the Petition filed 0l/JUN/2023. 

Part 1: ORDERS CONSENTED TO 

The Petition Respondents consent to the granting of the Orders set out in the following paragraphs 
of Part 1 of the Petition: paragraph 3. 

Part 2: ORDERS OPPOSED 

The Petition Respondents oppose the granting of the Orders set out in paragraphs 1-2 and 4-5 of 
Part 1 of the Petition. 

Part 3: ORDERS ON WHICH NO POSITION IS TAKEN 

The Petition Respondents take no position on the granting of the Orders set out in NONE of the 
paragraphs of Part 1 of the Petition. 
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Part 4: FACTUAL BASIS 

Introduction 

I. The Petition Respondents deny each and every allegation of fact contained in the Petition 

unless expressly admitted herein. 

The Parties 

2. The Petitioner 599315 B.C. Ltd. ("599") is a corporation incorporated under the laws of 

British Columbia. 

3. The Petitioner Daniel Matthews ("Matthews") is a businessperson who resides at 3480 

Ripon Road, Victoria, British Columbia. 

4. Matthews controls 599. 

5. The Respondent Ecoasis Bear Mountain Developments Ltd. ("EBMD") is a company 

incorporated under the laws of British Columbia with a registered and records office 

located at 2800 - 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

6. The Respondent Ecoasis Developments LLP (the "Partnership") is a limited liability 

partnership created in accordance with Part 6 of the Partnership Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 348 

(the "Act"). 

7. The Respondent Ecoasis Resort and Golf LLP (the "Resort Partnership") is also a limited 

liability partnership created in accordance with Part 6 of the Act. 

8. The Respondent Tian Kusumoto ("Tian Kusumoto") is a businessperson with an address 

for service care of2900 - 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

9. The Respondent Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest") is a corporation incorporated under 

the laws of Canada with an address for service care of 2900 - 550 Burrard Street, 

Vancouver, British Columbia. 

10. At all material times, Sanovest and 599 each owned 50% of the issued and outstanding 

common shares ofEBMD. 
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11. At all material times, Matthews was the president and chief executive of EBMD and a 

director of EBMD. 

12. Between September, 2013 and June, 2021, Tom Kusumoto was a director of EBMD. In 

June 2021, Tom Kusumoto ceased to be a director of EBMD and thereafter Tian Kusumoto 

has served as a director of EBMD. 

The Partnership 

13. In or about September, 2013, EBMD, Sanovest and 599 (the "Partners") fonned the 

Partnership. 

14. The Partners' respective interests in the Partnership are as follows: Sanovest (49.75%), 

599 (49.75%) and EBMD (0.5%). 

I 5. The Partnership is governed by a written limited liability partnership agreement between 

EBMD, Sanovest and 599 made as of September 24, 2013 (the "Partnership Agreement"). 

16. The Partnership was created to acquire, pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement dated 

August 29, 2013 {the "Purchase Agreement") between Bear Mountain Land Holdings Ltd., 

as vendor, and an affiliate of EBMD, Ecoasis Innovative Communities Ltd. ("EiC"), as 

purchaser, certain assets comprising the Bear Mountain Resort located near Victoria, 

British Columbia (the "Bear Mountain Assets"). 

17. The Bear Mountain Assets included, without limitation, two golf courses known as the 

"Mountain Course" and the "Valley Course" (the "Golf Courses"), together with associated 

practice facilities; a 156 room hotel located at Bear Mountain and operated under the name 

"Westin Bear Mountain Golf Resort and Spa" (the "Hotel"); and extensive real property 

holdings. 

I 8. The business of the Partnership is set out in s. 2.3 of the Partnership Agreement, and 

expressly included the development, construction and investment in the real property that 

formed part of the Bear Mountain Assets (referred to as "the Property"): 

329480.00001/3001:Ml 13.11 



075 

-4· 

:Z...1 Nature of llu.,iness 

·n,c husinc~!'I uf the Partncr.ihip !-ihal1 be to: 

(a) :icquirc and maintain a limit<~l liability pnrtncrship interest in Ecoa.,is Rcson and 
Golf LLP which shall own and operalc the Golf Cour-.cs ;md the I Intel; 

(h) acquire. improve. develop, co11.~lnu .. 'l. tinancc. sell. operate. mailunin und manage 
the l'ropcny and any activity or undcnaking related thereto, to dircclly or 
indircclly acquire, hold, develop, <'Onstru<1, invest in, murkel and sell real 
propcny and other os.<cts and undertake other activities or husinc<."<Cs which arc 
ancillary or incidcnllll to or in funhcrance of any asJ>eCt of the opcralion or 
development oflhe Propeny, or 

(c) the tliret..1 or indirct1 acquisition. holding. f..-Ollstruction. development. investment 
in, mnrketing and sale of real pm1,cny or other assets und to carry on any other 
business appmved by Extraordinary Resolution of !he Panners. 

TI,e Pannership shall have the power 10 do any and every act and thing necessary, proper, 
convenient or complementary to the acs'Omplisluucnt of its business and purposes including. 
wi1hou1 limitation. acquiring. owning or di!\posing of mortgag~, 1~·utncrs.hip in1crcsts1 shares or 
other sccurit ies. 

19. Under the terms of the Partnership Agreement, the Partners agreed that EBMD would serve 

as the managing partner of the Partnership (the "Managing Partner"). As Managing 

Partner, EBMD had and has the exclusive authority to manage and operate the 

Partnership's business, and to bind the Partnership and Partners in respect of the business 

and assets of the Partnership. The Partnership acts only through EBMD and the 

Partnership's property is held by EBMD for the benefit of the Partners, in accordance with 

the Partnership Agreement and the Act. 

20. Article 13 of the Partnership Agreement provided, in material part: 

13.2 Books of Account 

The Managing Partner will keep and maintain or cause to be 
kept and maintained proper, complete and accurate books of account 
and records of the Business of the Partnership and will enter and 
record or cause to be entered and recorded therein fully and 
accurately all transactions and other matters related to the business 
and affairs of the Partnership. 

13.3 Business Plan and Budgets 

The Managing Partner shall prepare and provide to the 
Partners for approval: 

329480.000011300136113. I l 
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(a) an overall business plan for the development of the Lands 
incorporating, as appropriate, any budgets, plans and projections 
furnished by any consultant retained by the Partnership together 
with annual updates thereto; 

(b) a development budget containing a detailed estimate of all costs and 
expenses for the design, financing, construction and marketing of 
the proposed development together with annual updates thereto; 

( c) an annual operating budget for the Business which shall be provided 
to Partners prior to the commencement of each Fiscal Year. 

13,4 Reporting by Management Committee 

The Managing Partner shall, no less than on a quarterly 
basis and within 30 days of the end of each fiscal quarter, provide 

the Partners with a report on the Business which report shall 
include management prepared financial statements for the 

Partnership for the most recent fiscal quarter, a report on the 
Actual Operating Expenses incurred during the fiscal quarter as 

compared to budget and a summary report regarding the status of 
the development of the Partnership Property in relation to the 

approved business plan. 
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21. Sano vest and Tian Kusumoto plead and rely on the terms of the Partnership Agreement in 

their entirety. 

22. The Resort Partnership is an asset of the Partnership and is governed by a written limited 

liability partnership agreement between the Partnership and EBMD, made as of September 

24, 2013 (the "Resort Partnership Agreement"). All of the units in the Resort Partnership 

are held by the Partnership, except for one unit, which is held by EBMD. EBMD is the 

managing partner of the Resort Partnership, with powers and obligations similar to those it 

has to the Partnership under the Partnership Agreement. 

The Sanovest Loan Agreement 

23. By an agreement made as of October 8, 2013, and as subsequently amended, Sanovest, as 

"Lender", agreed to loan the Partnership, as "Borrower", up to $35 million, which was later 

increased to $70 million (the "Sanovest Loan"), secured by a first mortgage on certain of 

the Bear Mountain Assets and other security (collectively, the "Security"), on tenns and 
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conditions set out in the agreement, including as to the payment of interest ( originally and 

as amended, the "Sanovest Loan Agreement"). 

24. Matthews personally approved and executed the Sanovest Loan Agreement on behalf of 

EBMD and the Partnership. 

25. The Partnership agreed that the purpose of the Sanovest Loan, and its permitted uses, were 

to facilitate the purchase of the Bear Mountain Assets; the construction and development 

of the real property that formed part of the Bear Mountain Assets; to fund the operations 

of the Golf Courses and Hotel; and such other uses as approved by Sanovest. 

26. The Sanovest Loan Agreement provided that the Sanovest Loan would be advanced in 

multiple advances, with advances funded on the satisfaction or waiver by Sanovest of 

conditions precedent set out in s. 13 of the Sano vest Loan Agreement. 

27. The Sano vest Loan Agreement provided, inter alia, that: 

(a) The Borrower would not use the proceeds of the Sanovest Loan for non-permitted 

purposes; 

(b) The Borrower represented and warranted that there were no actions or proceedings 

which challenge the validity of the Sanovest Loan Agreement and Security, or 

which would materially adversely affect the ability of the Borrower or EBMD to 

perform their obligations under the Sanovest Loan Agreement and Security, and 

that this was true as a condition of receiving advances under the Sanovest Loan; 

( c) The Borrower would disclose all information relating to its operations and financial 

condition and provide financial information required under the Sanovest Loan 

Agreement, including, without limitation, monthly detailed management prepared 

financial statements and audited annual financial statements; 

( d) The Borrower would not sell properties, all of which were subject to the Security, 

without the Lender's consent or at less than fair market value, and would pay the 

proceeds of the sale of properties to the Lender to be applied to the outstanding 

balance due under the Sanovest Loan; and 
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(e) Except in accordance with a budget previously approved by the Lender, the 

Borrower would not make payments other than in the normal course of business, 

or pay salaries or other remuneration or make loans to any shareholder, partner, 

director or officer of the Borrower, or to corporations related to such persons. 

28. Under the Sanovest Loan Agreement, the Partnership granted Sanovest certain rights as a 

preferred lender. With the exception of operating lines of credit maintained in the ordinary 

course of business, the Partnership agreed not to borrow money from any person other than 

Sanovest, the Partners of the Partnership or trade creditors in the ordinary course of 

business. The Partnership also covenanted and agreed not to enter into any further 

financing of the real property that formed part of the Bear Mountain Assets and not to 

further mortgage or encumber that property without the prior written approval of Sanovest 

which approval Sanovest could withhold in its sole discretion. Sanovest was granted other 

approval and consent rights relating to charges over the Bear Mountain Assets. 

29. Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto plead and rely on the terms of the Sanovest Loan Agreement 

and Security in their entirety. 

30. Sanovest has made and, at the Partnership's request, has continued to make advances under 

the Sanovest Loan Agreement, including as recently as approximately June 27, 2023. In 

making the advances, and in agreeing to amendments to the Sanovest Loan Agreement, 

Sanovest was relying on the terms of the Sanovest Loan Agreement, including its 

entitlement to interest thereunder. 

The parties' reasonable expectations 

31. In response to Part 2, paragraphs 16-17, 31 and Part 3, paragraph 116 of the Petition, 

Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that 599 and Sanovest agreed, directly or through 

Matthews and Tom Kusumoto, on the "Bear Mountain Business Terms", or that the Bear 

Mountain Business Terms formed the basis for the parties', or 599's reasonable 

expectations, as alleged or at all. 

32. Sanovest and 599 had the following reasonable expectations: 
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(a) As equal partners in the Partnership and equal shareholders of EBMD, Sanovest 

and 599 would, through the board of directors of EBMD, exercise shared 

management control of EBMD, and through EBMD, of the affairs of the 

Partnership and the Resort Partnership; 

(b) Sanovest and 599 would be equal, and would have equal rights, except as provided 

for under the Sanovest Loan Agreement and the Partnership Agreement; 

( c) Except as provided for in the Partnership Agreement or Sanovest Loan Agreement, 

there would be no change of control of EBMD or of the Partnership without the 

consent of Sanovest and 599; 

(d) EBMD would comply with its statutory fiduciary duties to the Partnership and the 

Resort Partnership, and manage the Partnership and the Resort Partnership in a 

manner that complied with its obligations under the Partnership Agreement, the 

Resort Partnership Agreement, the Sanovest Loan Agreement and the Security; 

(e) The directors and officers of EBMD would comply with their statutory, fiduciary 

and other duties to the corporation, and would cause EBMD to operate in a manner 

that complied with the Business Corporations Act, SBC 2002, c 57, EBMD's 

articles and its obligations under the Partnership Agreement, the Resort Partnership 

Agreement, the Sanovest Loan Agreement and the Security; 

(f) In particular: 

(i) The directors would not cause EBMD to divert assets of the Partnership for 

their own personal benefit or in a manner that was contrary to EBMD and 

the Partnership's best interests or its obligations, including under the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement and the Security; 

(ii) The directors and officers of EBMD would cause EBMD to comply with 

the budgeting, business planning and reporting requirements of the 

Partnership Agreement and the Resort Partnership Agreement. These 

requirements included the preparation of an overall business plan for the 
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development of the lands, to be provided to the Partners for approval and 

updated annually; a development budget containing a detailed estimate of 

all costs and expenses for the proposed development of the Bear Mountain 

Assets, also to be updated annually; and an annual operating budget, to be 

provided to the partners prior to the commencement of each fiscal year of 

the Partnership and the Resort Partnership; 

(iii} The directors and officers of EBMD would cause EBMD to diligently 

complete and deliver monthly financial statements and annual financial 

statements that fairly and accurately disclosed, in all material respects, the 

financial position of EBMD, the Partnership, and the Resort Partnership; 

(iv) The directors and officers of EBMD would cause EBMD to obtain, in a 

timely manner, an audit opinion on the annual financial statements of 

EBMD, the Partnership, and the Resort Partnership, except where the 

statutory and contractual obligations to appoint an auditor and obtain an 

audit opinion on the financial statements were expressly waived in writing 

by the shareholders of EBMD and Sanovest in its capacity as lender under 

the Sanovest Loan Agreement; and 

(v) EBMD would prepare, revise where appropriate, and execute on a written 

business plan, and that in managing or supervising the management of 

EBMD, its directors would consider and reasonably adapt EBMD, the 

Partnership, and the Resort Partnership's business policy and strategy in a 

manner appropriate to the prevailing circumstances, acting in the long term 

best interests of EBMD, the Partnership, and the Resort Partnership. 

33. In specific response to Part 3, paragraph I 16 of the Petition: 

(a) 599 and Sanovest did not have a reasonable expectation that the Bear Mountain 

Assets would be managed for only the purposes of realising on bulk site and lot 

sales opportunities. There was no agreement, understanding or business plan to 

this effect, and in fact EBMD failed to prepare, submit or secure approval of the 

detailed business plan required by the Partnership Agreement, the Resort 
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Partnership Agreement, and the Sanovest Loan Agreement. The Partnership's 

business expressly included development, construction, marketing and sale of its 

real estate assets. The Partnership Agreement specifically required a business plan 

for the development of the real estate portion of the Bear Mountain Assets and a 

development budget. As described further below, contrary to the allegations in the 

Petition, in practice the Partnership did engage in development activities for its own 

account; 

(b) Matthews' powers were subject to the reasonable expectations set out above. They 

were also subject to EBMD's articles, which provided that Matthews' power as 

officer was subject to the ultimate control, direction and supervision of EBMD's 

board of directors; 

(c) Sanovest's "main responsibility" was not to provide financing, as alleged, and 

further, contrary to the allegation in Part 2, paragraph 71 of the Petition, under the 

terms of the Sanovest Loan Agreement, Sanovest was not required to advance funds 

to the Partnership as and when requested, but rather, advances under the Sanovest 

Loan Agreement were always subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent 

to advances and the Partnership's satisfaction of the other terms and conditions of 

the Sanovest Loan Agreement and the Security. In particular, under the terms of 

the Sanovest Loan Agreement, Sanovest was and is entitled, "in its sole and 

absolute discretion" to be satisfied as to the financial condition of, and further, that 

there had not been any material adverse change in risk in respect of, the Partnership, 

the Guarantors and the Property (all as defined), before making an advance; 

(d) Pursuant to the terms of the Sanovest Loan Agreement, Sanovest had preferred 

status as Lender to the Partnership. Sanovest denies that it sought to improperly 

entrench its position as Lender or that it abused that position, as alleged or at all; 

and 

(e) Matthews, and in respect of certain of his duties, Tom Kusumoto, did not act 

honestly and in good faith in the best interests of EBMD, the Partnership and the 

Resort Partnership. Contrary to the allegations in the Petition, Tian Kusumoto has 
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acted honestly and in good faith in the best interests of EBMD, the Partnership and 

the Resort Partnership. 

The conduct of the affairs of the Partnership prior to 2021 

34. In approximately October 2013, the Partnership completed the acquisition of the Bear 

Mountain Assets from Bear Mountain Land Holdings Ltd., which was controlled by HSBC 

Bank Canada. 

35. In response to Part 2, paragraph 31, Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that Matthews and 

Tom Kusumoto agreed that the Bear Mountain Business Terms (as defined in the Petition) 

became EBMD's approved business plan for all purposes, including to satisfy the 

requirements of the Partnership Agreement and Resort Partnership Agreement, as alleged 

or at all. Rather, Matthews, for his own purposes, and contrary to his duties and despite 

demands from Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto, failed, blocked and then refused to cause or 

permit EBMD to prepare an overall business plan for the development of the real estate 

component of the Bear Mountain Assets. 

36. Contrary to the allegations set out in the Petition, including that the Bear Mountain 

Business Terms formed the basis for the Partnership and EBMD's ongoing business plan 

and that Sanovest and 599's reasonable expectations were that the properties that 

comprised the Bear Mountain Assets would only be sold through lot sales or in bulk, 

between 2016 and 2020, the Partnership pursued a mix of lot sales, development for its 

own account and the exploration of a bulk sale of the Bear Mountain Assets. 

37. In particular, in September, 2016, the Partnership partnered with a developer and formed a 

further limited liability partnership, Bear Mountain Legacy Homes LLP, for the purposes 

of developing a 33 townhome development project at Bear Mountain known as "Cypress 

Gates" (the "Cypress Gates Project"). As part of promoting the Cypress Gates Project, 

EBMD constructed a showroom in the Hotel and expanded its sales team to market and 

sell the Cypress Gate Project townhomes. 

38. At around the same time, EBMD and the Partnership examined a further vertical 

development opportunity at Bear Mountain: the completion of a project called Highlander 
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that had been commenced but then aborted by the prior owners of the Bear Mountain 

Assets. After considering the project further, EBMD and the Partnership decided not to 

pursue its development; however, the Partnership eventually partnered with a third party 

to develop and construct the project, which ultimately became what is now known as "One 

Bear Mountain". This is described below. 

39. Beginning in approximately 2017, EBMD and the Partnership solicited expressions of 

interest for the purchase of all or substantially all of the Bear Mountain Assets. 

40. In a December 31, 2017 communication describing EBMD's "2018 action plan", Matthews 

described the Partnership's "paramount" themes for the coming year as including 

establishing the Partnership's position as a "masterplan developer" and creating a single 

family home building division for the Partnership to engage in development for its own 

account. Matthews described a plan for EBMD and the Partnership to create or buy a single 

family home building company to serve as a general contractor so that the Partnership 

would eventually be developing between 60% and 70% of the homes developed at Bear 

Mountain for its own account, with the balance being delivered by preferred third party 

builders through lots sold to them by the Partnership. 

41. In 2019, the Partnership entered into an arrangement with a third party to develop and 

construct One Bear Mountain, a high-rise condominium project at Bear Mountain. 

42. In approximately 2019, EBMD entered into a conditional agreement with a group of 

prospective purchasers for the sale of a large portion of the Bear Mountain Assets (the 

"Conditional Agreement"). Between 2019 and early 2021, the prospective purchasers 

conducted due diligence and EBMD, on behalf of the Partnership, further negotiated the 

terms of sale. In early 2021, negotiations ended between the parties without reaching a 

binding purchase agreement. 

The appointment of Tian Kusumoto as a director of EBMD, the discovery of the 
Self-Interested Transactions and Matthews' blockade of required information. 

43. On or about June 1, 2021 , Tom Kusumoto resigned as director of EBMD and related 

companies. Tian Kusumoto was appointed as a director of EBMD. 
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44. Over the course of the period spanning the months preceding his appointment as a director 

of EBMD, and in the period thereafter, Tian Kusumoto gradually learned facts indicating 

that since January 2016, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto, in breach of their fiduciary duties 

and while having disclosable interests in the transactions for which no proper shareholder 

approval was sought or obtained, caused EBMD and a related company owned by the 

Partnership, BM Mountain Golf Course Ltd. ("BMGC") to sell, assign or transfer valuable 

assets to Bear Mountain Adventures Ltd. ("BMA"), a corporation that Matthews and Tom 

Kusumoto controlled, or to Matthews personally, for no or inadequate consideration 

(collectively, the "Self-Interested Transactions"). 

45. The Self-Interested Transactions amounted to the improper diversion of over $14 million 

from the Partnership to Matthews and Tom Kusumoto, directly or indirectly. 

46. The Self-Interested Transactions were conceived of, approved by and implemented by 

Matthews and Tom Kusumoto in their capacity as directors of EBMD and, in the case of a 

parcel of property that previously formed part of the Mountain Golf Course and which was 

intended to be used as part of the construction of a passenger gondola (the "Gondola 

Property"), EBMD and BMGC, and in breach of their fiduciary duties to act honestly, in 

good faith and in the best interests of EBMD and BMGC. 

47. The details of the Self-Interested Transactions are set out in a Notice of Civil Claim 

commenced by Sanovest in the Supreme Court of British Columbia on May 13, 2022 under 

Vancouver Registry Action No. S-223937 (the "Sanovest Action"). 

48. On being appointed a director and thereafter, Tian Kusumoto sought, without success, to 

obtain full disclosure related to EBMD and the Partnership's books and records, financial 

position, financial records and operations. Matthews repeatedly sought to thwart Tian 

Kusumoto's efforts to obtain this information and related documents, going so far as to 

instruct EBMD's employees not to provide information to him or to limit the information 

or documents to which Tian Kusumoto could obtain and review. 

49. On April 11, 2022, Sanovest made formal demand that EBMD comply with its reporting 

obligations under the Partnership Agreement and Sanovest Loan Agreement. 
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50. On Matthews' instructions, EBMD has, despite Sanovest's demand, refused to comply 

with its reporting obligations under the Partnership Agreement and Sanovest Loan 

Agreement. 

51. EBMD and Matthews' blocking of financial and operational information is also the subject 

of the Sanovest Action. 

52. Despite the lengthy period that has elapsed since the Partnership was formed and the Bear 

Mountain Assets were acquired, by reason of the conduct of Matthews, and contrary to the 

requirements of the Partnership Agreement, the Resort Partnership Agreement, and 

Sanovest's reasonable expectations, EBMD has never: 

(a) Prepared or provided to Sanovest for approval, an overall business plan for the 

development of the real property comprising the Bear Mountain Assets; 

(b) Provided an a'lOual update of the business plan; 

(c) Prepared or provided to Sanovest for approval a development budget containing a 

detailed estimate of all costs and expenses for the proposed development of the 

Bear Mountain Assets. EBMD has occasionally prepared development budgets in 

respect of specific projects; 

(d) Provided an annual update of the development budget; 

(e) Prepared or provided to Sanovest for approval, an annual operating budget; and 

(f) Prepared or provided to Sanovest annual, or where not waived, audited, financial 

statements ofEBMD, the Partnership, and the Resort Partnership. 

53. Further, there was also no budget approved by Sanovest in its capacity as Lender that 

permitted the payment of remuneration to Matthews or to Matthews' spouse, Michelle 

Stannard ("Stannard"), or corporations they controlled, as was required by the terms of the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

54. Matthews has in practice asserted and exercised overall management control ofEBMD and 

is responsible for these breaches of the Partnership Agreement, the Resort Partnership 
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Agreement, the Sanovest Loan Agreement and ofEBMD's statutory obligations respecting 

audited financial statements. 

The EBMD directors' policy disagreements 

55. In the period following the failure of the Conditional Agreement, the directors of EBMD 

also fell into disagreements over the appropriate business policy and strategy for EBMD 

and the Partnership. Matthews wished to pursue the sales of bulk sites and single family 

lots. Tian Kusumoto sought to examine the desirability of a broader range of options, 

including pursuing the construction, development, marketing and sale of the remaining 

portions of the Bear Mountain real property for the Partnership's own account, either alone 

or with partners, or exploring the sale of all or substantially all of the Bear Mountain 

Assets. Matthews resisted exploring these opportunities. 

Sanovest did not prevent the refinancing of the Sanovest Loan, or abuse its position 
as Lender 

56. In answer to the allegations set out in the Petition, Sanovest did not prevent the refinancing 

of the Sanovest Loan, or abuse its position as Lender, as alleged or at all. 

57. Contrary to the allegations set out in the Petition, in August 2021, Tian Kusumoto advised 

Matthews that he was supportive of the Partnership obtaining external financing if the 

terms and conditions fit within the parameters of the Partnership's business plan and 

budget, which Tian Kusumoto was also seeking at the time. 

58. In August 2021 , Tian Kusumoto also advised Matthews that he was not supportive of 

external financing which was not supported by a proper financial model but which was 

being pursued due to liquidity concerns caused by Matthews' involvement in the Self­

Interested Transactions and the resulting diversion of millions of dollars from the 

Partnership. 

59. Thereafter, on August 19, 2021, Matthews called a meeting of EBMD's 

directors. Matthews proposed a "refinancing resolution" pursuant to which the board 

would on a priority basis seek third party debt financing to repay and replace the Sanovest 

Loan. Tian Kusumoto did not approve the refinancing resolution, but he did agree in 
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principle that the board should investigate the refinancing of the Sanovest Loan once the 

Partnership had audited financial statements and the board had approved a business plan 

that encompassed the servicing and repayment of the existing and new debt financing. 

60. A month later, on September 14, 2021, Matthews responded to Tian Kusumoto's comments 

in his correspondence and at the August 2021 board meeting, saying: 

You have noted in your email your reluctance to advance projects or 
entertain external financing given the lack of 2019/2020 financials 
statements and need to detennine the financial state of Ecoasis before 
proceeding. We are aligned in this regard and our team has made great 
efforts to finalize these with the assistance of Kevin Isomura over the past 
two years but have continued to face obstacles. 

61. In the same communication, Matthews advised that "a refinancing ofSanovest would only 

be considered on a non-recourse basis". 

62. Despite these communications, on October 31 , 2021 , counsel for Matthews wrote to 

counsel for Sanovest, alleging that Tian Kusumoto refused to authorize EBMD to seek 

third party financing and had caused Sanovest to withhold additional advances under the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement. This allegation was inaccurate. 

63. Thereafter, instead of replacing the Sanovest Loan, by an agreement dated January 26, 

2022, Matthews, on behalf of EBMD and the Partnership, entered into an extension and 

modification of the Sanovest Loan Agreement (the "Second Modification Agreement"). 

64. On March 25, 2022, Matthews and Tian Kusumoto met. When Matthews asked if Tian 

Kusumoto and Sanovest would accept the repayment of the Sanovest Loan, Tian Kusumoto 

advised that Sanovest was prepared to consider this, but that the Partnership needed a 

process to manage its external debt, whether provided by Sanovest or another external 

lender, properly, with a proper business plan to service and repay the debt. Tian Kusumoto 

emphasized that if the Sanovest Loan was replaced by alternative financing, Sanovest did 

not want to be called on to fund the servicing of that debt. 

65. Both before and after the Second Modification Agreement, EBMD, at Matthews' direction 

or with his concurrence, sought and accepted advances of the Sanovest Loan from 
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Sanovest. Despite Matthews' misconduct and the Partnership's breaches of the Sanovest 

Loan Agreement and Sanovest's reasonable expectations, Sanovest has continued to make 

advances under the Sano vest Loan Agreement, including as recently as June 27, 2023. 

66. Despite attempts to do so, the details of which he has not disclosed to EBMD's board of 

directors, Matthews has attempted and failed to secure third party financing to replace the 

Sanovest Loan. 

67. Matthews and EBMD have never presented a detailed, concrete third party financing 

proposal to Tian Kusumoto and Sanovest to replace the Sanovest Loan. 
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Part 5: LEGAL BASIS 

Introduction 

I. In answer to the Petition as a whole, 599 and Matthews' claims are not properly the subject 

of a statutory action for oppression. They seek relief for alleged harm suffered not in their 

capacity as shareholders ofEBMD, but in other capacities, including in 599's capacity as 

a Partner in the Partnership. Their complaints are advanced for tactical purposes and are 

barred by the doctrine of !aches. The remedies sought are contrary to their or EBMD's 

agreements, exceed their reasonable expectations, impennissibly ask the court to re-write 

commercial agreements and seek compensation in the absence of any loss. Their requests 

to remove Tian Kusumoto as a director, change the composition of EBMD's board of 

directors or change control ofEBMD, are contrary to the parties' reasonable expectations, 

are an attempt to insulate Matthews from the consequences of his breaches of fiduciary 

duty, collaterally seek to change the control of the management of the Partnership for 

tactical purposes, and would result in an event of default under the Sanovest Loan 

Agreement. 

The principles applicable to a claim for oppression 

2. A claim for oppression is subject to well-established principles. In addition to the general 

principles summarised in the Petition, Part 3, paragraphs 112-115 and 120, the following 

principles apply. 

3. Oppression is a statutory remedy available to shareholders who have suffered harm, in their 

capacity as shareholders, and not in some other capacity. 

4. The focus of the oppression remedy is on the reasonable expectations of shareholders. 

5. To be entitled to relief under the oppression remedy a claimant must show that it held a 

reasonable expectation with respect to the conduct of the affairs of the company, and that 

the reasonable expectation was disappointed by conduct that was oppressive or unfairly 

prejudicial. The reasonable expectation must be assessed on an objective and contextual 

basis. 
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6. To make out a claim for oppression, the claimant must establish wrongful conduct, 

causation and compensable injury. 

7. The oppression action was intended to permit courts to remedy oppressive or unfairly 

prejudicial conduct not generally susceptible to correction by other forms of redress. A 

claim for oppression is not a substitute for the normal legal and equitable remedies that are 

available to aggrieved parties. 

8. The statutory oppression remedy does not ignore the legal principles governing corporate 

structure, the obligations of individuals occupying roles within corporations, or other 

applicable legal principles. The oppression remedy supplements corporate law principles. 

It is not an imperial remedy that ignores or renders these principles obsolete. 

9. The oppression remedy is not a means by which commercial agreements negotiated at arms 

length by sophisticated parties can be rewritten to accord with a court's after-the-fact 

assessment of what is "just and equitable" in the circumstances. The reasonable 

expectations of parties to commercial agreements negotiated at arms length must be those 

reasonable expectations that find expression in the agreements negotiated by the parties. 

10. The court's discretion to grant a remedy for oppression is guided by the following 

principles. The oppression remedy request must in itself be a fair way of dealing with the 

situation. Courts apply the principle of minimal interference, which requires that any order 

made should go no further than necessary to rectify the oppression. A remedy for 

oppression may serve only to vindicate the reasonable expectations of security holders, 

creditors, directors or officers in their capacity as corporate stakeholders, must be 

responsive to the complainant's reasonable expectations, and may not serve a tactical 

purpose. In exercising its remedial discretion, the court should consider the general 

corporate law context. 

The Petition does not disclose grounds to remove Tian Kusumoto as a director of EBMD 

11. The Petition does not disclose grounds to remove Tian Kusumoto as a director ofEBMD. 

329480.00001/3001l61 ll.l I 



091 

-20-

12. An order removing or appointing directors is an extraordinary remedy. Because the board 

of directors is elected by the shareholders and controls the corporation's policy-making 

and management, an order removing or appointing directors is recognised as an extreme 

form of judicial intervention in the affairs ofa company and a measure oflast resort. Where 

such orders are made, they often involve self-dealing, misappropriation of corporate assets, 

deceit or other obvious, persistent and serious breaches of duty or oppressive conduct. 

13. Tian Kusumoto has not engaged in misconduct, serious or otherwise, to warrant making an 

exceptional order of last resort. Rather, Tian Kusumoto has sought to exercise his powers 

consistent with what he reasonably believed and believes is in the best interests of EBMD 

and the Partnership as a whole; to hold Matthews and Tom Kusumoto properly accountable 

for their breaches of duty; and to require Matthews to exercise his management powers in 

a manner consistent with his duties and to cause EBMD to perform its obligations under 

law and under its agreements, including the Partnership Agreement, the Resort Partnership 

Agreement, and the Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

14. Further, this request for reliefis contrary to Sanovest's reasonable expectation that, as equal 

partners and equal shareholders of EBMD, Sanovest and 599 would exercise shared 

management control of EBMD, and through EBMD, of the affairs of the Partnership and 

the Resort Partnership. 

15. Contrary to the allegations in the Petition: 

(a) 599 and Sanovest did not have a reasonable expectation that the Bear Mountain 

Assets would be managed for only the purposes of realising on bulk site and lot 

sales opportunities. There was no agreement, understanding or business plan to 

this effect. The Partnership's business expressly included development, 

construction, marketing and sale of its real estate assets. The Partnership 

Agreement specifically required a business plan for the development of the real 

estate portion of the Bear Mountain Assets and a development budget. And in 

practice, the Partnership did engage in development activities for its own account; 

(b) Sanovest's "main responsibility" was not simply to provide financing for the "Bear 

Mountain Project", as alleged or at all, and rather Sanovest was an equal Partner 
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with equal rights and expectations to shared management decision making with 

599;and 

{ c) 599 and Matthews had no expectation in fact, and no reasonable expectation, of 

directing EBMD's overall operations - and through EBMD, control of the 

Partnership and the Resort Partnership -- as alleged or at all. 

16. This request for relief is tactical. It is sought by 599 not qua shareholder, but qua Partner, 

and in an attempt to change the control of the Partnership through changing control of 

EBMD. It would leave Matthews, who has engaged in self-dealing, misappropriation of 

corporate assets and other obvious, persistent and serious breaches of duty, in sole control 

of EBMD and, through EBMD, the Partnership and the Resort Partnership. The policy 

disagreements over the direction and strategy of the Partnership are not a basis to remove 

Tian Kusumoto as a director, and doing so would involve the court in taking sides in that 

disagreement and in matters that fundamentally belong to the business judgment of the 

directors and the Partners of the Partnership. 

17. An order removing Tian Kusumoto as a director of EBMD is not just and equitable because 

it would result in a change of control of EBMD, which is an event of default under the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

18. Further or in the alternative, this relief is barred by !aches. 

It would not be iust and equitable to appoint a third director to EBMD's board of directors 

19. For similar reasons to those set out above, it would not be just and equitable to appoint a 

third director to EBMD's board of directors. Such an order would be contrary to the 

parties' reasonable expectation that Sanovest and 599 would exercise shared management 

control of EBMD, and through EBMD, of the affairs of the Partnership and the Resort 

Partnership. It would result in a change of control of EBMD, which is an event of default 

under the Sanovest Loan Agreement. It would be impractical, costly and would not resolve 

the parties' fundamental disagreements over business policy. The Petitioners' materials 

contain no evidence of a suitable, truly independent director who would be willing to accept 

appointment in the present circumstances. 
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It would not be just and equitable to order a sale of Sanovest's shares in EBMD to 599. or 
order a judicial shotgun sale process 

20. It would not be just and equitable to order a sale of Sanovest's shares in EBMD to 599, or 

order a judicial shotgun sale process. 

21. This request for relief is tactical. It is sought by 599 not qua shareholder, but qua Partner, 

and in an attempt to change the control of the Partnership and the Resort Partnership 

through changing control of EBMD. As a matter of business realities, the only effect of 

such an order would be to give 599 control of management of the Partnership and the Resort 

Partnership. 

22. Such an order would be contrary to the principle of minimal interference, and would be 

contrary to the parties' reasonable expectations that Sanovest and 599 would exercise 

shared management control ofEBMD, and through EBMD, of the affairs of the Partnership 

and the Resort Partnership. 

23. Orders for the sale ofSanovest's shares in EBMD, or a judicial shotgun order, would result 

in a change of control of EBMD, which is an event of default under the Sanovest Loan 

Agreement. 

24. Further or in the alternative, this relief is barred by !aches. 

An order "authorising" EBMD to obtain third party financing to replace the Sanovest 
Loan is unnecessary and premature 

25. An order authorising EBMD to obtain third party financing to replace the Sanovest Loan 

is unnecessary and premature. 

26. Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that they have prevented EBMD from obtaining 

replacement financing for the Sanovest Loan in an oppressive or unfairly prejudicial 

manner, as alleged or at all. No refinancing proposal at all -- and certainly not one that is 

definite and clearly more beneficial to EBMD than the Sanovest Loan Agreement •- to 

replace the Sanovest Loan is offered by the Petitioners here, nor has one ever been 

presented by Matthews or EBMD to Sanovest or Tian Kusumoto. 
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27. Further, 599 could have no reasonable expectations in this regard in light of the tenns of 

the Sanovest Loan Agreement. The Sanovest Loan Agreement granted Sanovest preferred 

rights to finance the business of the Partnership, and restricted EBMD from obtaining 

further financing in connection with the Partnership's real property without Sanovest's 

prior written approval, which Sanovest could withhold in its sole discretion. The Sanovest 

Loan Agreement was a commercial agreement, negotiated at ann's length, between 

sophisticated commercial parties. 

28. Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto are not opposed to considering a proposal from EBMD to 

refinance and replace the Sanovest Loan. An order "authorising" EMBD to seek such 

financing is accordingly unnecessary. An order, as sought in the Petition, that EBMD 

"obtain" such financing is not an order that could be made, since what would be required 

for EBMD and Sanovest to comply is uncertain, and the court could not make a proper 

order, ex ante, requiring EBMD to accept, or Sanovest consent to, replacement financing 

on unknown tenns. Such an order would not be in the best interests of EBMD and would 

be unfair to Sanovest. 

29. The question of whether suitable replacement financing is available and whether the terms 

are in the best interests of EBMD and the Partnership is a matter of business judgment for 

the directors on presentation of an actual offer of financing, and for Sanovest pursuant its 

business judgment and the tenns of the Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

599 is not entitled to a compensation order for interest received by Sanovest under the 
Sanovest Loan Agreement 

30. 599 is not entitled to a compensation order for interest received by Sanovest under the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

31. Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that they acted to prevent sales from occurring or 

distributions from flowing to 599, as alleged or at all; that Sanovest took advantage of its 

position as lender under the Sanovest Loan Agreement; or that Sanovest deprived EBMD 

or the Partnership of operating capital, as alleged or at all. 
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32. Sanovest is and has been entitled to interest on the amounts outstanding on the Sanovest 

Loan from time to time, pursuant to the express terms of the Sanovest Loan Agreement, 

and 599 had no expectation in fact, and no reasonable expectation, that the Partnership 

could obtain the benefit of debt financing without paying interest. 

33. 599 (and EBMD, the only party who could properly advance such a claim) are estopped 

from seeking to deny Sanovest interest due under the Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

34. EBMD requested the advances of the Sanovest Loan and agreed to pay interest 

thereon. 599 likewise consented, directly or by its conduct, and Matthews consented and 

approved on behalf of EBMD and the Partnership to the Second Modification to the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement made as of January 26, 2022, and further, EBMD and Matthews 

sought, and accepted, including as recently as June 27, 2023, advances under the Sanovest 

Loan. 599 acquiesced in this conduct, took the indirect benefit of the Sanovest Loan 

advances including by avoiding the need for Partnership cash calls which 599 and 

Matthews lacked the capital to satisfy, and by their conduct represented that EBMD would 

comply with the tenns of the Sanovest Loan Agreement including the payment of 

interest. Sanovest agreed to the Second Modification and made advances of the Sanovest 

Loan in the period 2021 to 2023 in reliance on the terms of the Sanovest Loan Agreement 

including its entitlement to interest. 

35. This request for relief is not appropriate because it exceeds 599's expectations, it gives it 

something it never could have reasonably expected, and if granted it would result in the 

unjust enrichment of 599 at the expense of Sanovest. 

36. Further, 599 is not entitled to relief under the oppression remedy because this claim could 

only be advanced derivatively, and further, it is in substance a claim by 599 in its capacity 

as a Partner and not qua shareholder of EBMD. Any compensation order, the entitlement 

to which is denied, could only be made to EBMD, and not 599, demonstrating further that 

this claim could only be advanced by EBMD and not 599. 

37. Further, 599 cannot demonstrate causation and has not suffered any direct injury or loss in 

its capacity as shareholder of EBMD. EBMD never had a definite, clearly more beneficial 

offer for financing to replace the Sanovest Loan. 
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38. Further or in the alternative, this relief is barred by !aches. 

599 is not entitled to an order compensating it for alleged lost Partnership distributions 

39. 599 is not entitled to an order compensating it for alleged lost Partnership distributions, as 

alleged or at all. 

40. This is a claim not made in 599's capacity as a shareholder of EBMD for loss suffered in 

that capacity, but rather seeks relief qua Partner, for alleged lost distributions which are 

expressly governed by the Partnership Agreement. The Petition admits this, seeking 

compensation for "lost distributions through the limited liability partnerships that EBMD 

manages ... resulting from lost sales revenues". This cannot be the subject of a remedy for 

oppression. 

41. Further, 599 is not entitled to relief under the oppression remedy because this claim could 

only be advanced derivatively, and further, it is in substance a claim by 599 in its capacity 

as a Partner and not qua shareholder of EBMD. Any compensation order, the entitlement 

to which is denied, could only be made to EBMD, and not 599, demonstrating further that 

this claim could only be advanced by EBMD and not 599. 

42. Further, 599 cannot demonstrate causation and has not suffered any direct injury or loss in 

its capacity as shareholderofEBMD. The Partnership retains the real estate assets, which 

have appreciated in value, with the result that 599 has suffered no loss and any order made 

would result in overcompensation. 

43. This request for relief is not appropriate because it exceeds 599's expectations, and seeks 

something 599 never could have reasonably expected in its capacity as shareholder of 

EBMD. 

44. EBMD also did not have or present to Sanovest for approval, unconditional, binding offers 

to purchase property. 599's complaints in this regard are in reality complaints about how 

Tian Kusumoto exercised his business judgment as a director, and about the business policy 

disagreements between EBMD's directors. 

45. Further or in the alternative, this relief is barred by !aches. 
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599 is not entitled to an order re-writing the terms of the Partnership Agreement to 
eliminate Sanovest's distribution preference 
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46. 599 is not entitled to an order re-writing the terms of the Partnership Agreement to 

eliminate Sanovest's distribution preference. 

4 7. The oppression remedy is not a means by which commercial agreements negotiated at 

arm's length by sophisticated parties can be rewritten to accord with a court's after-the­

fact assessment of what is "just and equitable" in the circumstances. The reasonable 

expectations of parties to commercial agreements negotiated at arm's length must be those 

reasonable expectations that find expression in the agreements negotiated by the 

parties. 599 can accordingly have no reasonable expectation that is contrary to its and 

Sanovest's entitlements to distributions as set out in the Partnership Agreement, and any 

remedy altering those entitlements would exceed and be contrary to the parties' reasonable 

expectations. 

48. This is a claim not made in 599's capacity as a shareholder of EBMD for loss suffered in 

that capacity, but rather seeks relief qua Partner, in the form of an after the fact re-writing 

of the bargain allocating the right to distributions which are expressly governed by the 

Partnership Agreement. The Petition admits this, seeking an order "disentitling Sanovest 

from receiving preferential payments on distributions to be paid through limited liability 

partnerships that EBMD manages". This cannot be the subject of a remedy for oppression. 

49. Further, 599 cannot demonstrate causation and has not suffered any direct injury or loss in 

its capacity as shareholder of EBMD. 

50. This request for relief is not appropriate because it exceeds 599's expectations, and seeks 

something 599 never could have reasonably expected in its capacity as shareholder of 

EBMD. 

51. Further or in the alternative, this relief is barred by laches. 

329480 00001/300136113.1 l 



098 

- 27 -

Matthews is not entitled to an oppression remedy in bis personal capacity, and not for a 
disguised claim for defamation 

52. Matthews is not entitled to an oppression remedy in his personal capacity, and not for a 

disguised claim for defamation. 

53. Tian Kusumoto denies that Matthews is an "appropriate person" that may properly seek a 

remedy of oppression, as alleged or at all 

54. Oppression is a statutory remedy available to shareholders who have suffered harm, in their 

capacity as shareholders, and not in some other capacity, and further, is not appropriately 

invoked as a substitute for the normal legal and equitable remedies that are available to 

aggrieved parties. Matthews' claim for compensation for alleged "disparaging statements" 

is not based on any reasonable expectations in his capacity as a shareholder or beneficial 

shareholder (which he is not). His remedy, if there is one, must be found in the ordinary 

law of defamation or injurious falsehood. 

55. Matthews' claim in this regard is entirely deficient. He offers no particulars of alleged 

false or defamatory statements, the content of the statements, when and to whom they were 

made, that they were published of or concerning him, or that he suffered loss and 

damage. The Petition seeks compensation for alleged statements concerning not just 

Matthews but also "his family" (Petition, Part I, para. 2(f)) and complains of damage to 

the "Ecoasis brand" (Petition, Part 3, para. 129). 

56. Tian Kusumoto denies that he has defamed Matthews, as alleged or at all. 

57. This claim is tactical, and is an attempt to chill bona fide communications seeking to 

investigate Matthews' management of EBMD and to hold Matthews accountable for his 

breaches of duty and to require Matthews to use his powers in a manner consistent with his 

duties and to cause EBMD to perform its obligations under law and under its agreements, 

including the Partnership Agreement, the Resort Partnership Agreement, and the Sanovest 

Loan Agreement. 
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As a director of EBMD, Tian Kusumoto is not personally liable for any compensation 
orders 
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58. As a director of EBMD, Tian Kusumoto is not personally liable for any compensation 

orders that may be made. 

59. In addition to the responses made above, in response to the claim for a compensation order 

against Tian Kusumoto personally related to the interest due or paid under the Sanovest 

Loan Agreement: 

(a) Tian Kusumoto exercised his powers as a director of EMBD in good faith and did 

not receive a personal benefit; 

(b) No actual proposal for financing to replace the Sanovest Loan was ever presented 

to the EBMD board of directors for consideration, with the result that Tian 

Kusumoto exercised no power as a director that prevented EBMD and the 

Partnership from replacing the Sanovest Loan with other financing. When 

Matthews proposed a "refinancing resolution" that the board seek replacement 

financing at the August 19, 2021 EBMD board meeting, Tian Kusumoto agreed 

that the board should investigate refinancing once there were audited financial 

statements and an approved business plan; 

(c) Whether to approve replacement financing was not merely a matter for EBMD's 

board of directors, but was subject to Sanovest's ultimate discretion as to whether 

to approve of the financing and its terms; and 

(d) Sanovest, and not Tian Kusumoto, received or is entitled to receive interest under 

the Sanovest Loan Agreement, so an order imposing personal liability is neither fit 

not equitable. 

60. In addition to the responses made above, in response to the claim for a compensation order 

against Tian Kusumoto personally related to the alleged lost distributions resulting from 

lost sales revenues: 

(a) Tian Kusumoto exercised his powers as a director ofEMBD in good faith and did 

not receive a personal benefit; 
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(b) The disagreement between Matthews and Tian Kusumoto about the manner in 

which the Partnership's purposes and business objectives should be pursued is a 

disagreement about business policy. Tian Kusumoto denies that he exercised his 

powers as a director of EBMD oppressively or in a manner that was unfairly 

prejudicial to 599, as alleged or at aH, or that 599 suffered any resulting loss. 

Further, disagreements over matters of business policy are not a basis for imposing 

personal liability on directors; 

(c) In the alternative, if 599 suffered a loss in its capacity as shareholder, which is 

denied, Tian Kusumoto derived no personal benefit from the exercise of his powers, 

and on this further basis, an order imposing personal liability on him in his capacity 

as a director would not be a fit or equitable remedy. 

61 . In respect of both claims for compensation orders against Tian Kusumoto personally, the 

relevant corporate law context includes Sanovest's position as Lender and the terms of the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

Part 6: MATERIAL TO BE RELIED ON 

1. Affidavit #1 of Tian Kusumoto made August 25, 2023; and 

2. Such further and other material as counsel may advise. 

The Petition Respondents estimate that the application will take five 

Dated: 25-Aug-2023 
Signature of 
□ Petition Respondent ~ Lawyer for Petition 
Respondents 

Andrew I. Nathanson, K.C. 

Petition Respondents address for service: 
Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP 
2900 - 550 Burrard Street 
Vancouver, B.C. V6C OA3 

Fax number address for service (if any): n/a 
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E-mail address for service (if any): n/a 

Name of the Petition Respondents' lawyer, if any: Andrew I. Nathanson, K.C./Jennifer 
Francis/Oliver Verenca 
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Amended pursuant to Rule 6- 1 (l)(a) of the Supreme Cou1t Civil Rules. Original filed May 13. 
2022. 

~UPREJJE COURT 
OF No. S-223937 

Vancouver Registry 
BRITISH COLUMBIA 

SEAL 
20-Mar-23 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 
REGISTRY * J ETWEEN: 

AND: 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and BM 
MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANTS 

AMENDED NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM 

This action has been started by the Plaintiff for the relief set out in Part 2 below. 

If you intend to respond to this action, you or your lawyer must 

(a) file a response to civil claim in Form 2 in the above-named regist1y of thi s court 
within the time for response to civil claim described below, and 

(b) serve a copy of the filed response to civil claim on the plaintiff. 

If you intend to make a counterclaim, you or your lawyer must 

(a) file a response to civil claim in Form 2 and a counterclaim in Form 3 in the above­
named registry of this comt w ithin the time for response to civil claim described 
below, and 

(b) serve a copy of the filed response to civil claim and counterclaim on the plaintiff 
and on any new parties named in the counterclaim. 

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to fi le the response to 
civil claim within the time for response to civil claim described below. 
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Time for response to civil claim 

A response to civil claim must be filed and served on the Plaintiff, 

Part 1: 

(a) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere in Canada, within 21 
days after that service, 

(b) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere in the United States of 
America, within 35 days after that service, 

(c) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere else, within 49 days after 
that service, or 

(d) if the time for response to civil claim has been set by order of the comt, within that 
time. 

CLAIM OF THE PLAINTIFF 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The Parties 

1. The Plaintiff Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest") is a corporation incorporated under the 
laws of Canada with an address for service care of 2900 - 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia. 

2. The Defendant Daniel Matthews ("Matthews") is a businessperson who resides at 3480 
Ripon Road, Victoria, British Columbia. 

3. The Defendant Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto ("Tom Kusumoto") is a businessperson who 
resides at 1727 Cedar Crescent, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

4. The Defendant Ecoasis Bear Mountain Developments Ltd. ("EBMD") is a company 
incorporated under the laws of British Columbia with a registered and records office 
located at 2800 - 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

5. The Defendant BM Mountain Golf Course Ltd. ("BMGC") is a company incorporated 
under the laws of British Columbia with a registered and records office located at 2800 -
666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

6. At all material times, Sanovest and 599315 B.C. Ltd. ("599"), an affiliate of Matthews, 
each owned 50% of the issued and outstanding common shares of EBMD. 

7. At all material times, Matthews was the president and chief executive of EBMD and 
Matthews and Tom Kusumoto were the sole directorsa director of EBMD and BMGC . 

.8... Between September, 2013 and June. 2021. Tom Kusumoto was a director of EBMD and 
BMGC. 
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2... &-:-BMGC is joined as a defendant on the basis that it is interested in the relief sought. 

The Partnership 

I 0. 9--,-In or about September, 2013, EBMD, Sanovest and 599 (the "Partners") entered into a 
partnership, structured as a limited liability paitnership in accordance with Part 6 of the 
Partnership Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 348 (the "Act") and known as Ecoasis Developments 
LLP (the "Pa1tnership"). 

ll -14-The Partners' respective interests in the Partnership are as follows: Sanovest ( 49.75%), 
599 (49.75%) and EBMD (0.5%). 

12. +h-The Pattnership is governed by a written limited liability partnership agreement 
between EBMD, Sanovest and 599 made as of September 24, 2013 (the "Partnership 
Agreement"). 

ll -1-±.--Under the terms of the Paitnership Agreement, the Partners agreed that EBMD would 
serve as the managing partner of the Paitnership (the "Managing Partner"). As Managing 
Partner, EBMD had and has the exclusive authority to manage and operate the 
Partnership' s business, and to bind the Partnership and Partners in respect of the business 
and assets of the Partnership. The Partnership acts only through EBMD and the 
Partnership's property is held by EBMD for the benefit of the Paitners, in accordance with 
the Partnership Agreement and the Act. 

14. ~ The Partnership was created to acquire, pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement 
dated August 29, 2013 (the "Purchase Agreement") between Bear Mountain Land 
Holdings Ltd., as vendor, and an affiliate ofEBMD, Ecoasis Innovative Communities Ltd. 
("EIC"), as purchaser, ce1tain assets comprising the Bear Mountain Resort located near 
Victoria, British Columbia (the "Bear Mountain Assets"). The Bear Mountain Assets 
included, without limitation, two golf courses known as the "Mountain Course" and the 
"Valley Course", together with associated practice facilities; a 156 room hotel located at 
Bear Mountain and operated under the name "Westin Bear Mountain Golf Resort and Spa"; 
and certain real prope1ty. 

15. +4.--The business of the Partnership is set out in s. 2.3 of the Partnership Agreement: 
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Nature of Business 

The business of the Partnership shall be to: 

(a) acquire and maintain a limited liability partnership i111crcst in Ecoa.~is Resort and 
Golf LLP which shall own and operate the Golf Course.~ am.I the I lolcl: 

(h) acquire, improve, develop, construct, finance, sell. operate, maintain and manage 
1he Property and any activity or undertaking related thereto, to directly or 
indirectly acquire, hold, develop, construct, invest in, market and sell real 
property and other assets and undertake other activities or businesses which are 
anci llary or incidental to or in furtherance of any aspect of the operation or 
development of the Property. or 

(c) the direct or indirect acquisition, holding. construction, development, investment 
in, marketing and sale of real property or other assets and to carry on any other 
business approved by Extraordinary Resolution of the Partners. 

The Partnership shall have the power to do any and every act and thing necessary, proper, 
convenient or complementary to the accomplishment of its business and purposes including. 
wi1hout limitation. acquiring, owning or disposing of mortgages, partnership interests, shares or 
other securities. 

16,. -l➔.---Under the Partnership Agreement, the Partnership - acting through EBMD as 
Managing Partner - is required to keep proper records and books of account, and to make 
these documents available to Sanovest as Partner. 

17. -l-6:--The Pa1tnership Agreement also provides that EBMD is required to prepare and submit 
to the Partners, including Sanovest, an overall business plan, annual operating budgets, 
annual updates and financial reports. 

18. ++.-At all material times, the sole registered shareholder of BMGC was Ecoasis Resort and 
Golf LLP (the "Res01t Partnership"). The Resort Partnership is an asset of the Pa1tnership. 

12,_ +&,-The Paitners are partners in the Resort Partnership in the same proportions as their 
interest in the Partnership, and EBMD is the managing partner of the Resort Partnership, 
with powers and obligations similar to those it has to the Paitnership under the Paitnership 
Agreement. 

20. -1-9-:-Through its interest in the Partnership and Reso1t Pa1tnership, Sanovest is a beneficial 
shareholder ofBMGC. 

The Sanovest Loan Agreement 

21. ~ By an agreement made as of October 8, 2013 and as subsequently amended, Sanovest 
agreed to loan funds to the Partnership (the "Sanovest Loan Agreement"). 

22. U-,-Sanovest has made advances (the "Loan") to the Partnership under the Sanovest Loan 
Agreement. 

2.3_,_ ~ Under the Sanovest Loan Agreement, the Partnersh ip is required to provide Sanovest 
with information and documents, including but not limited to the following: 

329480.00001/96691680.6 



107 
- 5 -

(a) all such financial information in respect of the Bear Mountain Assets and their 
respective operations that Sanovest may reasonably request; 

(b) detailed management prepared financial statements within 20 days of the end of 
each month and a detailed financial statement with specified information within 90 
days of the end of each fiscal year. The annual financial statements are required to 
be audited by a chartered accountant; and 

( c) such other documents containing such assurances, information and covenants as 
Sanovest's solicitors may require with regard to the Loan and Sanovest's security. 

24,. ~ The Sanovest Loan Agreement also prov ides that the Partnership is required to carry 
on and conduct business in a proper, efficient and businesslike manner and in accordance 
with good business practices; the Partnership may not make payments to any person other 
than in the normal course of business; and the Pa1tnership may not make payments or 
engage in financial transactions with parties who are not at arm 's length from the Partners. 

2.5.,_ ±4-:--The Partnership's obligations under the Sanovest Loan Agreement are required to be 
performed by EBMD. 

The formation ofBMA by Matthews and Tom Kusumoto 

21. 

~ Sometime prior to May 2017, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto incorporated a new 
company, Bear Mountain Adventures Ltd. ("BMA"). BMA is a company incorporated 
under the laws of British Columbia with a registered and records office located at 2800 -
666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

~ At all material timesFrom the incorporation of BMA until June, 2021 , Matthews and 
Tom Kusumoto were also the sole directors and, through their holding companies 1096501 
B.C. Ltd. ("109") and SJN Holdings Ltd. ("SJN"), each held 50% of the issued and 
outstanding common shares ofBMA. 

On or about June I, 2021. Tom Kusumoto resigned as director of BMA. Since such time. 
Matthews has continued in his role as director and the shareholding structure of BMA has 
remained unchanged. 

~ Matthews and Tom Kusumoto incorporated BMA for the purpose of acqui ring 
properties from EBMD to, among other uses, conduct an adventure business including the 
construction of a gondola to nearby Mount Finlayson, separate from the business of the 
Pa1tnership. 
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The Self-Interested Transactions 

30. ~ Between May 2017 and }foyember 2020 January 2016 and June 2022, and as described 
below, Matthews and.fur Tom Kusumoto, in breach of their fiduciary duties and while 
having disclosable interests in the transactions for which no proper shareholder approval 
was sought or obtained, caused EBMD and BMGC to sell, assign or transfer valuable assets 
to BMA, a corporation they controlled during the material time period. or to Matthews 
personally. for no or inadequate consideration. 

The assignment of the CRD reimbursements to BMA 

.1L 2-9:-Prior to the Partnership' s acquisition of the Bear Mountain Assets, the Capital Regional 
District (the "CRD") entered into an agreement with the prior owners of the Bear Mountain 
Assets known as the Skirt Mountain Reservoir Agreement (the "Reservoir Agreement"). 
Under the Reservoir Agreement, the CRD agreed to reimburse ce1iain costs incurred by 
the prior owners of the Bear Mountain Assets in constructing the Ski1i Mountain Reservoir 
as paii of the overall development of the Bear Mountain community . 

32,_ ~ As part of its acquisition of the Bear Mountain Assets, EBMD, in its capacity as the 
Managing Partner of the Partnership, took an assignment of the right, title and interest of 
the prior owners in the Reservoir Agreement. 

33. ;..h-By an agreement dated as of May 1, 2017, EBMD, acting on behalf of the Parinership, 
entered into an assignment agreement (the "Assignment Agreement") with BMA. Under 
the Assignment Agreement, with the consent of the CRD, EBMD and the Pa1inership 
assigned their interest in the Reservoir Agreement to BMA. 

34. ~ In order to secure the CRD's consent to the Ass ignment Agreement, Matthews and 
Tom Kusumoto made an express or implied representation to CRD that BMA was "an 
entity controlled by the partners of [the Pa1i nership ]" . 

15..,_ ~ Although the Assignment Agreement was expressed as being between the Partnership 
and the CRD, as a matter of law, the Assignment Agreement was made by EBMD on behalf 
of the Pa1inership. In their capacity as directors of EBMD, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto 
caused EBMD to enter into the Assignment Agreement. 

16.... ;M-;-EBMD received no consideration from BMA for the assignment of its interest in the 
Reservoir Agreement from BMA. 

31. ~ Between September 2017 and January 2019, in accordance with its obligations under 
the Reservoir and Assignment Agreements, the CRD made three payments to BMA 
totalling $3,371 ,524.44 (the "CRD Payments") . 

.18.,_ ~ BMA distributed the funds derived from the CRD Payments to Matthews and Tom 
Kusumoto for their own use and benefit. Tom Kusumoto loaned some or all of these funds 
received from BMA to Matthews which Matthews used for his own use and benefit, with 
the result that Matthews obtained the immediate economic benefit of al I or substantially all 
of the funds derived from the CRD Payments. 
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The sale of the Gondola Property to BMA 

32.,. ~ In November 2018, and for the purposes of a sale of property to BMA, Matthews and 
Tom Kusumoto caused BMGC to apply for and obtain a subdivision of the lands held by 
BMGC that fonned part of the Mountain Golf Course, creating a separate title to a property 
legally described as PID 030-726-123, Lot A, District Lot 82, Highland District Plan EPP 
70640 (the "Gondola Property"). 

4Q,_ ~ The Gondola Property was so named because BMA intended to construct a passenger 
gondola from the site of the Gondola Property to the top of nearby Mount Finlayson and 
back, similar to the Grouse Mountain Skyride. 

41. ~ BMGC held the Gondola Property on trust as agent, nominee and bare trustee for 
EBMD on behalf of the Paitnership. 

42. 4-0-,-.On or about May 14, 2019, BMGC agreed to sell the Gondola Propetty to BMA. On 
the Form A transfer filed in connection with the transfer of the Gondola Property, BMGC 
represented the Gondola Property's market value as being $122,820. The consideration 
for the sale was $1. 

11,_ 4-h-Matthews and Tom Kusumoto caused BMGC to enter into the agreement to sell the 
Gondola Property to BMA and purpo1ted to approve the sale on behalf of both BMGC and 
EBMD, which held the beneficial interest in the Gondola Prope1ty on behalf of the 
Partnership. 

44. ~ Matthews and Tom Kusumoto made no effort to determine the true market value of the 
Gondola Property at the time of its sale to BMA, but it may have been in the millions. 

45.,_ ~ BMGC and EBMD received no or alternatively inadequate consideration from BMA 
for the sale of the Gondola Propetty. 

The diversion of the proceeds of the Pinehurst construction loan and sales to BMA 

4.6.,_ 44:-In or about 2019, EBMD, acting on behalf of the Partnership, decided to develop a 39 
lot servicing project known as "Pinehurst" on lands adjacent to Bear Mountain Parkway 
(the "Pinehurst Project"). Once cleared and serviced, the Pinehurst Project lots would be 
sold to third paities to construct single family homes. The specific properties on which the 
Pinehurst Project was located were held by nominee companies as bare trustees for the 
benefit of EBMD, in its capacity as Managing Paitner of the Partnership. 

11,_ #,-By an agreement dated as of October 9, 2019, EBMD, in its capacity as the Managing 
Partner of the Partnership, entered into an agreement with a third patty financial institution 
(the "Pinehurst Lender") in which the Pinehurst Lender agreed to make available to the 
Partnership a construction loan in the principal amount of up to $8. 125 million to assist in 
financing the development of the Pinehurst Project (the "Credit Facility"). 
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4.8..,_ 46:--Under the terms of the Credit Facility, EBMD agreed not to use the proceeds of the 
Credit Facility for the benefit or on behalf of any person or entity other than EBMD and 
the Pa1inership. 

49. 4+.-ln or about 2020, and in the course of the Pinehurst Project, Matthews and/or Tom 
Kusumoto caused EBMD to transfer funds advanced under the Credit Facility as well as 
the proceeds of the sales of certain Pinehurst Project lots to BMA without consideration or 
a proper accounting (the "Diverted Pinehurst Funds"). The full particulars of the Pinehurst 
Diverted Funds are unknown to Sanovest. 

.5..Q_,_ ~ On or about September 9, 2020, BMA entered into an agreement to purchase the Bear 
Mountain Activity Centre (the "Recreation Centre" or the "BMAC") from the City of 
Langford for $3.575 million. BMA used the Diverted Pinehurst Funds to fund its purchase 
of the Recreation Centre. 

The diversion of additional funds to BMA for the Recreation Centre 

iL In connection with BMA's agreement to purchase the Recreation Centre in September 
2020. and following the completion of that transaction on or about December 22. 2020. 
Matthews and/or Tom Kusumoto caused EBMD to transfer additional funds held by 
EBMD for the benefit of the Partnership to BMA in order to satisfy operational and capita l 
expenditures relating to the Recreation Centre (the "Recreation Centre Funding") . 

.52. Following Tom Kusumoto's resignation as a director of EBMD and BMA in June 2021, 
Matthews. in the purported exercise of his management authority as president and chief 
executive officer ofEBMD and without the approval ofEBMD's board of directors, caused 
EBMD to continue the Recreation Centre Funding to BMA. This continued unti l 
approximately June 2022. 

53. The amounts and particulars of the Recreation Centre Funding are known to Matthews and 
at least in pa1i to Tom Kusumoto. but are unknown to Sanovest. 

54. EBMD has received no consideration or benefit from BMA for the Recreation Centre 
Funding. 

The diversion of the proceeds of the Players Peak loan to Matthews personally 

By an agreement dated as of May 22, 2020, EBMD, in its capacity as the Managing Partner 
of the Partnership, entered into an agreement with a third pa1ty financial institution for the 
purpose of obtaining financing in relation to certain lands held for the benefit of the 
Partnership (the "Players Peak Loan"). 

Under the terms of the Players Peak Loan. EBMD agreed not to use the proceeds of the 
Players Peak Loan for the benefit or on behalf of any person or entity other than EBMD, 
the Partnership or its subsidiaries. and to use such proceeds only for the business purposes 
of those entities. 
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In or around June, 2020, almost immediately after the Players Peak Loan was advanced to 
the Partnership and contrary to the terms of the Players Peak Loan, Matthews and Tom 
Kusumoto agreed that EBMD would transfer $1,000,000 of the Joan proceeds to Matthews 
for his personal use and benefit, and subsequently caused EBMD to do so without a loan 
or other written agreement; security, interest or terms for repayment: or a proper accounting 
(the " Dive1ted Players Peak Funds"). 

EBMD received no consideration or benefit from Matthews for the Diverted Players Peak 
Funds. 

The diversion of additional funds to Matthews personally 

Between 2016 and 2019. Matthews and/or Tom Kusumoto caused EBMD to transfer at 
least $400,000 of funds held by EBMD for the benefit of the Pa1tnership to Matthews for 
his personal use and benefit, some of which related to reimbursement for home renovation 
expenses or other personal matters and none of which related to the business of the 
Partnership (the "Unauthorized Personal Expenses"). The full patticulars of the 
Unauthorized Personal Expenses are known to Matthews but unknown to Sanovest. 

EBMD received no consideration or benefit from Matthews for the Unauthorized Personal 
Expenses. 

~ The Assignment Agreement, the Gondola Prope1ty sale--aoo"' the Diverted Pinehurst 
Funds. the Recreation Centre Funding, the Diverted Players Peak Funds. and the 
Unauthorized Personal Expenses are hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Self­
Interested Transactions". 

The Self-Interested Transactions were not disclosed and approved in the manner required by the 
Business Corporations Act 

& ~ The Self-Interested Transactions were not disclosed and approved in the manner 
required by the Business Corporations Act, S.B.C. 2002, c. 57 (the "BCA") . 

.6.1,_ ~ The Self-Interested Transactions were conceived of, approved by and implemented by 
Matthews and Tom Kusumoto in their capacity as directors of EBMD and, in the case of 
the Gondola Property, EBMD and BMGC, and in breach of their fiduciary duties to act 
honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of EBMD and BMGC. 

M_._ £.:-By reason of their offices as directors of EBMD, BMGC and BMA, and the 50% of the 
common shares of BMA that each of them held through their respective holding 
companies, and by reason of the personal benefit Matthews derived from the Diverted 
Players Peak Funds and Unauthorized Personal Expenses, at the material times Matthews 
and Tom Kusumoto each had a disclosable interest in the Self-Interested Transactions 
within the meaning of s. 147 of the BCA . 

.6..5.... £-:-In respect of each of the Self-Interested Transactions, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto 
did not disclose the nature and extent of their interest to the shareholders of EBMD and 
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BMGC in writing, in the manner required by the BCA, or obtain approval of the Self­
Interested Transactions by special resolution following such disclosure. 

66. ~ The Self-Interested Transactions were not fair and reasonable to EBMD and BMGC. 
In each case, the Self-Interested Transactions were for no or inadequate consideration and 
were not in the best interests ofEBMD and BMGC. 

EBMD's breach of the reporting obligations under the Partnership Agreement and Sanovest Loan 
Agreement 

f[L. ~ On April 11 , 2022, Sanovest made fonnal demand that EBMD comply with its 
reporting obligations under the Partnership Agreement and Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

68. ~ On Matthews' instructions, EBMD has, despite Sanovest' s demand, refused to comply 
with its reporting obligations under the Partnership Agreement and Sanovest Loan 
Agreement. 

6..2.,_ :)+.-In particular: 

(a) EBMD has refused to make all records and books of account available to Sanovest 
in its capacity as Partner of the Partnershjp; 

(b) EBMD has not prepared and submitted to the Partners a current business plan, 
annual operating budgets, annual updates or financial reports; 

(c) EBMD has not provided all financial information in respect of the Bear Mountain 
Assets and their respective operations that Sanovest has reasonably requested; 

( d) EBMD has not prepared detailed management prepared financial statements within 
20 days of each month end or a detailed financial statement within 90 days of the 
end of each fiscal year; 

(e) EBMD has not prepared year end financial statements for the Partnership since 
2018; 

(f) EBMD has not obtained an audit opinion on the Partnership's year end financial 
statements; 

(g) EBMD has refused to make information regarding the Resort Partnership and other 
Pa1tnership assets available to Sanovest in its capacity as Partner; and 

(h) EBMD has refused to provide documents containing assurances and information 
requested by Sanovest' s solicitors with regard to the Loan and its supporting 
security. 

1.Sl,_ ~ EBMD's failure to provide the information set out above, and its refusal, directed by 
Matthews, to make all books and records of the Partnership available to Sanovest, is a 
breach of the Pa1tnership Agreement, the Sanovest Loan Agreement and EBMD's 
fiduciary duty owed to Sano vest as a Paitner of the Pa,tnership. 

329480.0000 1/9669 1680.6 
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Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT 

I. An order that as a result of the Self-Interested Transactions, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto 
pay equitable compensation to EBMD and BMGC. 

2. In the alternative, an order that Matthews and Tom Kusumoto account to EBMD and 
BMGC for any profit that has or will accrue to them as a result of the Self-Interested 
Transactions. 

3. An order for specific performance ofEBMD's reporting obligations under the Partnership 
Agreement and Sanovest Loan Agreement. 

4. Interest. 

5. Costs. 

6. Such further and other relief as counsel may advise and the Comi may permit. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

I. By reason of their position as directors and fiduciaries of EBMD and BMGC, Matthews 
and Tom Kusumoto owed duties of good faith, undivided loyalty and full disclosure to 
EBMD and BMGC. 

2. At the material times, and for the reasons set out in Part 1 above, Matthews and Tom 
Kusumoto each had a disclosable interest in the Self-Interested Transactions. 

3. Matthews and Tom Kusumoto did not make prompt and full disclosure, in writing, of the 
nature and extent of their interests when the Self-Interested Transactions were made, either 
in the manner required by the BCA or at all. 

4. The Self-Interested Transactions were not and still have not been approved by a special 
resolution of the shareholders of EBMD or BMGC after full disclosure of the nature and 
extent of Matthews and Tom Kusumoto's interests in the transactions, in the manner 
prescribed by the BCA. 

5. The Self-Interested Transactions were not fair and reasonable, procedurally or 
substantively, to EBMD or BMGC. They were contrary to Matthews, Tom Kusumoto, 
EBMD and BMGC's fiduciary and other duties. They were not commercially reasonable. 
They were not for fair market value or indeed, any consideration to EBMD and BMGC. 
They were not in the best interests of EBMD and BMGC. 

6. As a result of Matthews and Tom Kusumoto's breaches of their fiduciary obligations and 
other obligations owed under the BCA, EBMD and BMGC have suffered loss and damage. 

7. Sanovest pleads and relies on ss. 142 and 147-153 of the BCA. 

329480.0000 l /96691680.6 
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8. Section 31 of the Act provides that "[p]artners are bound to render true accounts and full 
information of all things affecting the partnership to any partner or his or her legal 
representatives". 

9. On Matthews' instructions, EBMD has, despite Sanovest's demand and without lawful 
excuse, refused to comply with its reporting obligations under the Act, the Partnership 
Agreement and Sanovest Loan Agreement. Sanovest seeks an order for specific 
performance of EBMD's and the Pa,tnership' s reporting obligations under those 
agreements. 

Plaintiffs address for service: Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP 
550 ButTard Street, Suite 2900 
Vancouver, BC V6C 0A3 
Attention Andrew I. Nathanson, QK.C. and Oliver Verenca 

Fax number address for service (if any): n/a 

n/a E-mail address for service (if any): 

Place of trial: 

The address of the registry is: 

13 May 202220-March­
Dated: 2023 ==--------

Vancouver 

800 Smithe Street, Vancouver, BC V6Z 2El 

(J. /) __ _[; _ _ff-~ 
Signature of Lawyer for Sano vest Holdings 
Ltd. 

Andrew I. Nathanson, QK.C. 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Comt Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all patties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a li st of documents in Form 22 that lists 

(i) all documents that are or have been in the party' s possession or 
conh·ol and that could, if available, be used by any paity at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the paity intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 
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APPENDIX 

Part 1: CONCISE SUMMARY OF NATURE OF CLAIM: 

Claim for statutory relief pursuant to the Business Corporations Act, S.B.C. 2002, c. 57 arising out 
of the breach of duty by directors of a corporation. 

Part 2: TIDS CLAIM ARISES FROM THE FOLLOWING: 

A personal injury arising out of: 

D a motor vehicle accident 
D medical malpractice 
IZI another cause 

A dispute concerning: 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

IZI 

Part 3: 
□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

IZI 
□ 

Part 4: 

contaminated sites 
construction defects 
real prope1ty (real estate) 
personal property 
the provision of goods or services or other general commercial matters 
investment losses 
the lending of money 

an employment relationship 
a will or other issues concerning the probate of an estate 
a matter not listed here 

TIDS CLAIM INVOLVES: 
a class action 
maritime law 
aboriginal law 
constitutional law 
conflict of laws 
none of the above 
do not know 

The Solicitors for the Plaintiff, Sanovest Holdings Ltd. are Fasken Ma1tineau DuMoulin LLP, 
whose office address and address for delivery is 550 ButTard Street, Suite 2900, Vancouver, BC 
V6C 0A3 Telephone: + 1 604 631 313 1 Facsimile: + 1 604 631 3232. (Reference: Andrew I. 
Nathanson, Q.C./329480.00001) 
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This is Exhibit "G" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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NO. S-223937 
VANCOUVER REGISTRY 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

SANOVESTHOLDINGS LTD. 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and BM 
MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANTS 

TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO 

THIRD PARTY 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., TOMOSON (TOM) 
KUSUMOTO and TIAN KUSUMOTO 

DEFENDANTS BYWAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 

RESPONSE TO AMENDED NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM 

Daniel Matthews (the "Defendant") 05Mr\Y23 2307797 ROSO 
21422 S223937 

Part 1: RESPONSE TO AMENDED NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM FACTS 

Division 1 - Defendant's Response to Facts 

The facts alleged in paragraphs!, 2, 4, 5, 8, 10, 12, 16, 17, 19, 21, 22, 28 and 42 

of Prut 1 of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim are admitted. 



• ' 
L 

I 

I: 118 
2 ' " ,, 

,, 

2. The facts alleged in paragraphs 6, 7, 11, 13, 14, 15, 18, '20, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 29, 
• I 

30,31,32,33,34,35,36,37,38,39,40,41,43,44,45,46,47,48,49,50,51,52,53,54,55,56, 

57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69 and 70 of Part 1 ofthJ'Amended Notice of Civil 
I 

Claim are denied, except as specifically admitted below. I 1 

1: 
3. The facts alleged in paragraphs 3 and 9 of Part 1 ofthdAmended Notice of Civil 

!, 
Claim are outside the knowledge of the Defendant. 

I· 

i· 
Division 2 - Defendant's Version of Facts : 

• ' 

A. The Bear Mountain Project 

1. Background 
j 

4. In or around mid-2013, Daniel Matthews ("Mattheis") introduced Tomoson 

Kusumoto ("Tom Kusumoto") to an investment opportunity involv
1

iµg the acquisition of the 

assets associated with the "Bear Mountain" development in the Greater Victoria area (the "Bear 
1. 

Mountain Assets"). The Bear Mountain Assets included more than eight hundred acres of land 

on and adjacent to Skirt Mountain in the City of Langford and Distri~t of Highlands as well as 

the Westin Bear Mountain Golf Resort and Spa (the "Hotel") and t«,o golf courses located on 

those lands. 
. I 

i' 
j; 

5. At that time, Tom Kusumoto and Matthews were involred in a land development 

project at Whistler Mountain (the "Whistler Project"). The Whistler Project involved the 

acquisition, site servicing, and ultimately the sale, of single-family resi~ential lots. 

6. The Whistler Project operated under the following gene}~] structure: 

' i . 

(a) The project operated under the "Ecoasis" brand: a brand that Matthews had 
I, 

created and developed; . 11 

(b) An operating company represented 50% by Matthews,j;O% by Tom Kusumoto/ 

Sanovest Holdings Inc. ("Sanovest"), and 20% by a thi ,d partner; 

39563.160266.SBH.22965663.1 
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I 
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(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

119 
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i' 
Matthews was responsible for all operational aspect{ of the Whistler Project; 

Sanovest' s primary responsibility was to provide thel)capital necessary for the 

acquisition and site servicing work; :. 
I 

I 

Sanovest was entitled to receive an 8% rate of retu):h on the debt financing, 

together with a first entitleihent to be repaid interest atj~ loans from the proceeds 
I of sales; and 1 
! 
I 

. I 
The parties' objective throughout was to sell service, :lots as and when market 

conditions permitted, with an approximate time horizonlofthree to five years. 

(the ""'[~istler Business Terms") 

I 
7. Matthews became aware bf the potential sale of tne Bear Mountain Assets 

'.hrou~h b_usiness co~tact_s .. On learning o~ the potential ~ale opportu
1
[:.ity, Ma~hews conducted 

mvest1gat1ons and mqumes over a pei'10d of approximately 18 .months mto the assets' 
. . 

development potential, their potential opei·ating and land developmel\\ costs, and the feasibility 
,. 

of the project and its acquisition. ' 

8. 

:·, 
i· 

When Matthews introduced the Bear Mountain Asse~ :sale opportunity to Tom 
I 

Kusumoto, Tom Kusumoto proposed that if they were successful in I ~cquiring the assets, they 

enter into a business arrangement with the financing and developme11t obligations modeled on 

the Whistler Business Terms. 
;,1 

Ultimately, Matthews, throhgh a company he controllJd, entered into a purchase 
I, 

9. 

and sale agreement for the Bear Mountain Assets in August 2013. Maf~ews and Tom Kusumoto 

agreed to the following general business structure: 

(a) the Bear Mountain Assets • would be held in a lij/ted liability partnership 

structure, which would take an assignment of the purf µase and sale agreement. 

The partnership would be owned equally by 59931si:B.C. Ltd. ("599315"), a 

company controlled by Matthews, and by Sanovest, 1' company that Matthews 
' 11 understood was controlled by Tom Kusumoto; , 

I' 
,: 
I 
I 

I 
39583.1602B6.SBH.22985663.1 
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(b) 599315, through Matthe"".s, would be responsible r0r managmg the overall 
I 

operations, including the land development work; Sanovest's primary 
I 

responsibility was to provide the capital necessary for the acquisition, operations, 

and land development work; 

( c) Matthews, nominated by 599315, and Tom Kusurnotq, nominated by Sanovest, 

would serve as directors in any companies associated with the partnership. In such 
I 

(d) 

(e) 

companies, Matthews would serve in the role of President/CEO, reflecting 
I 

599315's responsibility for managing the overall operations; 

Sanov~st would receive an .8% rate of return on its deb! rnancing, together with a 

first entitlement to be repaid interest and loans from t~e proceeds of sales and a 

preferred waterfall distribution based on profitability; add 
,, 

Their objectives with the Bear Mountain Assets wo4.ld be to: (i) service and 

improve the operating businesses and amenities, withj ·a view to improving the 
I 

public image and community character of the Bear Iv1;0untain development; (ii) 
I 

conduct land development · work, including site servic~pg work, with a view to 

selling to developers/builders for building development, thereby increasing the 

sale value of the land assets as a whole; (iii) generate sufficient revenues from 

initial sales to pay down the financing provided by Sandvest; and (iv) sell the land 
I, 

assets, either in tranches or en bloc, in an appropriate rri.13-nner, once the increased 

land value yielded a reasonable return on their investme~t. 
,, 

(the "Bear Mo~untain Business Terms") 

2. Business Structure 

10. 599315 and Sanovest acquired the Bear Mountain f,-ssets through a limited 

liability partnership structure. The acquisition completed on October 8,!~013. 
I 

11. On September 17, 2013, Ecoasis Bear Mountain Deveiopments Ltd. ("EBMD") 
I 

was incorporated as a British Columbia company, which was to bav,e the role of "managing 
•I 

partner" for the limited liability partnerships. The shares of EBMD v!rere and are held 50% by 
!• 

I: ,. 
I 
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599315 and 50% by Sanovest. Each nominated a director to serve on:EBMD's board. 599315's 

nominee was at all times Matthews, except for a period between 2p14 and 2016. Sanovest's 

nominee was Tom Kusumoto until on or about June 1, 2021, when T;Qm Kusumoto's son, Tian 

Kusumoto, replaced him as Sano vest's nominee. 

12. By agreement dated September 24, 2013 (the "P:irtnership Agreement"), 

Ecoasis Developments LLP (the "Partner!lhip") was formed for the purpose of holding the Bear 

Mountain Assets. 599315, Sanovest and EBMD each became partne,:s in the Partnership. The 
• I 

Partnership's units are held in equal proportion by 599315 and Sanov¢st (100 units each), and 1 
' I 

unit is held by EBMD. 1 

13. As set out in the preamble to the Partnership Agreemen/; the assets to be acquired 

included: (a) the "Mountain Course" and the "Valley Course" (the i"Golf Courses"); (b) the 
I 

Hotel; and (c) significant tracts of lands, including as described: as Schedule "C" to the 

Partnership Agreement. 

14. Section 2.3 of the Partnership Agreement specified tqe1t the Partnership would 

acqmre and maintain a limited liability partnership interest in al second limited liability 

partnership, Ecoasis Resort and Golf LLP _(the "Resort Partnership'.'), which would own and 

operate the Golf Courses and the Hotel. 

15. The Resort Partnership was formed by a separate p~rtnership agreement also 

dated September 24, 2013 (the "Resort Partnership Agreement"). T~~ Partnership and EBMD 

became its partners, with the latter as "managing partner". The unitslpf the Resort Partnership 

were held I 00 by the Partnership and 1 by EBMD. As described ill the Resort Pruinership 
I 

Agreement, the Resort Partnership was formed for the purpose of acqui;dng the assets comprising 

the Golf Courses and the Hotel, and to carry out the businesses of the Qolf Courses and the Hotel 
' 

and other activities or business ancillary to or in furtherance of those b4sinesses. 

16. 

Claim: 

In response to paragraphs 5 and 20 of Prui 1 of the }\.mended Notice of Civil 

(a) BM Mountain Golf Course Ltd. ("BMGC") is a British Columbia 

company that owns certain assets associated with the "Mountain Course". 
:: 
i 
I 
I' 
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6 ., 

, . 
I 

Its sole share was transferred to the Resort Partn!~rship on October 8, 2013, 
I, 

in connection with the larger Bear Mountain As~et acquisition; 

I 

(b) The directors of Bf0GC were Matthews (as notjlinee of 599315) and Tom 

(c) 

:: 

Kusumoto (as nominee of Sanovest) until Jµne 1, 2021, when Tian 

Kusumoto replaced Tom Kusumoto as Sanovestf: nominee; and 

Matthews denies that Sanovest is a "beneficial Jhareholder" of BMGC, or 
. I 

' 
otherwise has any beneficial interest in BMGC'i shares or property. 

, , 

In response to paragraph 13 of Part 1 of the Amend~d Notice of Civil Claim, 

section 12 of the Partnership Agreement aut.horizes EBMD, as managing partner, to carry out the 

business of the Partnership. However, the Partnership Agreement doies not restrict the general 

authority of the partners to act on behalf of the Partnership. The Paitne~ship does not "act ... only 
I 

through EBMD". 
I 

3. Sanovest Loan Agreement 

,, 
18. In accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms, Sanovest advanced the 

financing required for the purchase of the Bear Mountain Assets, (and at that stage, made 

available additional funds required for the 'business operation and laJ~ development work (the 

"Sanovest Loan"). 

19. The terms of the Sanovest Loan were set out in a ~ommitment letter to the 

Partnership dated October 8, 2013 (the "Sanovest Loan Agreement"): The terms of Sanovest's 
! 

financing included, among other things, an interest rate of 8% per annrn, stated to be calculated 

daily and compounded quarterly, in addition to a lender's fee of $709,000 paid from the initial 

advance. 
I 

20. In response to paragraph 23 of Part 1 of the Amended totice of Civil Claim, the 
I 

specific contents of the reporting requirements referenced are set out at Schedule "A" to the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement - "Standard Terms and Conditions", sections 3(a)(viii) and 6(k) and 

(1), and not as paraphrased in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim. l ! 
!· 
I 

I 
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21. In response to paragraph 24 of Part I of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, the 

specific contents of the covenants referenced are set out in section ~ of Schedule "A" to the 
1· 

Sanovest Loan Agreement, and not as paraphrased in the Amende:d Notice of Civil Claim. 

Among other things, the Sanovest Loan Agreement does permit the Partnership to make 

payments out of the normal course, and to make payments and enga~~ in financial transactions 
' 

that are non-arm's length, with Sanovest's consent. 

22. In response to paragraph 25 of Part I of the Amended rotice of Civil Claim, the 

Property (as defined in the Sanovest Loan Agreement) may be managed by someone other than 

EBMD, for and on behalf of the Partnership, provided that Sanovest l~proves the manager and 

the management terms. 

4. Change to Sanovest Board of Directors and Nominee 

23. The genesis of the claims alleged in the Amended Noti
1
()e of Civil Claim is in an 
' apparent change within the governance Of Sanovest, the particulars \).f which are unknown lo 

Matthews but which are known to Sanovest. 

24. When the Bear Mountain Business Terms were negotiated, Tom Kusumoto 

represented to Matthews that Sanovest was "his" company, and that h~ had full authority to act 

on Sanovest's behalf. At various times, and from time to time, Tom i~usumoto involved Tian 

Kusumoto in various aspects of the Partnership. However, all decisions were made by Tom 

Kusumoto, who advised Matthews that Tian Kusumoto did not have aJthority to make decisions 

on Sanovest's behalf. Matthews understood and reasonably believed ~hat Tom Kusumoto was 

Sano vest's sole directing mind. 
I 

,, 
" 

25. On or around March 1, 2021, and unknown to Matthews at that time, Tian 

Kusumoto was added as a director of Sanovest. On June I, 2021, Tian!Kusumoto replaced Tom 

Kusumoto as Sanovest's nominee to EBMD. Subsequently, on or ardlund November 4, 2021, 

Tom Kusumoto ceased to be a director of Sanovest. 
i 
' I 

26. The claims alleged in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim arise from Tian 
I 

Kusumoto's new role as Sanovest's nominee to EBMD. As set out in rriore detail below, each of 
1· 

the matters raised against Matthews was known to and consented to b~ :sanovest at the material 

39583.160266.SBH.22985663.1 
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times. Sanovest, as currently directed by Tian Kusumoto, now seeks to resile from its prior 
I: 

corporate acts. In response to the whole of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, Matthews asserts 

that change in Sano vest's internal management does not and cannot create any viable legal claim 

based simply on disagreement with prior; validly authorized corporate acts. In the alternative, 
I, 

Matthews maintains that Tom Kusumoto had ostensible authority to '.act on Sanovest's behalf, 

such that Sanovest is bound by the authorizations and commitments T~.m Kusumoto made in his 

capacity as Sano vest's nominee to EBMD and its representative in Paj:ership affairs. 

B. Alleged Self-Interest Transactions 
i ,. 

27. In response to paragraph 30 of Paii l of the Amended Y:otice of Civil Claim, and 

as set out in more detail below, beginning in or around 2016, Mattijews and Tom Kusumoto 
' pursued a marketing strategy for the sale of the Bear Mountain project ~s an entire package. This 

strategy sought an en bloc transfer of the Bear Mountain Assets to a 1purchaser. Matthews and 
' 1· 

Tom Kusumoto considered that such a strategy would allow 599315 and Sanovest to benefit 

from strength in the market at that time and from the value added by the Partnership's land ,, 
development, ainenity improvements, strat,egic partnerships, and operat\pns work to that point. 

28. As part of this strategy, Matthews and Tom Kusumot~ also sought to exclude 
' certain assets from the "package" sale opportunity. Matthews understood and reasonably 

believed that their reasons for doing so included: (a) that certain asset~ :may have increased sale 

value if sold or operated separately; (b) to exclude receivables from a "package" sale (i.e., 
I 

without having to negotiate such exclusions as part of a general sale of Partnership assets); and 

(c) to exclude operations or opportunities that did not fall within the scb'pe of the Bear Mountain 
• ' 

Business Terms, Matthews understood and reasonably believed that; ,Tom Kusumoto, in his 

capacity as Sanovest's representative and its nominee to EBMD, shared, those objectives and was 

authorized by Sanovest to plan and carry ou~ the exclusion of certain asJ~ts from the Partnership, 

' 
29. In further specific response to paragraph 3 0 of Part I of: the Amended Notice of 

' Civil Claim, Matthews denies that any such transactions were done in preach of any duty owed 

to EBMD or otherwise. Matthews approved all such transactions oµ behalf of 599315. He 
' 

reasonably understood and believed that EBMD's other shareholder,' Sanovest, had similarly 

approved and authorized all such transactions. 

39583.160286.SBH.22985663.1 
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1. Bear Mountain Adventures 

I ' 

I• 
I 

' · ., 

125 

30. In November 2016, and in ;furtherance of the above l;trategy, Tom Kusumoto 

directed that Sanovest's legal counsel incorporate a new company ft- the purpose of holding 
' 

land and other assets associated with the potential dev~lopment of a gohdola from a base near the 

Hotel to the peak of Mount Finlayson (the "Gondola Opportunity"). I: 
I 

'r 
31. Although the Gondola Oppbrtunity could add significan~: value to the surrounding 

' lands, it would entail construction and operation costs that were not ??ntemplated by the Bear 

Mountain Business Terms. In addition, the Gondola Opportunity, as cdnceived at that time, may 

have required partnerships with the City of Langford, the Province oflBritish Columbia, and/or 

regional First Nations groups. Accordingly, when Tom Kusumoto prJposed to Matthews in or 
, 1· 

around 2016 that assets relating to the Gondola Opportunity be placed in a new company outside 

of the Partnership, Matthews did not have any objections or conceths. Tom Kusumoto and 
I 

Matthews discussed and agreed that the potential development of the Gondola Opportunity 
I 

outside of the Partnership would enhance rather than detract froi» the marketing of the 

Partnership's assets. 
I', 

32. Bear Mountain Adventuresttd. ("BMA") was incorpor~'ttd for this purpose on or 

about November 18, 2016. The shares in BMA were held equally by c?_mpanies associated with 

Matthews and Tom Kusumoto respectively: 50% by 1096501 B.¢. Ltd., associated with 

Matthews, and 50% by SJN Holdings Inc, associated with Tom Kusum9to. 

,, 

33. Matthews and Tom Kusumoto were the directors of aMA from incorporation 
I' 

until June 1, 2021, when Tian Kusumoto replaced Tom Kusumoto as a d,irector. 

'· I, 

34. Matthews understood and reasonably believed fr'.om Tom Kusumoto 's 

representations that Sanovest had authorized and approved the incorpbration of BMA for the 

purpose of holding assets connected to the Gondola Opportunity. Furthbr, the incorporation and ,, 
planned transfer of assets to BMA were known to some or all of SanoJest's other shareholders, 

and in particular to Tian Kusumoto. When advised in January 2017 thatlthe gondola site, among 

other properties, "will be placed into a new company with Dani. [Matthews] and Tom 

[Kusumoto]'s nominated companies as owners", Tian Kusumoto did not li tate any objection. 
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35. In response to paragraph 29 of Part I of the Amended ~otice of Civil Claim, the 
• I 

intention of Matthews and Tom Kusumoto in incorporating BMJ\i was not to conduct an 

"adventure business" separate from that of the Partnership. In ;~ny event, the Gondola 

Opportunity falls outside of the Bear Mountain Business Terms and its! ~evelopment or operation 

are not Partnership opportunities. 

2. Assignment of Reservoir Agreement 

36. The "Reservoir Agreement", as defined at paragraph 31 of Part 1 of the 

Amended Notice of Civil Claim, was an &greement entered into in or !around 2009 between the 

Capital Regional District (the "CRD"), and Bear Mountain Developmeht Holdings Ltd. and Bear 
. I 

Mountain Master Partnership (who then dwned the Bear Mountain A1$ets). The purpose of the 

Reservoir Agreement was for the CRD to provide compensation for rork associated with the 

construction of a water reservoir on Skirt Mountain (which work wa~ necessary to service the 

Bear Mountain development). Under the Reservoir Agreement, thej; Bear Mountain Assets' 

owners at that time were entitled to $4,771,240.50 in development cost charge credits. 

I' 
37. The Reservoir Agreement was assigned to the Partnership when it purchased the 

I 

Bear Mountain Assets. By May 2017, the remaining amount of the ~evelopment cost charge 
' I 

credits was $3,371,524.44. Therefore, and in order to protect this dtedit in any sale of the 

Partnership's assets, the Partnership assigned the Reservoir Agreemen\. to BMA by assignment 
' 

agreement made May 1, 2017 (the "Assignment Agreement"). Sandyest was at all material 
\· 

times aware of the Assignment Agreement: Tom Kusumoto executed the Assignment Agreement 

on behalf of the Partnership, in his capacity as Sanovest' s representative!' 

;, 
38. In response to paragraph 34 of Part 1 of the Amended. Notice of Civil Claim, 

neither Matthews nor Tom Kusumoto made any personal representatioh, express or implied, in 
I 

entering to the Assignment Agreement. In any event, the reference in th~ Assignment Agreement 
I 

to BMA as an "entity controlled by partners of Ecoasis" referred i to Matthews and Tom 

Kusumoto as the controlling minds of both the Partnership and BMA. 1}1atthews denies that the 

specific ownership structure of either BMA or the Partnership was relev~nt to the CRD's consent 

to the Assignment Agreement. '· 

I. 
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39. In response to paragraph 37 of Part 1 of the Amended~Notice of Civil Claim, in 
1· 

or around December 2018, the CRD and BMA entered into a further agreement for the 
I 

dissolution of the Reservoir Agreement, and for the payment tb BMA in cash of the 
I 

$3,148,874.44 in remaining development dost charge credits. The CRD'. paid those funds to BMA 

1· in 2019. , 

40. In response to paragraph 38 of Part 1 of the Amende!a Notice of Civil Claim, 

Matthews denies that Tom Kusumoto advanced any loans to him out bf funds paid through the 

dissolution of the Reservoir Agreement. Further, or in the alternative, l~n amounts advanced by 
I: 

Tom Kusumoto to Matthews were advanced under a separate agreerent between them, and 

cannot and do not engage Sanovest's legal interests in relation to the j~eservoir Agreement, or 

otherwise. 

,, 

3. Transfer of Gondola Property to ·.BMA 

41. As set out above, BMA was incorporated in November! 2016 for the purpose of 

holding land and other assets associated with the Gondola Opp~rtunity. The "Gondola 

Property", as defined in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, was the l~d identified for the base 

of the gondola, being a vacant approximate I-acre tract near the first teJ ;of the Mountain Course 
I. and held, at that time, by BMGC. 

. I 

42. From and after November 2016, Matthews and Tom kusumoto took steps to 
I 

assess the feasibility of the Gondola Opportunity and to seek out I partnerships with local 

authorities and First Nations. As these efforts progressed, they made arrangements in 2018 to 
I 

transfer the Gondola Property to BMA, as originally contemplated. i, 
1,, 

43. In response to paragraphs 42 and 44 of Part l of the Apiended Notice of Civil 

Claim, the stated value of $122,820 in the Form A transfer represented :the Gondola Property's 

assessed value in 2018. Matthews denies that the Form A transfer in any:way misstated the value 
I 

of the Gondola Prope1ty or that its value "may have been in the millions10•. The Gondola Property 

was and is not zoned for a gondola and would require significant additiohal density, among other 
,. 

things, to be developed. Any potential increase in value to the Gondola Property that may result 
': 

from the Gondola Opportunity is speculative and yet to be realized. 

I , . 
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I 
44. In further response to paragraph 44 of Part l of the Amended Notice of Civil 

Claim, Sanovest's allegation that the Gondola Property's value "may b;ave been in the millions" 
. I, 

when transferred is contradicted by Tian Kusumoto' s own statements at the material time. On or 
. I' 

around July 17, 2018, Tian Kusumoto recommended to Tom Kusumoto and Matthews that 

EBMD add in the Gondola Property (which he acknowledged was l''.excluded from the Bear ,. 
Mountain Assets) as an incentive to a potential purchaser during that ~urchaser's due diligence 

I 
period, stating "[t]he gondola site has little value". 

45. In response to paragraph 45 of Pait I of the AmendeH Notice of Civil Claim, 
I . ,, 

Matthews denies that BMGC or EBMD suffered any loss as the result 0f transfer of the Gondola 
11 

Property to BMA. The transfer was authoi-ized by the Partnership and by BMGC, including 
1, 

through Tom Kusumoto as the director appointed by Sanovest to both B:MGC and EBMD. 
' I 

4. Funding and Purchase of Bear Mountain Activity Centre 

1· 

46. In response to paragraphs 46 to 50 of Part 1 of the Amended Notice of Civil 
. I, 

Claim, Matthews denies that the proceeds of any construction loan fi~ancing were improperly 
I 

diverted for BMA's purchase of the Bear Mountain Activity Centre ("~MAC"), as alleged or at 

all. I 
I 
I 
I , 

• I 

47. The credit facility referenced at paragraph 47 of Part 1 of the Amended Notice of 

Civil Claim was originally issued to the Partnership on October 9, 201 ~. That credit facility was 
i 

increased by agreement made November 27, 2020 providing a further if4,000,000 in financing 

(the "Extension Agreement"). Any use· of the Extension Agreeme9' funds for the BMAC 

purchase was consistent with the terms of the Extension Agreement and was approved by the 
I 

lender, who had sufficient security in the Pinehurst lands. 

48. In or around December 2020, Partnership funds were atjvanced to BMA for the 

purpose of it purchasing the BMAC lands and buildings. BMAC is a c~mmunity centre facility, 

which was then known as the North Langford Recreation Centre and w~s owned by the City of 
I · 

Langford. The BMAC purchase had been a strategic priority for the ':Partnership, due to the 
I 
I 

access to land and facility space that it provided, sited at the core of the dfvelopment. 
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49. Sanovest was aware of and agreed to the Extension \Agreement, including by 

agreeing on December 3, 2020 to release its security on Pinehurst lots to permit the advance of 
I 

the Extension Agreement funds. Ultimately, the Extension Agreement funds were fully repaid to 
I 

the lender, reducing the total distributions payable to Sanovest in repayment of the Sanovest 
. I . 

Loan. As a result, the BMAC purchase was effectively financed by Sanpvest. 
' 
I 

50. The BMAC purchase was structured through BMA in i·rder to accommodate the 

terms of a "framework agreement" for the sale of the Bear Mountain Assets en bloc to a third 

party. Those negotiations contemplated multiple scenarios, includi ~ the potential separate 

purchase of BMAC, or the potential exclusion of BMAC from the assJts to be purchased. Thus, 

h . I. 
BMA was used as a vehicle to maintain t e BMAC assets under separate legal ownership from 

I! 
the Partnership. However, it was at all times understood and agree~ that BMAC would be 

I 

operated and funded as an asset of the Resort Partnership, and that any profits generated would 
I 

be treated as Resort Partnership revenues. 
i, 

5. BMAC Funding 

i 

51. In response to paragraphs 51 to 54 of Part I of the Amended Notice of Civil 
I, 

Claim, beginning when BMAC was purchased, EBMD provided the f~nds necessary to satisfy 
I 

BMAC's operational and capital expenditures. EBMD was indeed I _obligated to do so, in 
I 

accordance with the agreement to operate and fund BMAC as a Resort P
1
artnership asset. ,. 

52. In or around August 2022, Sanovest, as directed by Ti~n Kusumoto, and acting 

unilaterally, caused EBMD to cease advancing funds to BMAC, in~/uding from a BMAC-
1 

specific account held by EBMD. As a result, Matthews had to advance p:~rsonal funds, by way of 
I 

loan, to fund BMAC's ongoing operations (such as staff payroll). Sanovest's conduct in this 

regard is in breach of its duties to the Partnership and risks causing sigtficant loss and damage 
I, 

to the Partnership's reputation and goodwill and to the value of the BMAC asset. Matthews has 

suffered loss and damage as a result his expenditures taken in an effort {~ mitigate the effects of 

Sano vest's misconduct. Sanovest has also refused to permit property ta+s and other invoices to 

be paid, despite available funds to make such payments. 
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53. Matthews has repeatedly stated to Tian Kusumoto, as Sanovest's current nominee 

: • I 
to EBMD, that the Resort Partnership should formally acquire the BMIAC assets from BMA. To 

' ' date, Sanovest has refused to permit any such transfer of assets. 

6. Player's Peak Loan Proceeds 

54. In response to paragraphs 55 to 58 of Part 1 

I: 
' 
' ' ii 

of the Amended Notice of Civil 

Claim, in or around June 2020, the Partnership caused $1,000,000 inl .funds to be advanced to 
• ' . I 

Matthews personally (the "Advance"). The Advance was duly authonzed by EBMD's board of 
!, 

directors at that time, including by Tom Kusumoto, who communicate~ that authorization to the 

Partnership's external accountants. The purpose of the Advance 1!\s to provide funds for 

Matthews' use personally as an advance bri distributions to be made from the eventual sale of 

Partnership assets. Matthews requested, and was paid the Advance, o~ :the basis that his role in 

' leading the Partnership's overall operations occupied substantially all 9.f his working time for a 

limited annual salary. 

55. In specific response to paragraph 56 of Part I of the Amended Notice of Civil 

Claim, Matthews denies that the Advan~e was made in breach of di:iy obligation under the 
' 

"Player's Peak Loan" (as defined in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim~,. 
I 

56. Matthews does not and h~s never disputed the Advanbe, nor his obligation to 

account to the Partnership for the Advance from eventual distribJ:ions from the sale of 

Partnership assets. 
i· ,, 

57. Although the Advance was authorized by Sanovest at the time it was made, Tian 
! 

Kusumoto has more recently raised repeated complaints about the I Advance. In response, 
I 

Matthews has sought to engage with Tian Kusumoto with a viei,y to more specifically 

documenting the Advance's terms. To date, Tian Kusumoto has refuse~ !to engage in good faith 

in any such discussion. 
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7. Amounts "Due from Shareholder" 

58. In response to paragraph 59 of Part 1 of the Amended N6tice of Civil Claim, from 
I 

2016, and indeed earlier, amounts due to the Partnership from M1tthews personally were 

recorded in the Partnership' s financial statements. Such amounts inbuded goods or services 

procured through the Partnership that were for uses unrelated to the Pdrtnership business. At the 
1· 
0\ 

same time, Matthews regularly incurred Partnership expenses from pers;~nal funds. 

59. In further response to paragraph 59 of Part 1 of the A.mended Notice of Civil 
I 

Claim, Matthews specifically denies that any amounts were on accou~t of any renovation work 

at his home. 

' 
60. Sanovest agreed to, was aware of, and accepted the "du~: to shareholder" balance 

. I 
owing by Matthews. By agreement made with Sanovest (through Tom Kusumoto), the 

Partnership agreed that this balance would not bear interest and, if no~ ,repaid earlier, would be 
I 

payable from eventual distributions from the sale of Partnership assets. J. 

61. Matthews does not and has never disputed that there i~ a "due to shareholder" 

balance with the Partnership. Further; Matthews has acted in lr:eliance on Sanovest's 
I' 

acknowledgment and agreement that such amounts would not bear interest and would not be 
I 

immediately repayable. • 
I· 

7. Response to Alleged "SeH-Interested Transactions" 

I • 
62. In response to paragraph 61 of Part 1 of the Amende1 Notice of Civil Claim, 

Matthews denies that any of the above-described matters constitute "self-_interested transactions", 

as alleged or at all. At all material times, the above facts and matters ~roceeded by agreement 

within the Partnership and in a manner -consistent with the partners' bu~iness objectives. To the 

extent Matthews was bound by any substantive fiduciary or corporate duties to EBMD or 
I; 

BMGC, which is not admitted but is expressly denied, then Matthews ;cted in accordance with 

such duties, which are constrained by the context in which EBMD and BMGC operate, as legal 

vehicles for the conduct of Partnership business. 
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C. Alleged Disclosure Obligation 

I ' 
I• 

I• 

I 

63. In response to paragraphs 62 to 66 of Part 1 of the Xrnended Notice of Civil 

Claim, the referenced transactions were in relation to the property of l~he Partnership, in which 
Ii 

EBMD is merely a legal vehicle. In the circumstances, the disclosure re;quirernents of section 147 

of the Business Corporations Act, S.B.C. 2002, c. 57 are inapplicable. !: 
' i 

64. Further, and in any event, ,all of the referenced transactions were done with the 
I• 

knowledge and approval of Sanovest, whose nominee Torn Kusuiroto provided corporate 

approvals on behalf of both EBMD and BMGC. i•: 

65. If, contrary to the above, Torn Kusumoto was required I ~o but failed to seek out 

and obtain approvals from other Sanovest tlirectors or shareholders, Matthews had no knowledge 

• of any such requirement or failure to fulfiiI such requirement. At all ti~es from the inception of 

the Partnership and until June 1, 2021, Toin Kusumoto had actual authdrity, or in the alternative, 
I, 

ostensible authority, to approve and carry out corporate and Partner.ship acts on Sanovest's 
• . 1: 

behalf. 

i 
66. In the alternative, if Matthews held any disclosable interest under of section 147 

. !· 
of the Business Corporations Act, which is not admitted but is expressly denied, then the subject 

I 

transactions were procedurally and substantively fair, entered into in g~od faith, and in the best 

interests of EBMD or BMGC, to the extent that either held any cogniz~ble legal interest in any 
. I, 

such transactions. ! • 

D. Reporting Obligations 

67. In response to paragraphs "67 to 70 of Part 1 of the Aniended Notice of Civil 

Claim, Matthews denies that EBMD has refused to comply with any askect of Sanovest' s April 
1: 

11, 2022 demand for documents and records, or that Matthews has diree,ted any refusal or non-
1, 

cooperation by EBMD in that regard. Sanovest has at all times had I ~omplete access to the 

Partnership's financial records and banking information and Matthew~ has never restricted or 
" interfered with Sanovest' s ability to access these records. 
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1: 

68. In specific response to paragraphs 69(a) - (h) of Part I bf the Amended Notice of 
I. 

Civil Claim, Matthews says as follows: ; . 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

' 
[: 

EBMD has never refused to make records or books\· of account available to 

Sanovest, as alleged or at all. In particular, Sanovest has. full access to Partnership 
' ; 

financial information, including in the hands of its external accountant. This 

includes access to the gen6ral ledger and all financial ~tatements, and complete 
. . I 

access to the external accountant's services for the purpose of making EBMD-

related inquiries. Further, oh May 3, 2022, Tian Kusumdto, together with separate 

accountants he had retained, attended at the Partnership'~ office at Bear Mountain 
. I . 

on short notice. They were, similarly, provided with\ complete access to the 

available Partnership records that they requested. 

Matthews denies that he has directed any refusal or non-~ooperation by EBMD in 
I 

preparing financial reports; updates, or budgets. EBM]1l has regularly provided 

such information to Sano vest, and Sano vest has access \0 EBMD' s full financial 

information, as described above. The original busines~· plan, as developed by 
' Matthews and Tom Kusumoto, remains the current busin1y,ss plan. 
I« 

Matthews denies that EBMD has refused to provide financial information in 
' ' respect of the Bear Mountain assets and operations in re$ponse to any reasonable 

request made by Sanovest. • 1. 

I 
The requirement that EBMD provide detailed manageriient prepared financial 

I 
statements was waived by Sanovest prior to its demand 0µ April 11, 2022. Since 

that time, and as Sanovest is aware, the Partnership has J~en required to focus its 

efforts on reconciling past financial information. Sanov~st' s claim of failure to 
I. 

provide detailed management prepared financial statem~nts is not advanced in 

good faith, as Sanovest is fully aware of the pressing fJ~us on reconciling past 

financial information and the reasons for which curre~t detailed management 

prepared financial statements are not yet available. 
I 
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I' 

I 

The allegation that Matth~ws has instructed EBMD I .not to prepare financial 

statements for the Partnership since 2018 is lmowingl~:false. Sanovest has been 

advised by the Partnership's independent accountant, and is separately aware, that 

the delay in preparing updated financial statemen~~ is wholly outside of 

Matthews' control. 
,. 
i 
I 

Sanovest had in the past waived audits of EBMD's year~end financial statements. 
j. 

The waiver, if any, of any subsequent year-end financial statements is a matter to 

be determined among 599315 and Sanovest. 
I' 

Matthews denies that EBMD ~as refused to provi.de I financial information in 

respect of the Resort Partnership or other Partnership assets m response to any 
I 
' reasonable request made by Sanovest. 
I 
I 

Matthews denies that EBMD has refused to provide alily documents containing 
. I . 

assurances and informaiion in reiaiion to the Sanoves\ Loan Agreemeni or its 
,, 

supporting security. I· 
I, 

In response to paragraph 70 of Part 1 of the Amendeq Notice of Civil Claim, 

Matthews denies that he has directed EBMD to withhold provision of !jllY information to which 

Sanovest is entitled, as alleged or at all. 

Division 3 - Additional Facts 

70. NIA 

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT 

I• 
I 

I 
I 

' 
71. Matthews consents to the granting of the relief sought in );1"ONE of the paragraphs 

of Part 2 of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim. 

72. Matthews opposes the granting of the relief sought in par~graphs 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6 

of the paragraphs of Part 2 of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim. 
J. 

73. Matthews takes no position on the granting of the relief sought in paragraph 3 of 
I 

Part 2 of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim. 

i, 

I ,. 
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I 
Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

1· 

I, 
A. No Standing 

I , 
I 

ii 

In response to the whole of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, Sanovest's claim 
' i 

74. 

is, in substance, a claim alleging: ( a) harm to the Partnership; and 1 (b) breaches of alleged 
. . I 

fiduciary duties said to be owed to EBMD and BMGC. Sanovest has trot advanced, and has not 

sought to advance, any claim in the name of or on behalf of the Partner~hip, EBMD or BMGC in 
I 

respect of the alleged harm, loss, or breach of duty: Sanovest is not at lf'berty to claim, in its own 

right, for harm done to the Partnership, EBMO or BMGC. The Amentjed Notice of Civil Claim 

should be struck out for lack of standing. 1· 

,. 

B. Claims under the Business Corporations Act I, 
,. 
I , 

75. In response to paragraphs l to 7 of Part 3 of the Amend~,d Notice of Civil Claim, 
I 

Matthews denies that sections 142 or 147 - 153 of the Business Corpo,lations Act are applicable 

in respect of any Partnership acts alleged t~ be "self-interested transa~~ions". The acts were, in 

substance, acts of the Partnership and not of EBMD or BMGC, y<hich are not operating 

companies but legal vehicles for the conduct of Partnership business. EBMD and BMGC did not 

have ·any "material interest", or indeed any relevant beneficial iJierest in the impugned 

transactions or underlying assets. I 

I: 
76. In specific response to Sanovest's alleged reliance on se6tion .142 of the Business 

Corporations Act, section I 05 of the Partnership Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, cl.'. 348 expressly excludes 
I 

partners (which Matthews, in any event, is I).Ot) from the duties irposed on directors of 

corporations at common law or under section 142 of the Business Corpotations Act. 
I 

77. In the alternative, and in response to· Sanovest's alleged rbtiance on the disclosure 

requirements and related obligations in sections 14 ~ - 153 of the Busine~s Corporations Act, the 
I 

impugned transactions all occurred with the actual knowledge of \ ~nd approval by both 

shareholders: 599315 and Sanovest, through their respective nominees. fi1;1rther, and in any event, 

all of the impugned transactions were procedurally and substantively fAir, entered into in good 

faith, and in the best interests of EBMD or BMGC, who consented to the~. In the circumstances, 
I 

I 
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Matthews can have no equitable obligation to pay 

arising from such transactions. 

1·: 
compensation or account for any 

I ,, 

,, 

profits 

78. At all material times, Matthews acted honestly and reaspnably, in good faith, and 

with a view to the best interests of EBMD, BMGC and the Partnership., and exercised due care, 
I 

diligence, and business judgment that a reasonably prudent indiv:idual would exercise in 

comparable circumstances. Matthews reasonably relied on Tom KusuJoto's representations that 

he had authority to enter into and approve transactions on Sanovest's ~ehalf, such that Sanovest 

is bound by Tom Kusumoto's approvals on its behalf, and is barred \from asserting that Tom 

Kusumoto lacked authority in this regard. I• 
I 

C. Sanovest Not Entitled to Equitable Relief 

79. Matthews denies that EBMD or BMGC have suffered a~y loss or damage arising 
i 

from the alleged "self-interested transactions". As a matter of equity, S,movest is not entitled to . !, . 
claim compensation or an accounting of profits in connection wit~ corporate acts that it 

,I 

authorized. In the alternative, if Sanovest did not authorize some pr all of the impugned 

transactions, Matthews had no knowledge of any acts taken by ']:om Kusumoto without 

Sanovest's authorization. Based on Tom Kusumoto's position as1
; director nominated by 

Sanovest, his conduct, and his representations as to his corporate aut~ority, Matthews had no 
1· 

reason to know of any acts taken by Tom Kusumoto without Sano.vest's authorization, As 
I 

Matthews has not breached any alleged duty to EBMD or BMGC, or 1otherwise, he cannot be 
I 

liable for the compensation claimed. 
I 
I' 

80. Further, and in any event, Sanovest does not come befo~e this Court with clean ,, 

hands. To the extent Sanovest alleges that Matthews has breached duties owed to EBMD or 
I 

BMGC by authorizing transactions on behalf of 599315, Sanovest,, through its nominee, 

participated in the conduct of which it complains. Sanovest' s partiJipation in this conduct 
i 

precludes a finding that it is just and equitable that Sanovest be award\':d the equitable relief it 
I 

seeks in this proceeding. 
I' ,, 
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I· 137 
I 
1: 
I• 

D. No Breach of Reporting Obligations 
1: 

I, 
11 

81. Matthews denies that EBMJ:? or the Partnership has refµsed to comply with any 

reporting obligations under the Partnership Agreement, the Sanovl~t Loan Agreement, the 
. I ' 

Partnership Act, or otherwise, and denies that he has directed any refu'.sal or non-cooperation by 

EBMD in that regard. i ,. 

E. Limitations 

82. Sanovest is barred from seeking all, or in the alternative some, of the relief 

claimed in this proceeding by reason of estoppel, acquiescence, lache~, or unreasonable delay, 

and by operation of the Limitation Act, S.B.C. 2012, c. 13, and al'ly amendments thereto. 

Sanovest's knowledge includes all matters that were or ought to hdve been known to Tom 
. I 

Kusumoto in conducting Partnership business and in acting as Sanovestls nominee to EBMD and 
I 

BMGC. i 
I 

Defendant's address for service is c/o the law firm of Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of 
business and address for service is 1600 - 925 West Georgia Stf~et, Vancouver, British 
Columbia V6C 312 (Attention: Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C. / Gordon B. Brahdt). 

Fax number address for service is: (604) 669-1620. 

I' 
! 

I 
'· 

E-mail address for service is: cferris@lawsonlundell.com / gbrandt@law.sonlundell.com 
!. 
I 

Dated at the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia, this.5th day of May, 2023. 
1· ~ ,1- ~~ 

/L. :· '//V~ 
Lawson Lundell LLP. 
Solicitors for the Deifendant, 

. Daniel Matthews I 

I 
This Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim is filed by Craig A.B. ,Ferris, K.C. I Gordon B. 
Brandt, of the law firm of Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of bhsiness and address for 
delivery is 1600 - 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbi~ V6C 312. 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

j , 
,; 

" ' 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwik"e orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of t~e pleading period, 
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(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists i, 

(i) all documents that are or have been in \\he party's possession or 
control and· that could, if available, be us,ed by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and • • 

' I 
(ii) all other documents to which the party int,ends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 

I ,· 
' 

I, 
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NO. S-223937 
VANCOUVER REGISTRY 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and BM 
MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANTS 

TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO 

THIRD PARTY 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., TOMOSON (TOM) 
KUSUMOTO and TIAN KUSUMOTO 

DEFENDANTS BY WAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 

THIRD PARTY NOTICE 

O!:ii11W23 2307797 ROST 

DANIEL MATTHEWS (the "Claiming Party" or "Mattl\~s"y223937 

TO: TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO 

THIS ACTION has been brought by the Plaintiff against the Defendants for the relief set out in 
the Notice of Civil Claim filed in this action. 

TAKE NOTICE that the Claiming Party claims against you for the relief set out in Part 2 below. 
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IF YOU INTEND TO RESPOND TO tlris ,'.aim ,l.rns< yoo m if yoo hme , ee<-off m 
counterclaim that you wish to have taken into account at the trial, YOU MUST FILE a Response 
to Third Party Notice in Form 6 in the above-named '.registry of this court within the time for 
Response to Third Party Notice provided for below an/i SERVE a copy of the filed Response to 
Third Party Notice on the Claiming Party address for service. 

YOU OR YOUR LA WYER may file the Response to Third Party Notice. 

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the Response to 
Third Party Notice within the time for Response to Third Party Notice described below. 

Time for Response to Third Party Notice 

A Response to Third Party Notice must be filed and served on the Claiming Party, 

(a) if you were served with the Third Party Notice anywhere in Canada, within 21 
days after that service, 

(b) if you were served with the Third Party Notice anywhere in the United States of 
America, within 35 days after that service, 

(c) if you were served with the Third Party Notice anywhere else. within 49 days 
after that service, or 

(d) if the time for Response to Third Party Notice has been set by order of the court, 
within that time. 

CLAIM OF THE CLAIMING PARTY 

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Matthews repeats and adopts the facts set out in the Response to Amended Notice 

of Civil Claim. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms in this Third Party Notice are as 

defined therein. For convenience, certain definitions are repeated in this Third Party Notice. 

2. In the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, the Plaintiff claims against Matthews for 

alleged breaches of duty to EBMD and BMGC in relation to certain transactions ( collectively, 

the "Impugned Transactions"). The Plaintiff claims equitable compensation or an accounting 

of profits from Matthews and Tom Kusumoto, payable to EBMD and BMGC. 

3. The Impugned Transactions are summarized as follows, and are further described 

in the Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim: 

39583.160286.GBB.23110459.1 
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(a) 
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The assignment of the Partnership's inte+ st in a "Reservoir Agreement" with the 

Capital Regional District to Bear Mountain Adventures Ltd. ("BMA"), ultimately 
! 

permitting BMA to receive cash payme~ts from the conversion of development 

cost charge credits; 

(b) The transfer of the Gondola Property, an approximately 1-acre tract of land, from 

BMGCto BMA; 

( c) The alleged use of proceeds from a construction financing loan for the purpose of 

BMA purchasing the Bear Mountain Activity Centre ("BMAC") land and 

buildings, which purchase was ultimately financed by Sanovest when the external 

lender's loans were fully repaid from the proceeds of lot sales; 

(d) The Partnership's funding cif BMAC's operational and capital expenditures; 

(e) The advance to Matthews of $1 ,000,000 from the Partnership, alleged to be in 

breach of obligations under the "Player's Peak Loan", which advance Matthews 

acknowledges he is obligated to account for from eventual distributions from the 

sale of Partnership assets; and 

(f) Matthews' accrual of a balance "due from shareholder". 

Matthews has disputed all of the claims made against him in the Amended Notice 

of Civil Claim. With respect to the Impugned Transactions in particular, and without limiting the 

defences raised in the Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim, Matthews asserts that each 

of them were duly authorized by the Partnership, EBMD and/or BMGC, as the case may be, by 

way of Matthews' approval as 59931 S's nominee and by way of Tom Kusumoto's approval as 

Sanovest' s nominee. Further, Matthews asserts that Sano vest was specifically aware of and 

approved.each of the Impugned Transactions, and is therefore now precluded from asserting that 
\ . 

the Impugned Transactions, or any of them, were not in the best interests of EBMD or BMGC, or 

otherwise represented a breach of any duty owed to : EBMD or BMGC. In the alternative, 

Matthews asserts that the Impugned Transactions were ~uthorized by Tom Kusumoto, who had 

at least ostensible authority to act on Sanovest's • beha:lf, such that Sanovest is bound by the 

authorizations given. 

39583.160286.GBB.23110459.1 
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In proceeding with the Impugned TransLtions, Matthews relied on the following 
i 

representations from Tom Kusumoto made expressly, !by implication, or by his conduct, on his 

own behalf and on behalf of Sanovest, that: 

6. 

(a) Tom Kusumoto was a phncipal of Sanovest, such that information provided or 

made available to him cohstituted information known to Sanovest; 

(b) Tom Kusumoto had authority to bind Sanovest in respect of all matters connected 

with the Partnership, EBMD and BMGC; 

( c) Sanovest had knowledge of each of the Impugned Transactions and their 

consequences to Sanovest's interests; and 

(d) Tom Kusumoto had, on pehalf of Sanovest, authorized and consented to each of 

the Impugned Transactions; including by signing such documents, providing such 

authorizations, and otherwise participating in all matters required to effect or 

permit each of them. 

(the "Sanovest Representations") 

Further, Matthews reasonably understood and believed that Tom Kusumoto 's 

acts and approvals, in his capacity as Sanovest's representative and the director nominated by 

Sanovest to EBMD and BMGC, constituted Sanovest's approval to things done and matters 

authorized through EBMD and BMGC, including the Impugned Transactions. 

7. In response to the whole of. the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, Matthews has 

asserted that Sanovest was aware of and authorized each of the Impugned Transactions. 

However, if, in the alternative, Sanovest did not authorize some or all of the Impugned 

Transactions, Matthews had no knowledge of any acts taken by Tom Kusumoto without 

Sanovesrs authorization. Based on Tom Kusumoto's position as director nominated by 

Sanovest, his conduct, and his representations as to his corporate authority, among other 

circumstances, Matthews had no reason to know of any acts taken by Tom Kusumoto without 

Sanovest' s authorization. 

39583.160286.GBB.23110459.1 
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Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT I 

I. In the alternative, if the Impugned Trksactions were not duly 
' 

authorized by 

Sanovest, then Matthews seeks the following relief: 

(a) A declaration that Tom Kusumoto misrepresented to Matthews his corporate 

authority to act on Sano vest's behalf in approving the Impugned Transactions; 

(b) A declaration that the claimed loss, damage or unfairness to EBMD or BMGC 

arising from the Impugned Transactions, if any, was caused wholly or in part by 

the conduct of Tom Kusumoto acting in breach of his fiduciary duties, and duties 

of good faith, undivided loyalty and of disclosure to Sanovest, which duties arose 

from Tom Kusumoto's position as a director of Sanovest and Sanovest's nominee 

to EBMD and BMGC. 

(c) In the further alternative: 

(i) Judgment against Tom Kusumoto for any amounts that may be due 

due from Matthews as claimed in the Amended Notice of Civil 

Claim; and 

(ii) Contribution or indemnity from Tom Kusumoto for any amounts 

that may be due from Matthews as claimed in the Amended Notice 

of Civil Claim; 

(d) Interest pursuant to the Court Order Interest Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 79; 

(e) Costs; and 

(f) Such further and other relief as the Court deems just. 

39583.160286.GBB.23110459.1 
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Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

1. Matthews disputes the Plaintiffs claim a~ set out in Response to Amended Notice 

of Civil Claim. I 

2. If the Plaintiff has suffered loss, damage or expense, or has any claim to 

compensation in relation to the Impugned Transactions, as alleged or at all, then such loss, 

damage or claim arises solely by reason o_f Tom Kusumoto's: (a) breaches of duty to Sanovest, 

and (b) misrepresentations to Matthews as to his corporate_ authority to approve the Impugned 

Transactions on Sanovest's behalf. 

3. 

Act. 

In the further alternative, Matthews pleads and relies upon s. 4 of the Negligence 

Address for service of Claiming Party is c/o the law firm of Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place 
of business and address for service is 1600 - 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia V6C 3L2 (Attention: Craig A. B. Ferris, K.C./Gordon Br~dt). 

Fax number address for service is: (604) 669-1620. 

E-mail address for service is: cferris@lawsonlundell.com / gbrandt@lawsonlundell.com 

The address of the Registry is: 800 Smithe Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia V6Z 2El 

Dated at the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia, this 5th day of May, 2023. 

Lawson Lundell LLP 
Solicitors for the Claiming Party 

This Third Party Notice is filed by Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C. and Gordon Brandt, of the law firm of 
Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of business and address for delivery is 1600 - 925 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbi_a V6C 3L2. 

Rule 7-l(l) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

I 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Forrh 22 that lists 

39583.160286.GBB.23110459.1 
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(i) all documents that are or i have been in the party's possession or 
control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or dispmve a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 
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NO. S-223937 
VANCOUVER REGISTRY 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

BETWEEN:· 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. 

PLAINTIFF 

AND: 

DANIEL MATTHEWS ET AL. 

DEFENDANTS 

AND: 

TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO 

THIRD ·PARTY 

AND: 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. ET AL. 

DEFENDANTS BYWAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 

THIRD PARTY NOTICE 

'1LAWSON 
I.IILUNDEL~ 

Barristers & Solicitors 
1600 Cathedral Place 

925 West Georgia Street 
Vancouver, British Columbia 

V6C3L2 
Phone: (604) 685-3456 

Attention: Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C. / Gordon B. Brandt 
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This is Exhibit "I" referred to in the affidavit of Zhao 
(Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at Vancouver 
this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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AND: 

AND: 

AND: 

Filed by: 

TO: 

NO. S-223937 
VANCOUVER REGISTRY 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. 

PLAINTIFF 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and BM 
MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

DEFENDA1'1TS 

TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO 

THIRD PARTY 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., TOMOSON (TOM) 
KUSUMOTO and TIAN KUSUMOTO 

DEFENDANTS BY WAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 
05I1AY'.2:3 2307797 RDSD 
2111-22 s2239~;7 

COUNTERCLAIM 

DANIEL MATTHEWS ("Matthews") 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO and TIAN 
KUSUMOTO 

This action has been brought by the Plaintiff against the Defendants for the relief set out in the 
Notice of Civil Claim filed in this action. 

TAKE NOTICE that the Defendant claims against you for the relief set out in Pait 2 below. 
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IF YOU INTEND TO RESPOND <o tlre Claim made Ji,s< yoo ia tlris Co~wmlaim, o, ifyoo 
have a set-off or counterclaim that you wish to have t~ken into account at trial, YOU MUST 
FILE a Response to Counterclaim in Form 4 in the abov~-named registry of this court within the 

' time for Response to Counterclaim described below and! SERVE a copy of the filed Response to 
Counterclaim on the address for service of the Defendant bringing this Counterclaim. 

' . . 
YOU OR YOUR LA WYER may file the Response to Counterclaim. 

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the Response to 
Counterclaim within the time for Response to Counterclaim described below. 

Time for Response to Counterclaim 

A Response to Counterclaim must be . filed and served on the Defendant bringing this 
Counterclaim, 

(a) if you were served with the Counterclaim anywhere in Canada, within 21 days 
after that service, 

(b) if you were served with the Counterclaim anywhere in the United States of 
America, within 3 5 days after that service, 

(c) if you were served with the Counterclaim anywhere else, within 49 days after that 
service, or 

( d) if the time for Response to Counterclaim has been set by order of the court, within 
that time. 

CLAIM OF THE DEFENDANT BRINGING THE COUNTERCLAIM 

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. Matthews repeats and adopts the facts set out in the Response to Amended Notice 

of Civil Claim. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms in this Counterclaim are as defined 

therein. For convenience, certain definitions are repeated in this Counterclaim. 

A. Impugned Transactions 

2. In the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, the Plaintiff claims against Matthews for 

alleged breaches of duty to EBMD and BMGC in relation to certain transactions (collectively, 

the "Impugned Transactions"). The Plaintiff claims ·equitable compensation or an accounting 

of profits from Matthews and Tom Kusumoto, payable ~o EBMD and BMGC. 

39583.160286.GBB.23110570.3 
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' I 

3. The Impugned Transactions are summaritd as follows, and are further described 

in the Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim: I 

4, 

(a) The assignment of the Partnership's interest in a "Reservoir Agreement" with the 

Capital Regional District to Bear Mountain Adventures Ltd. ("BMA"), ultimately 

permitting BMA to receive cash payments from the conversion of development 

cost charge credits; 

(b) The transfer of the Gondola Property, an approximately I-acre tract of land, from 

BMGCtoBMA; 

( c) The alleged use of proceeds from a construction financing loan for the purpose of 

BMA purchasing the Bear Mountain Activity Centre ("BMAC") land and 

buildings, which purchase was ultimately financed by Sanovest when the external 

lender's loans were fully repaid from the proceeds oflot sales; 

(d) The Partnership's funding ofBMAC's operational and capital expenditures; 

(e) The advance to Matthews of $1,000,000 from the Partnership, alleged to be in 

breach of obligations under the "Player's Peale Loan", which advance Matthews 

acknowledges he is obligated to account for from eventual distributions from the 

sale of Partnership assets; and 

(f) Matthews' accrual of a balance "due from shareholder". 

Matthews has disputed all of.the claims made against him in the Amended Notice 

of Civil Claim. With respect to the Impugned Transactions in particular, and without limiting the 

defences raised in the Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim, Matthews asserts that each 

of them were duly authorized by the Partnership, EBMD and/or BMGC, as the case may be, by 

way of Matthews' approval as 599315's nominee and_by way of Tom Kusumoto's approval as 

Sanovest's nominee. Further, Matthews asserts that ,Sanovest was specifically aware of and 

approved each of the Impugned Transactions, and is therefore now precluded from asserting that 

the Impugned Transactions, or any of them, were not in the best interests ofEBMD or BMGC, or 
' 

otherwise represented a breach of any duty owed io EBMD or BMGC. In the alternative, 

39583.160286.GBB.23110570.3 
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Matthews asserts that the Impugned Transactions were tuthorized by Tom Kusumoto, who had 

at least ostensible authority to act on Sano vest's beh~lf, such that Sanovest is bound by the 

authorizations given. 

B. Authorization and Knowledge of the Impugned Transactions 

5. In proceeding with the Impugned Transactions, Matthews relied on the following 

representations from Tom Kusumoto made expressly, by implication, or by his conduct, on his 

own behalf and on behalf of Sanovest, that: 

6. 

(a) Tom Kusumoto was a principal of Sanovest, such that information provided or 

made available to him constituted information known to Sanovest; 

(b) Tom Kusumoto had authority to bind Sanovest in respect of all matters connected 

1Nith the Pa.l"ffiership, EBl'.1D and B~.1GC; 

(c) Sanovest had knowledge of each of the Impugned Transactions and their 

consequences to Sano vest's interests; and 

(d) Tom Kusumoto had, on behalf of Sanovest, authorized and consented to each of 

the Impugned Transactions, including by signing such documents, providing such 

authorizations, and otherwise participating in all matters required to effect or 

permit each of them. 

(the "Sanovest Representations") 

Further, Matthews reasonably understood and believed that Tom Kusumoto's 

acts and approvals, in his capacity as Sanovest's representative and the director nominated by 

Sanovest to EBMD and BMGC, constituted Sanovest's approval to things done and matters 

authorized through EBMD and BMGC, including the Impugned Transactions. 

7. In response to the whole of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, Matthews has 

asserted that Sanovest was aware of and authorized each of the Impugned Transactions. 
I 

However, if, in the alternative, Sanovest did not authorize some or all of the Impugned 
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Transactions, Matthews had no knowledge of any acts taken by Tom Kuswnoto without 
I 

Sanovest's authorization. Based on Tom Kusumotof s position as director nominated by 

Sanovest, his conduct, and his representations as to his corporate authority, Matthews had no 

reason to know of any acts taken by Tom Kusumoto without Sanovest' s authorization. 

8. The full particulars of Tom Kusumoto and Tian Kusumoto's knowledge and 

approval of the Impugned Transactions ·are known to Tom Kusumoto and Tian Kusumoto. 

Particulars known to Matthews include thdse set out immediately below. 

(a) Reservoir Agreement 

9. Tom Kusumoto executed the Assignment Agreement made as of May 1, 2017, 

assigning the Partnership 's interest in the Reservoir Agreement to BMA. Tom Kuswnoto did so 

on behalf of both the Partnership and BMA, and in relation to the former, in his capacity as 

Sanovest's nominee. 

10. Tian Kusumoto had actual knowledge of the Assignment Agreement, and knew or 

believed that the Assignment Agreement would result in development cost charge credits being 

paid out to BMA in cash. Tian Kusumoto authorized, or in the alternative, did not object, to Tom 

Kusumoto executing the Assignment Agreement as Sanovest's representative. He did so in the 

expectation of receiving, through Tom Kusumoto, a portion of that cash payment, either directly 

or through TRK Investments Corporation a company he controlled. The essential complaint 

underlying Sanovest's claim in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim is that Tian Kusumoto or 

TRK Investments Corporation did not receive any such payment. 

(b) Transfer of the Gondola Property 

11. Tom Kusumoto executed a· Resolution of the Directors of BMGC effective May 

10, 2019, authorizing an employee of BMGC to execute the documents necessary to transfer 

BMGC's interest in the Gondola Prope1ty to or as directed by BMA. Tom Kusumoto did so on 

behalf of BMGC, in his capacity as Sanovest's nominee. 

39583.160286.GBB.23110570.3 
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12. Tian Kusumoto had been aware that the : ondola Property would be transferred to 
i 

BMA since at least 2017, as set out in the Respon~e to Amended Notice of Civil Claim. 

However, Tian Kusumoto did not state any objection to that transfer. 

(c) BMAC Purchase 

13. As set out in the Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim, Matthews denies 

that the BMAC purchase was done in breach of any obligation under the Extension Agreement. 

However, and in any event, the full circumstances surrounding the Extension Agreement and the 

BMAC purchase were known to Tom Kusumoto, who on or about December 4, 2020, executed 

documents postponing Sanovest's security under the Sanovest Loan to the lender advancing the 

Extension Agreement funds. Prior to doing so, Tom Kusumoto had approved the Extension 

Agreement itself by executing an authoriiing resolution on behalf of EBMD in his capacity as 

Sanovest's representative. 

14. Tom Kusumoto was aware of and approved the uitimate purchase of BMAC s 

assets by BMA's nominee prior to the purchase and sale agreement closing on December 18, 

2020. 

(d) BMAC Funding 

15. Beginning in December 2020, EBMD provided the funds necessary to satisfy 

BMAC's operational and capital expenditures. At all times from December 2020 and until May 

31, 2021, Tom Kusumoto was aware of and approved such expenditures in his capacity as 

Sanovest's representative to EBMD. During this time, Tian Kusumoto was aware of these 

expenditures in his capacity as a shareholder of Sanovest and given his role at that time in 

assisting Tom Kusumoto with various financial matters relating to the Pai.tnership. Neither Tom 

Kusumoto nor Tian Kusumoto expressed any objection to EBMD funding BMAC's ongoing 

expenditures. 

16. Effective June 1, 2021, Tian Kusumoto replaced Tom Kusumoto as Sanovest's 

nominee to EBMD's board of directors. Tian Kusumoto requested and was appointed to the 

position of EBMD's "Chief Financial Officer". In that capacity, Tian Kusumoto was aware of 

and continued to authorize EBMD's funding of BMAC's operational and capital expenditures, 
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until he, abruptly and acting unilaterally; ceased doing so (knowingly interfering with the 

processing of a September 2022 payroll payment). Tii Kusumoto's conduct in ceasing such 

payments was for the improper purpose of exerting financial pressure on 599315 and Matthews, 

and not based on new information respecting the corporate purpose in continuing this funding. 

(e) Advance of Funds to Matthews 

17. Tom Kusumoto authorized .the Advance to Matthews in his capacity as Sanovest's 

representative to EBMD's board of directors. Toqi Kusumoto then communicated that 

authorization to the Partnership's external accountants. Tian Kusumoto was or ought reasonably 

have been aware of the Advance at the time it was made, and did not at that time raise any 

objection that the Advance was or would be ·contrary to the Partnership's obligations under the 

"Player's Peak Loan" or would otherwiie be detrimental to the interests of the Partnership, 

EBMD or BMGC. 

18. Following his appointment as Sanovest' s nominee on June 1, 2021, Tian 

Kusumoto has raised the issue of the "Advance" in order to further his and Sanovest's private 

interests, including by exerting pressure on Matthews to have the debt assumed by Sanovest and 

repayable at a higher annual interest rate. 

(I) Amounts due from Shareholder 

19. The accrual of "amounts due from Shareholder" has been reflected in the 

Partnership's financial statements at all material times. The arrangement by which amounts have 

accrued without interest and without immediate repayment obligation was confirmed, inter alia, 

by email dated June 5, 2020 from Tom Kusumoto to the Partnership's external accountant. 

20. Tian Kusumoto had actual knowledge of the accrual of "amounts due from 

Shareholder" from his regular review of EBMD's financial statements. He did not at any time 

object to such amounts accruing or assert that Tom Kusumoto was unauthorized to approve such 

accruals as Sanovest's nominee. 
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C. Misrepresentation 

21. By virtue of their business relationshib, Sanovest, Tom Kusumoto and Tian 

Kusumoto each owed a duty to Matthews to properly state Sanovest's authority in all matters 

connected to the Partnership, including the Impugned Transactions. 

22. In proceeding with the Impugned Transactions, Matthews relied on the Sanovest 

Representations. 

23. Matthews further relied on the absence of any objection by Tian Kusumoto to the 

Impugned Transactions at the time they occurred. In the circumstances, including Tian 

Kusumoto's knowledge of the Partnership's affairs, his role prior to June 1, 2021 in assisting 

Tom Kusumoto with various financial matters relating to the Paiinership, and his position after 

June 1, 2021 as Sanovest's nominee and the Partnership's Chief Financial Officer, Tian 

Kusumoto's failure to object to the Impugned Transactions constituted a representation: a tacit 

confirmation that the Impugned Transactions were properly authorized. 

24. If any of the Impugned Transactions proceeded without Sanovest's authorization, 

which Matthews does not admit but expressly denies, then the Sanovest Representations and 

Tian Kusumoto's additional representations were negligently made, in that they were untrue, 

inaccurate or misleading. Matthews' reliance on those representations in entering into the 

Impugned Transactions was reasonable in light of the acts taken by Tom Kusumoto to authorize 

and facilitate the Impugned Transactions, and the absence of any objection as to authority raised 

by Tian Kusumoto. 

25. To the extent the Plaintiff succeeds in any of its claims in respect of the Impugned 

Transactions, then Matthews will have suffered harm, loss and damage by reason of his reliance 

on the above misrepresentations, including, without limitation, the cost of any compensation 

payable and the costs of these proceedings. 
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D. Alleged Breaches of Duty 

26. As set out in the Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim, Matthews disputes 

that Sanovest has standing in this Action to assert claims for: (a) alleged harm to the Partnership; 

and (b) breach of alleged fiduciary duties s_aid to be owed to EBMD and BMGC. 

27. In the alternative, if the Plaintiffs claims are properly brought, and to the extent 

they have any merit, which is denied, theri Sanovest, Tom Kusumoto and Tian Kusumoto are in 

breach of their fiduciary and other duties to EBMD and BMGC by having authorized and 

approved the Impugned Transactions, or, in the alternative, by having failed to object to them. 

Sanovest, Tom Kusumoto and Tian Kusumoto would be liable to compensate EBMD and 

BMGC on the same basis as is claimed agliinst Matthews in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim. 

Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT 

1. Damages against the Defendants by way of Counterclaim for negligent 

misrepresentation; 

2. Damages against Tom Kusumoto for breach of warranty of authority; 

3. In the alternative and further alternative: orders that Sanovest, Tom Kusumoto 

and Tian Kusumoto pay equitable compensation to EBMD and BMGC, or account to EBMD and 

BMGC for any profit that has or will accrue to them as a result of the Impugned Transactions; 

4. Interest pursuant to the Court Order Interest Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 79; 

5. Costs; and 

6. Such further and other relief as the Court deems just. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

1. Matthews entered into the Impugned Transactions on the basis of the Sanovest 

Representations and Tian Kusumoto's additional' representations. To the extent those 

representations were untrue, inaccurate or misleadingi then Sanovest, Tom Kusumoto and Tian 

Kusumoto are liable to Matthews for all loss, harm and damage incurred or to be incurred as a 

result. 
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2. To the extent Tom Kusumoto lacked authority to bind Sanovest, or Sanovest is 
• I 

otherwise not bound by Tom Kusumoto's approval o~ the Impugned Transactions, then Tom 
i 

Kusumoto has breached the warranty of authority he provided to Matthews by failing to disclose 

any limits to his authority and is liable to Matthews for damages, harm and loss arising. 

3. To the extent Matthews cari be legally liable to compensate to EBMD and BMGC 

in connection with the Impugned Transactions, then Sanovest, Tom Kusumoto and Tian 

Kusumoto are liable to pay such compen$ation on the same legal basis. Such liability does not 

and would not give rise to any equivalent liability to Matthews, as the Impugned Transactions 

were all duly authorized by 599315 and Matthews had no reason to know that any acts taken by 

Tom Kusumoto to facilitate the Impugned Transactions were done without Sanovest's 

authorization. 

Address for service of the Defendant bringing this Counterclaim is c/o the law firm of Lawson 
Lundell LLP, whose place of business and address for service is 1600 - 925 West Georgia Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2 (Attention: Craig A. B. Ferris, K.C./Gordon Brandt). 

Fax number address for service is: (604) 669-1620. 

E-mail address for service is: cferris@lawsonlundell.com / gbrandt@lawsonlundell.com 

The address of the Registry is: 800 Smithe Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia V6Z 2El 

Dated at the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia, this 5th day of May, 2023. 

Lawson Lundell LLP 
Solicitors for the Defendant 

This Counterclaim is filed by Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C./Gordon Brandt, of the law firm of Lawson 
Lundell LLP, whose place of business and address for delivery is 1600 - 925 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days, after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 

39583.160286.GBB.23110570.3 



11 160 

(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 
control and that could, if yailable, be used by any paiiy at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 

39583.160286,GBB.23110570.3 



This is Exhibit "J" referred to in the affidavit of Zhao 
(Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at Vancouver 
this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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12-May-23 

No.223937 
Vancouver Registry 

BETWEEN: 

AND: 

Filed by: 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and 

BM MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

RESPONSE TO CIVIL CLAIM 

Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto (the "defendant") 

Part 1: RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM FACTS 
Division 1 - Defendant's Response to Facts 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANTS 

1. The facts alleged in paragraphs 1 - 29, 31, 32, 33, 37, 38, 40, 41, 42, 55, 56, 57, 
61, of Part 1 of the notice of civil claim are admitted. 

2. The facts alleged in paragraphs 30, 34, 39, 43 44, 45, 51, 53, 58, 62-66 of Part 1 
of the notice of civil claim are denied. 

3. The facts alleged in paragraphs 33, 35, 36, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 52, 54, 59, 60, 67-
70 of Part 1 of the notice of civil claim are outside the knowledge of the 
defendant. 

Division 2 - Defendant's Version of Facts 

BACKGROUND 

1. The Defendant Tomoson Kusumoto ("Kusumoto") was the founder of Sanovest 
Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest") 

2. In or around 2001, Kusumoto transferred his interest and control of Sanovest to a 
family trust, with his sun Tian Kusumoto as trustee. 

3. Between September 2013 and June 2021, Kusumoto was a director of Ecoasis 
Bear Mountain Developments Ltd. ("EBMD") and Bear Mountain Golf Course Ltd. 
("BMGC"), as the nominee of Sanovest. 
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4. Kusumoto did not receive any compensation for his work as a director for EBMD 
orBMGC. 

KUSUMOTO LOANS TO EBMD 

5. After the purchase of EBMD by the partnership of Matthews and Sanovest, 
Kusumoto from time to time advanced additional funds as loans to EBMD to 
cover operating shortfalls, and to repay debts. These amounts were tracked by 
EBMD on a ledger showing the amounts owing to Kusumoto (the "Kusumoto 
Loan Account"). 

THE POTENTIAL PURCHASE 

6. Starting in or about 2020, EBMD was negotiating with a potential purchaser for 
the assets held by EBMD and BMGC (the "Proposed Asset Sale"). 

7. The expected closing date of Proposed Asset Sale was around April 1, 2021. 

8. At all relevant times, Kusumoto expected that the sale would proceed, and that 
Defendant Matthews, as a shareholder of EBMD, would receive a portion of the 
sale proceeds (the "Proceeds"). 

9. The Proposed Asset Sale did not complete in April 2021 as Kusumoto expected. 

CRD REIMBURSEMENTS 

10. Kusumoto admits that the CRD reimbursement was assigned to BMA. However, 
he denies making any representation to CRD on behalf of BMA, and says that if 
any representations were made, they were made by the Defendant Matthews. 

11. Kusumoto says that he first became aware of the assignment of the CRD 
reimbursement to BMA, after the funds were transferred to BMA. Matthews, and 
not Kusumoto, arranged for the transfer of these funds to BMA. 

12. After Kusumoto learned that the funds were transferred to BMA, Kusumoto 
agreed that the funds could be partially loaned to Matthews, on the basis that the 
funds would be considered an advance against Matthews' interest in the 
Proposed Asset Sale. 

13. Kusumoto also agreed at that time to disburse 1.1 million dollars to himself from 
BMA. $700,000 of these funds were loaned to Matthews, at his request, and the 
remaining $400,000 was loaned to EBMD. 

14. At the time of the $400,000 loan to EBMD, the Kusumoto Loan Account was 
approximately $2,000,000, and the $400,000 loan was added to the account. 
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15. The above transactions were disclosed in advance to Kevin lsomura, who is a 
chartered accountant, and who was hired by EBMD and Matthews to provide 
financial oversight for EBMD. 

SALE OF GONDOLA PROPERTY 

16. Kusumoto admits that the Gondola Property was transferred into BMA from 
BMGC, which held the property in trust for the Partnership. 

17. Kusumoto says that the Gondola Property was transferred into BMA by Matthews 
without his knowledge. 

18. Kusumoto did not know of the transfer of the Gondola Property until after the 
transfer occurred . 

PINEHURST LOAN AND SALES TO BMA 

19. Kusumoto was not aware that the funds from a construction loan related to the 
Pinehurst development was transferred to BMA for the purchase of the recreation 
centre. 

20. Kusumoto was not aware of the terms of the construction loan, and whether or 
not they could be used outside the development of the Pinehurst project. 

RECREATION CENTRE 

21 . Prior to the purchase of the Langford Recreation Centre Matthews represented to 
Kusumoto that the recreation centre was being purchased at the request of the 
purchaser of the Proposed Asset Sale, so that it could be included as part of the 
Proposed Asset Sale, and that the purchase would be carried out in the name of 
EBMD (the "Recreation Centre representations"). 

22. The Recreation Centre Representations were false. 

23. Matthews misled Kusumoto, and made the Recreation Centre Representations 
knowing that they were false, or recklessly to whether or not they were true. 

24. In reliance on the Recreation Centre Representations, Kusumoto agreed to the 
purchase of the Recreation Centre. 

25. Kusumoto did not know until after the property was transferred , that it had not 
been transferred to EBMD. 

26. The Recreation Centre property was not transferred to BMA, but was transferred 
to Bear Mountain Adventures Nominee Ltd ., inc. No. 1277928. 
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27. Kusumoto was unaware that Matthews was transferring EBMD's funds to BMA or 
Bear Mountain Adventures Nominee Ltd., to satisfy the operational costs of the 
recreation centre. 

PLAYERS PEAK LOAN 

28. Kusumoto admits that he agreed that EBMD would loan $1 ,000,000 from the 
Player's Peak Loan to Matthews. 

29. Kusumoto agreed that EBMD could advance these sums to Matthews, based on 
representations from Matthews that he would repay the funds once the Proposed 
Asset Sale completed. 

30. This transaction was disclosed in advance to Kevin lsomura, who was hired by 
EBMD to provide financial oversight for EBMD. 

DIVERSION OF ADDITIONAL FUNDS 

31. Kusumoto was not aware of the unauthorized personal expenses, as alleged in 
paragraph 59 of the Amended Notice of Civil Claim, at the time they were 
incurred. 

32. The "Self-Interested Transactions" as that term is defined in the Notice of Civil 
Claim did not result in any personal gain to Kusumoto. 

33. To the extent that the Plaintiffs have suffered loss or damage in relation to the 
alleged Self-Interested Transactions, such loss or damage is attributable solely to 
Matthews and not to Kusumoto. 

Division 3 - Additional Facts 

34. N/A. 

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT 

1. The defendant consents to the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs NONE 
of Part 2 of the notice of civil claim. 

2. The defendant opposes the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs ALL of 
Part 2 of the notice of civil claim. 

3. The defendant takes no position on the granting of the relief sought in 
paragraphs NONE of Part 2 of the notice of civil claim. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 
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1. Kusumoto did not have a disclosable interest in any of the Self-Interested 
Transactions, as that term is defined in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim. 

2. Kusumoto did not breach a fiduciary duty to the Plaintiffs. 

3. Kusumoto has not benefited from any of the Self-Interested Transactions, as that 
term is defined in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim. 

4. No loss or damage suffered by the Plaintiff is attributable to Kusumoto. 

Defendant's address for service: Velletta Pedersen Christie 
41h Floor 931 Fort Street 
Victoria BC vav 3K3 

Fax number address for service (if any): N/A 

E-mail address for service (if any): 

Date: 12/May/2023 

service@victorialaw.ca 

Signature of . Eric Pedersen 
lawyer for de endant 

Rule 7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 
(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 

control and that could , if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial , and 
(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 



This is Exhibit "K" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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Vancouver 

22-Jun-23 

No. S-223937 
Vancouver Registry 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

BETWEEN: 

AND: 

AND: 

AND: 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. 
PLAINTIFF 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and BM 
MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

DEFENDANTS 

TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., TOMOSON (TOM) 
KUSUMOTO and TIAN KUSUMOTO 

THIRD PARTY 

DEFENDANTS BY WAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 

RESPONSE TO COUNTERCLAIM 

Filed by: Sanovest Holdings Ltd. and Tian Kusumoto (the "Responding Parties") 

Part 1: RESPONSE TO COUNTERCLAIM FACTS 

Division 1 - Response to Facts 

1. By way of general response to Part 1 of the Counterclaim, the Responding Parties say that 
Part 1 of the Counterclaim contains allegations that are statements of legal positions and not 
allegations of fact. This response to Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim responds to the allegations 
of fact in Part 1. Further: 

(a) Paragraph 1 of Part I of the Counterclaim is an improper pleading as it does not 
allow the Defendants by Counterclaim to know exactly what facts are being pleaded in 
support of the causes of action advanced in the Counterclaim. To the extent paragraph 1 of 
Part 1 of the Counterclaim does incorporate facts from the Response to Civil Claim, those 
facts are denied except as expressly admitted below. 

329480.00001 /298059804.2 
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(b) Paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 26 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim are a summary of other 
pleadings filed in this proceeding. As to paragraphs 2 and 3, which seek to summarize the 
Claim (as defined below), the summary is inaccurate and incomplete. 

2. The facts alleged in the following paragraphs of Part 1 of the Counterclaim are admitted: 
not applicable. 

3. The facts alleged in paragraphs 5-25, and 27 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim are denied, 
except as specifically admitted below. 

4. The facts alleged in the following paragraphs of Part 1 of the Counterclaim are outside the 
knowledge of the Responding Parties: not applicable. 

Division 2 - Responding Parties' Version of Facts 

1. The defined terms used herein have the meanings set out in the Amended Notice of Civil 
Claim (the "Claim"), filed by Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest") on March 20, 2023 or the 
Counterclaim unless otherwise indicated. For convenience, certain definitions are repeated in this 
Response to Counterclaim. 

The Parties 

2. The Plaintiff and Defendant by Counterclaim, Sanovest, is a corporation incorporated 
under the laws of Canada. 

3. Daniel Matthews ("Matthews"), who is both a Defendant and the Plaintiff by 
Counterclaim, is a businessperson who resides at 3480 Ripon Road, Victoria, British Columbia. 

4. The Defendant by Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto, is a businessperson who resides at 1397 
Matthews Avenue, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

5. Tian Kusumoto became a director of Sanovest effective March, 2021 and has, since in or 
about June, 2021, been a director and the Chief Financial Officer of Ecoasis Bear Mountain 
Developments Ltd. ("EBMD") and Bear Mountain Golf Course Ltd. ("BMGC"). 

6. Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto ("Tom Kusumoto"), who is both a Defendant and a Defendant 
by Counterclaim, is a businessperson who resides at 1727 Cedar Crescent, Vancouver, British 
Columbia. 

The Claim 

7. As set out in the Claim, Sanovest alleges that between January 2016 and June 2022, 
Matthews and/or Tom Kusumoto caused EBMD and BMGC to sell, assign or transfer valuable 
assets to Bear Mountain Adventures Ltd. ("BMA''), a corporation they controlled and owned 
during the material time period, or to Matthews personally, for no or inadequate consideration (the 
"Self-Interested Transactions"). 

8. The Self-Interested Transactions consist of the following: 

329480.00001/298059804.2 
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(a) the assignment of EBMD's and the Partnership's interest in the Skirt Mountain 
Reservoir Agreement (the "Reservoir Agreement") to BMA (the "Assignment 
Agreement"), pursuant to which the Capital Regional District ("CRD") made cash 
payments to BMA totalling $3,371,524.44; 

(b) the sale of the Gondola Property from BMGC to BMA for no or alternatively 
inadequate consideration; 

(c) the diversion of construction loan proceeds and lot sales relating to a development 
project known as "Pinehurst" to BMA, for the purpose of purchasing the Bear Mountain 
Activity Centre ("BMAC") for $3.575 million (the "Diverted Pinehurst Funds"); 

(d) the diversion of additional funds held by EBMD for the benefit of the Partnership 
to BMA for operational and capital expenditures relating to BMAC (the "Recreation 
Centre Funding"); 

( e) the diversion (not "advance", as characterized in the Response to Amended Notice 
of Civil Claim and Counterclaim) of $1,000,000 of loan proceeds to Matthews for his 
personal use and benefit (the "Diverted Players Peak Funds"); and 

(f) the diversion (not "accrual of a balance 'due from shareholder'", as characterized 
in the Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim and Counterclaim) of $400,000 to 
Matthews for his personal use and benefit, none of which related to the business of the 
Partnership (the "Unauthorized Personal Expenses"). 

9. Sanovest alleges in the Claim that the Self-Interested Transactions were not disclosed and 
approved in the manner required by the Business Corporations Act, S.B.C. 2002, c. 57 ("BC4"). 
More particularly: 

(a) the Self-Interested Transactions were conceived of, approved by and implemented 
by Matthews and Tom Kusumoto in their capacity as directors ofEBMD and, in the case 
of the Gondola Property, EBMD and BMGC, and in breach of their fiduciary duties to act 
honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of EBMD and BMGC; 

(b) by reason of their offices as directors ofEBMD, BMGC and BMA, and the 50% of 
the common shares of BMA that each of them held through their respective holding 
companies, and by reason of the personal benefit Matthews derived from the Diverted 
Players Peak Funds and Unauthorized Personal Expenses, at the material times Matthews 
and Tom Kusumoto each had a disclosable interest in the Self-Interested Transactions 
within the meaning ofs. 147 of the BCA; 

(c) in respect of each of the Self-Interested Transactions, Matthews and Tom 
Kusumoto did not disclose the nature and extent of their interest to the shareholders of 
EBMD and BMGC in writing, in the manner required by the BCA, or obtain approval of 
the Self-Interested Transactions by special resolution following such disclosure; and 

329480.00001/298059804.2 
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(d) the Self-Interested Transactions were not fair and reasonable to EBMD and BMGC; 
each of them were for no or inadequate consideration and were not in the best interests of 
EBMD and BMGC. 

10. As a result of the Self-Interested Transactions, Sanovest seeks an order in the Claim that 
Matthews and Tom Kusumoto pay equitable compensation to EBMD and BMGC, among other 
relief. 

Sanovest Did Not Consent to, Authorize or Approve of the Self-Interested Transactions 

11. Sanovest did not consent to, authorize or approve of the Self-Interested Transactions, as 
alleged or at all. 

12. Sanovest denies that it made the Sanovest Representations as alleged at paragraph 5 of Part 
l of the Counterclaim or, in the alternative, that if such representations were made by Tom 
Kusumoto, which is not admitted but expressly denied, that the representations can be attributed 
to Sanovest. 

13. In particular, and in response to the Counterclaim as a whole, Sanovest says that the 
knowledge of Tom Kusumoto and any consent, authorization or approval provided by Tom 
Kusumoto, or other conduct of Tom Kusumoto, cannot be attributed to Sanovest in circumstances 
where, as was the case with the Self-Interested Transactions, Tom Kusumoto was acting against 
the interests of Sano vest and not for the benefit of Sano vest. 

14. Further, to the extent Matthews relied on the Sanovest Representations or on the further 
understanding alleged at paragraph 6 of Part I of the Counterclaim that Tom Kusumoto's acts and 
approvals constituted Sanovest's acts and approvals, such reliance, in relation to the Self-Interested 
Transactions, was not reasonable. 

15. For greater certainty, Sanovest denies that it had knowledge of the Self-Interested 
Transactions, or alternatively, that it had full knowledge of all of the relevant facts concerning the 
Self-Interested Transactions and the nature and extent of Matthews' and Tom Kusumoto's interest 
in them. 

16. Sanovest's further response to the allegations concerning each of the Self-Interested 
Transactions is set out below. 

The Assignment Agreement 

17. In response to paragraph 9 of Part I of the Counterclaim, Sano vest says that the knowledge 
and conduct of Tom Kusumoto in relation to the assignment of the Reservoir Agreement from the 
Partnership to BMA cannot be attributed to Sanovest given that in the circumstances, Tom 
Kusumoto was acting against the interests of Sano vest and not for the benefit of Sanovest. 

I 8. In response to paragraph IO of Part I of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto denies that he 
had actual knowledge of the Assignment Agreement or knew or believed that the Assignment 
Agreement would result in development cost charge credits being paid out to BMA in cash, as 
alleged or at all. Tian Kusumoto was aware of the possibility that development cost charge credits 
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could be paid to EBMD by the CRD pursuant to the Reservoir Agreement, but he specifically 
denies having any knowledge that BMA would be the beneficiary of such payments by virtue of 
the Assignment Agreement or otherwise. 

19. In further response to paragraph 10 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto denies 
that he authorized or failed to object to Tom Kusumoto executing the Assignment Agreement "as 
Sanovest's representative", as alleged or at all. The particulars of the Assignment Agreement were 
known exclusively to Matthews and Tom Kusumoto and unknown to Tian Kusumoto. 

20. In further response to paragraph 10 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto denies 
that he had any expectation of receiving, through Tom Kusumoto or otherwise, a portion of any 
cash payment paid to BMA pursuant to the Assignment Agreement, as alleged or at all. This 
allegation of fact is wholly without foundation and Tian Kusumoto puts Matthews to the strict 
proof thereof. 

The Gondola Property 

21. In response to paragraph 11 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Sanovest says that the 
knowledge and conduct of Tom Kusumoto in relation to the transfer of the Gondola Property from 
the Partnership to BMA cannot be attributed to Sanovest given that in the circumstances, Tom 
Kusumoto was acting against the interests of Sano vest and not for the benefit of Sanovest. 

22. In response to paragraph 12 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, the lack of objection arises from 
Matthews' and Tom Kusumoto's failure to make full and complete disclosure of all relevant 
matters. In particular, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto represented to Sanovest and to Tian 
Kusumoto that the Gondola Property had no development value or other value to the Partnership. 

The Diverted Pinehurst Funds for BMAC purchase 

23. In response to paragraphs 13 and 14 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Sanovest says that the 
knowledge and conduct of Tom Kusumoto in relation to the Diverted Pinehurst Funds, including 
the use of such funds to purchase the BMAC, cannot be attributed to Sanovest given that in the 
circumstances, Tom Kusumoto was acting against the interests ofSanovest and not for the benefit 
of Sanovest. 

24. As set out in the Claim, the full particulars of the Diverted Pinehurst Funds are known to 
Matthews and/or Tom Kusumoto and are unknown to Sanovest. 

The Recreation Centre Funding 

25. In response to paragraph 15 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Sano vest says that the 
knowledge and conduct of Tom Kusumoto, including any authorizations or approvals he may have 
purported to give in relation to the Recreation Centre Funding, which are not admitted and are 
expressly denied, cannot be attributed to Sanovest given that in the circumstances, Tom Kusumoto 
was acting against the interests of Sanovest and not for the benefit of Sanovest. 

26. In further response to paragraph 15 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto denies 
that he was aware of the Recreation Centre Funding that occurred in the period between December, 
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2020 and May 31, 2021. Further or in the alternative, if Tian Kusumoto was aware of the 
Recreation Centre Funding during this period, he expressly raised objections to it. 

27. After Tian Kusumoto was appointed as CFO of EBMD in June 2021 and until 
approximately June 2022, Matthews refused or otherwise failed to take steps to provide Tian 
Kusumoto with signing authority on bank accounts held by EBMD for the benefit of the 
Partnership. Accordingly, Tian Kusumoto was unable to abate Matthews' continuation of the 
Recreation Centre Funding to BMA, despite raising objections to same. Tian Kusumoto denies 
that he "continued to authorize" expenditures to BMA during this period, as alleged in paragraph 
16 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim or at all. 

28. In further response to paragraph 16 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto denies 
that he "abruptly and acting unilaterally" ceased authorizing EBMD's funding of BMAC in or 
around September 2022 for the improper purpose of exerting financial pressure on Matthews or 
his holding company, as alleged or at all. Tian Kusumoto refused to authorize further and 
additional expenditures to BMA on the basis that they were not fair and reasonable to EBMD and 
contrary to the best interests of the company and Partnership. 

The Diverted Players Peak Funds 

29. In response to paragraph 17 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Sanovest says that the 
knowledge and conduct of Tom Kusumoto in relation to the Diverted Players Peak Funds cannot 
be attributed to Sanovest given that in the circumstances, Tom Kusumoto was acting against the 
interests of Sanovest and not for the benefit of Sanovest. 

30. In further response to paragraph 17 of Part 1 of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto denies 
that he was or reasonably ought to have been aware of the Diverted Players Peak Funds, as alleged 
or at all. The agreement to transfer $1,000,000 from EBMD to Matthews personally was made 
exclusively between Matthews and Tom Kusumoto and without the knowledge of Tian Kusumoto 
or Sanovest. Tian Kusumoto could not have raised an objection to a transaction of which he had 
no knowledge or awareness. 

31. In response to paragraph 18 of Part I of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto denies that he 
has raised the issue of the Diverted Players Peak Funds in order to further his and Sanovest's 
private interests, as alleged or at all. Rather, he has at all times raised matters of repayment of the 
Diverted Players Peak Funds (and indeed each of the Self-Interested Transactions), in a manner 
consistent with his fiduciary duties to EBMD and with a view to advancing EBMD's best interests. 

The Unauthorized Personal Expenses 

32. The Responding Parties deny that the Unauthorized Personal Expenses have been reflected 
in the Partnership's financial statements as alleged, The Partnership's financial statements have 
never included an entry of "amounts due from Shareholder" attributable to Matthews. 
Alternatively, if the Unauthorized Personal Expenses have been reflected in the Partnership's 
financial statements as alleged, which is denied, they were accounted for in a manner that was 
obscure or otherwise designed to avoid detection. 
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33. In further response to paragraph 19 of Part I of the Counterclaim, Sanovest says that the 
knowledge and conduct of Tom Kusumoto in relation to the Unauthorized Personal Expenses, 
including any authorizations or approvals he may have purported to give, which are not admitted 
and are expressly denied, cannot be attributed to Sanovest given that in the circumstances, Tom 
Kusumoto was acting against the interests of Sanovest and not for the benefit of Sanovest. 

34. For greater certainty, the Responding Parties deny any knowledge of the Unauthorized 
Personal Expenses or any arrangements in respect of same. 

35. In response to paragraph 20 of Part I of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto denies that he 
had actual or full knowledge of the Unauthorized Personal Expenses from his review ofEBMD's 
financial statements, as alleged or at all, or that he failed to raise objections. To the contrary, Tian 
Kusumoto objected to the Unauthorized Personal Expenses as soon as he discovered them, and 
has maintained that position since. 

36. The full particulars of the Unauthorized Personal Expenses are known to Matthews but are 
unknown to Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto. 

The Response to the Alleged Misrepresentations 

37. In response to paragraphs 5 and 21-24 of Part I of the Counterclaim, Sanovest denies that 
it made the Sanovest Representations, as alleged or at all, or that in law, they could amount to 
actionable misrepresentations. 

38. In further response to paragraphs 5 and 21-24 of Part l of the Counterclaim, Sanovest 
denies that it owed a duty of care to Matthews as alleged or, in the alternative, that it breached 
such duty. Sanovest says further that to the extent Matthews relied on the Sanovest 
Representations, which is not admitted but expressly denied, such reliance was not reasonable 
given the circumstances of the Self-Interested Transactions. 

39. In further response to paragraphs 21-24 of Part I of the Counterclaim, Tian Kusumoto 
denies that he owed a duty of care to Matthews as alleged or at all or that he breached such duty. 
In particular, Tian Kusumoto denies that he had knowledge of the Self-Interested Transactions, 
that he failed to object to such transactions or that any failure by him to raise objections in the 
circumstances is conduct that constitutes an actionable representation. Tian Kusumoto also 
expressly denies that Matthews relied on any representations by him before proceeding with the 
Self-Interested Transactions or, alternatively, that such reliance was reasonable in the 
circumstances. 

40. By way of alternative, if Matthews reasonably relied on the alleged Sanovest 
Representations or Tian Kusumoto's additional representations, which is not admitted but 
expressly denied, such reliance did not result in any damage or loss, which damage or loss is not 
admitted but is denied. 

4 l. In the further alternative, any such loss or damage that Matthews may suffer is solely the 
result of the conduct of Matthews and Tom Kusumoto in entering into transactions in which they 
were personally interested that were not fair and reasonable to EBMD and BMGC. 

329480.00001/298059804.2 
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The Response to the Alleged Breaches of Duty 

42. In response to paragraph 27 of Part I of the Counterclaim, the Responding Parties deny 
that they breached any fiduciary or "other duties" owed to EBMD and BMGC, as alleged or at all. 
In particular, the Responding Parties deny that they authorized, approved, or failed to object to the 
Self-Interested Transactions, as alleged or at all. 

Division 3 - Additional Facts 

I. Not applicable. 

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT 

I . The responding parties consent to the granting of the relief sought in none of the paragraphs 
of Part 2 of the Counterclaim. 

2. The responding parties oppose the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs I and 3-6 of 
Part 2 of the Counterclaim. 

3. The responding parties take no position on the granting of the relief sought in paragraph 2 
of Part 2 of the Counterclaim. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

The Counterclaim Allegations Do Not Disclose a Cause of Action 

1. In answer to the Counterclaim as a whole, the allegations made in the Counterclaim do not 
disclose a cause of action and cannot excuse, or permit compensation for, the consequences of the 
Self-Interested Transactions. Under the relevant provisions of the BCA, approval of the Self­
Interested Transactions required Matthews and Tom Kusumoto to obtain the consent of the 
shareholders ofEBMD and, in the case of the Gondola Property, EBMD and BMGC, as evidenced 
in a written shareholders resolution, after full disclosure - in writing - of the nature and extent of 
their interest in each of the Self-Interested Transactions. They did not do this. Tom Kusumoto 
was not Sanovest and Matthews cannot rely on the purported consent or approval of Tom 
Kusumoto, including because he was similarly conflicted in respect of the majority of the Self­
Interested Transactions. The Counterclaim's allegations in respect of consent, authorization, 
approval and misrepresentation all disregard the fundamental principles that consent or like 
doctrines require full disclosure of all relevant information by Matthews and Tom Kusumoto, who 
were fiduciaries and owed duties ofloyalty, full disclosure and the utmost good faith. The required 
full disclosure never occurred, and accordingly, no consent, authorization, approval - or claims 
for misrepresentation or breach of other duties based thereon, can be effective in law against 
EBMD, Sanovest or Tian Kusumoto. Such a conclusion would also be contrary to the principles 
of equity and public policy. 

The Responding Parties Did Not Make, and are Not Liable For, the Alleged 
Misrepresentations 

2. The Responding Parties deny that they are liable to Matthews for negligent 
misrepresentation, as alleged or at all. 

329480.00001/298059804.2 
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3. Sanovest denies that it owed a duty of care to Matthews as alleged or, in the alternative, 
that it breached such duty. In particular, Sanovest denies that it made the Sanovest Representations, 
that the Sanovest Representations could in law amount to actionable misrepresentations or that if 
such representations were made by Tom Kusumoto, which is not admitted and is expressly denied, 
that the representations can be attributed to Sanovest. Sanovest says further that to the extent 
Matthews relied on the Sanovest Representations, which is not admitted but expressly denied, such 
reliance was not reasonable given the circumstances of the Self-Interested Transactions. 

4. Tian Kusumoto denies that he owed a duty of care to Matthews as alleged or at all or that 
he breached such duty. In particular, Tian Kusumoto denies that he had knowledge of the Self­
Interested Transactions, that he failed to object to such transactions or that any failure by him to 
raise objections in the circumstances is conduct that constitutes an actionable representation. Tian 
Kusumoto also expressly denies that Matthews relied on any representations by him before 
proceeding with the Self-Interested Transactions or, alternatively, that such reliance was 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

5. By way of alternative, if Matthews reasonably relied on the alleged Sanovest 
Representations or Tian Kusumoto•s additional representations, which is not admitted but 
expressly denied, such reliance did not result in any damage or loss, which damage or loss is not 
admitted but is denied. 

6. In the further alternative, any such loss or damage that Matthews may suffer is solely the 
result of the conduct of Matthews and Tom Kusumoto in entering into transactions in which they 
were personally interested that were not fair and reasonable to EBMD and BMGC. The 
Responding Parties plead and rely on the doctrine of contributory negligence and on the provisions 
of the Negligence Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 333. 

The Responding Parties Did Not Breach Their Fiduciary or Other Duties 

7. The Responding Parties deny that they breached any fiduciary or "other duties" owed to 
EBMD and BMGC, as alleged or at all or that Matthews has standing to pursue such claims. 

8. In any event, the legal basis for Matthews• liability, as alleged in the Claim, is the failure 
by Matthews and Tom Kusumoto to disclose and obtain approvals for the Self-Interested 
Transactions in the manner required by the BCA, arising from their offices as directors of EBMD, 
BMGC and BMA, and the 50% of the common shares of BMA that each of them held through 
their respective holding companies, and by reason of the personal benefit Matthews derived from 
the Diverted Players Peak Funds and Unauthorized Personal Expenses. The Responding Parties 
owed no similar duties. 

Address for service of the responding parties: 

Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP 
550 Burrard Street, Suite 2900 
Vancouver, BC V6C OA3 

Fax number address for service (if any): n/a 

329480.0000 I /298059804 .2 
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E-mail address for service (if any): n/a 

Dated: 22-Jun-2023 

wyer for Filing Parties 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(l) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period; 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Fonn 22 that lists 

(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 
control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact; and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 

The Solicitors for Sanovest Holdings Ltd. and Tian Kusumoto are Fasken Martineau 
DuMoulin LLP, whose office address and address for delivery is 550 Burrard Street, Suite 2900, 
Vancouver, BC V6C 0A3 Telephone:+ l 604 631 3131 Facsimile:+ I 604 631 3232. (Reference: 
Andrew I. Nathanson, K.C./329480.00001) 

329480.00001/2980S9804.2 



This is Exhibit "L" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affinned before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 

178 



Vancouver 

22-Jun-23 

BETWEEN: 

AND: 

AND: 

AND: 

Filed by: 

179 

No. S-223937 
Vancouver Registry 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. 
PLAINTIFF 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and BM 
MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

DEFENDANTS 

TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., TOMOSON (TOM) 
KUSUMOTO and TIAN KUSUMOTO 

THIRD PARTY 

DEFENDANTS BY WAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 

REPLY 

Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest,,) 

In reply to: the Response to Amended Notice of Civil Claim filed by Daniel Matthews (the 
"Matthews Response") 

1. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used in this Reply have the same meaning given 
to them in the Amended Notice of Civil Claim or the Matthews Response. 

2. Sanovest disputes and denies the facts pleaded in the Matthews Response. 

3. In specific response to Part 1, paragraphs 8 and 9 of the Matthews Response, the parties' 
agreement regarding the acquisition and development of the Bear Mountain Assets is set out in the 
parties' written agreements, including the Partnership Agreement and the Sanovest Loan 
Agreement. 

4. In response to Part 1, paragraph 24 of the Matthews Response, Tom Kusumoto is not a 
shareholder of Sanovest and never was a shareholder of Sanovest at any time material to this 
proceeding. Tom Kusumoto was one of either two or three directors of Sanovest until in or about 
June 2021, when he resigned as a director of Sanovest. 

329480.00001/300320823.l 
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5. In response to Part I, paragraph 25 of the Matthews Response, Part 3, paragraphs 80 and 
82 of the Matthews Response and the Matthews Response as a whole, including the allegation that 
each of the matters raised by Sanovest against Matthews was known to and consented to by 
Sanovest or duly authorized by Sanovest, Sanovest says that the knowledge of Tom Kusumoto and 
any consent or authorization provided by Tom Kusumoto or other conduct of Tom Kusumoto 
cannot be attributed to Sanovest in circumstances where, as in the case of the Self-Interested 
Transactions, Tom Kusumoto was acting against the interests of Sanovest and not for the benefit 
of Sanovest. 

6. Further, to the extent Matthews understood that Sanovest was controlled by Tom 
Kusumoto, that Tom Kusumoto was the sole directing mind ofSanovest, that Tom Kusumoto had 
full authority to act on Sanovest's behalf or that Tom Kusumoto was authorized by Sanovest to 
carry out the exclusion of assets from the Partnership or to authorize any of the Self-Interested 
Transactions, which is not admitted but expressly denied, such understandings were not reasonably 
held and any reliance thereon, in relation to the Self-Interested Transaction, was not reasonable. 
The Self-Interested Transactions were so out of the ordinary as to require Matthews to inquire into 
the actual authority of Tom Kusumoto. Having failed to do so, Matthews is not entitled to rely 
upon any apparent or ostensible authority. 

7. In specific response to paragraphs 34 and 44 of Part I of the Matthews Response, the lack 
of objection arises from Matthews' and Tom Kusurnoto's failure to make full and complete 
disclosure of al! relevant matters. In particular, Matt.l1ews and Tom Kusumoto represented to 
Sanovest and to Tian Kusumoto that the Gondola Property had no development value or other 
value to the Partnership. 

8. By way of further answer to the Matthews Response, Tom Kusumoto was not Sanovest 
and Matthews cannot rely on the purported consent or approval of Tom Kusumoto to excuse or 
avoid the obligation to account or provide compensation for the Self-Interested Transactions, 
including because Tom Kusumoto was similarly conflicted in respect of the majority of the Self­
Interested Transactions. The allegations in the Matthews Response in respect of consent, 
authorization, approval and misrepresentation all disregard the fundamental principles that consent 
or like doctrines require full disclosure of all relevant information by Matthews and Tom 
Kusumoto, who were fiduciaries and owed duties of loyalty, full disclosure and the utmost good 
faith. The required full disclosure never occurred, and accordingly, no consent, authorization or 
approval can be effective in law against Sanovest. Such a conclusion would also be contrary to the 
principles of equity and public policy. 

9. Under the relevant provisions of the BCA, approval of the Self-Interested Transactions 
required Matthews and Tom Kusumoto to obtain the consent of the shareholders ofEBMD and, 
in the case of the Gondola Property, EBMD and BMGC, as evidenced in a written shareholders 
resolution, after full disclosure in writing - of the nature and extent of their interest in each of 
the Self-Interested Transactions. They did not do this. 

329480.00001/300320823.1 
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Dated: 22-Jun-2023 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 

(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 
control and that could, if available, be used by any part at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties ofrecord. 

The Solicitors for the Plaintiff Sanovest Holdings Ltd are Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, 
whose office address and address for delivery is 550 Burrard Street, Suite 2900, Vancouver, BC 
V6C 0A3 Telephone: +1604631 3131 Facsimile: +l 604 631 3232. (Reference: Andrew 
Nathanson, K.C./329480.00001) 
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Vancouver 

01-Aug-23 

BETWEEN: 

AND: 

AND: 

) No. 223937 
Vancouver Registry 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and 

BM MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

TOMOSON(TOM)KUSUMOTO 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANTS 

THIRD PARTY 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., 
AND: TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO and TIAN KUSUMOTO 

Filed by: 

Part 1: 

DEFENDANTS BY WAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 

RESPONSE TO COUNTERCLAIM 

Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto (the "Responding Party") 

RESPONSE TO COUNTERCLAIM FACTS 

Division 1 - Response to Facts 

1. The facts alleged in the following paragraphs of Part 1 of the Counterclaim are 
admitted: 2 and 3 

2. The facts alleged in the following paragraphs of Part 1 of the Counterclaim are 
denied: 1, and 4 - 27. 

3. The facts alleged in the following paragraphs of Part 1 of the Counterclaim are 
outside the knowledge of the Responding Parties: n/a 
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4. Except as expressly admitted, the Responding Party denies each and every 
allegation of fact contained in the Counterclaim, and puts the Defendant (Plaintiff 
by Counterclaim) Daniel Matthews ("Matthews") to the strict proof thereof. 

Division 2 - Responding Party's Version of Facts 

1. The Responding Party was the founder of Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest"), but 
transferred his interest and control of Sanovest to a family trust, in or about 2001. 
The trustee of the family trust is Tian Kusumoto. 

2. The Responding Party was a director of Ecoasis Bear Mountain Developments Ltd. 
("EBMD") and Bear Mountain Golf Course Ltd. ("BMGC"), as the nominee of 
Sanovest, from September 2013 until his resignation in June, 2021. 

3. The Responding Party did not approve the Impugned Transactions as Sanovest's 
nominee, nor was he acting, or purporting to act, at any time with actual or 
ostensible authority on behalf of Sanovest with respect to any of the Impugned 
Transactions. 

4. The Responding Party made no representations to Matthews as alleged in the 
Counterclaim, or at all. 

5. More specifically, neither expressly, nor by implication, nor by conduct, did the 
Responding Party represent that: 

a. he was a principal of Sanovest such that information provided or available to 
him would constitute notice to Sanovest of such information; 

b. that he had authority to bind Sanovest in respect of all matters connected 
with the Partnership, EBMD and BMGC; 

c. that Sanovest had knowledge of each of the Impugned Transactions and their 
consequences to Sanovest's interests; nor 

d. that he had, on behalf of Sanovest, authorized and consented to each of the 
Impugned Transactions. 

6. With respect to the Impugned Transactions, the Responding Party says, and the 
facts are, that: 

a. Matthews, and not the Responding Party, arranged for the transfer of the 
CRD reimbursement from the reservoir agreement to BMA. The Responding 
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Party only became aware of the assignment of these funds after they were 
transferred to BMA. 

b. The Gondola Property was transferred to BMA by Matthews without the 
Responding Party's knowledge or approval. Any purported resolution of the 
directors of BMGC, allegedly executed by the Responding Party, authorizing 
an employee of BMGC to execute the documents necessary to transfer 
BMGC's interest in the Gondola Property to, or as directed by, BMA was not 
intended to authorized the Impugned Transaction, and was misused by 
Matthews to carry out the transfer without the Responding Party's knowledge 
or approval. 

c. The Responding Party was not aware that the funds from a construction loan 
or revenue from lot sales relating to the Pinehurst development was 
transferred to BMA for the purchase of the recreation centre; nor was the 
Responding Party aware of the terms of the construction loan. 

Furthermore, Matthews misrepresented to the Responding Party that the 
recreation centre was to be purchased by EBMD, at the request of a 
proposed purchaser of the Bear Mountain assets, as more fully particularized 
in the Response to Civil Claim filed by the defendant Tomoson (Tom) 
Kusumoto in this action. 

Matthews misled the Responding Party about the purchase of the recreation 
centre and the Responding Party was not notified, and did not know, until 
after the property was transferred, that it had not been transferred to EBMD, 
but to Bear Mountain Adventures Nominee Ltd. (Inc. No. 1277928). 

d. While the Responding Party was aware that Matthews drew down 
$1 ,000,000 from EBMD's Bank of Montreal account for BMAC's operating 
costs, this was an operating loan for the recreation centre. The Responding 
Party did not authorise an outright transfer of EBMD's funds to BMA or Bear 
Mountain Adventures Nominee Ltd ., to pay operating costs, or capital 
expenditures, relating to the recreation centre. 

e. The Responding Party agreed that EBMD would loan $1 ,000,000 to 
Matthews, as an advance, on Matthews' representation that he would repay 
the funds advanced out of revenue from the sale of the Bear Mountain assets 
which, at the time, was expected to occur in or about April , 2021. 

f. The Responding Party was not aware of, nor did he authorize, any diversion 
of funds to Matthews, out of the $400,000 loaned to EBMD, or otherwise. The 
Responding Party became aware, in 2020, through David Clarke, the fo rmer 
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CFO of EBMD, that Matthews had charged personal expenses to the 
company between 2016 and 2019. These expenses were hidden from the 
Responding Party by Matthews until the disclosure by David Clarke in 2020. 

7. The Responding Party denies he owed Matthews a duty as alleged in paragraph 21 
of the Counterclaim, or at all, and says that even if such a duty was owed, which is 
denied, it was fulfilled by the Responding Party, and Matthews had knowledge of 
Sanovest's authority in all matters at issue. There was no act or omission, nor any 
misrepresentation , nor failure by the Responding Party to disclose any fact or matter 
that would lead to any misunderstanding by Matthews in regard to Sanovest's 
authority. 

8. The Responding Party further denies that he took any acts to authorize or facilitate 
the Impugned Transactions, as alleged in paragraph 24 of the Counterclaim, that 
could reasonably have been relied upon by Matthews. 

9. The Responding Party denies that Matthews suffered any harm, loss, or damage by 
reason of his reliance on any misrepresentations, or otherwise. 

10. The Responding Party denies that he breached any fiduciary or other duty owed to 
EBMD and BMGC, or that he is liable to compensate EBMD and BMGC on the 
same basis as is claimed against Matthews. 

Division 3 - Additional Facts 

1. N/A 

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT 

1. The Responding Party consents to the granting of the relief sought in NONE of 
the paragraphs of Part 2 of the Counterclaim. 

2. The Responding Party opposes the granting of the relief sought in ALL of the 
paragraphs of Part 2 of the Counterclaim. 

3. The Responding Party takes no position on the granting of the relief sought in the 
following paragraphs of Part 2 of the Counterclaim: n/a 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 



187 
- 5 -

1. The Responding Party did not make any representations to Matthews on his own 
behalf or on behalf of Sanovest, and is therefore not liable to Matthews for any 
allegedly untrue, misleading, or inaccurate representations, as alleged or at all. 

2. The Responding Party did not provide any warranty of authority to Matthews, 
expressly or by implication or conduct; he did not breach any purported warranty 
of authority allegedly so provided; and he did not fail to disclose any limits to his 
authority. There is no basis for the counterclaim made by Matthews in regard to 
any purported warranty of authority. 

3. Having provided no warranty of authority to Matthews, the Responding Party is 
not liable to Matthews for damages, harm or loss. 

4. Matthews has suffered no damage, harm or loss, and has no claim for any such 
alleged damage, harm or loss. 

5. The Responding Party denies that he is liable to pay compensation on the same 
legal basis as Matthews. It was Matthews, not the Responding Party, that 
orchestrated, facilitated or carried out the Impugned Transactions, without the 
Responding Party's knowledge, consent, approval, or authorization , and the 
Responding Party is not liable to Matthews, or any other person, under any legal 
theory, for any compensation which Matthews may be liable to pay as a result of 
his own acts or omissions. 

Address for service of the responding party: 

Fax number address for service (if any): 

E-mail address for service (if any): 

Date: 01 /Aug/2023 

Velletta Pedersen Christie Lawyers 
4th Floor - 931 Fort Street 
Victoria, BC V8V 3K3 

N/A 

service@victorialaw.ca 

Sig ature of W. Eric Pedersen 
la yer for filing party 

Rule 7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 
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(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 
(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 

control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 
(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 



This is Exhibit "N" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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No. 223937 
Vancouver Registry 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD 

DANIEL MATTHEWS, TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO, 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. and 

BM MOUNTAIN GOLF COURSE LTD. 

TOMOSON(TOM)KUSUMOTO 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANTS 

THIRD PARTY 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., 
AND: TOMOSON (TOM) KUSUMOTO and TIAN KUSUMOTO 

DEFENDANTS BY WAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 

RESPONSE TO THIRD PARTY NOTICE 

Filed by: Tomoson (Tom) Kusumoto (the "Third Party") 

Part 1: RESPONSE TO THIRD PARTY NOTICE FACTS 

Division 1 - Response to Facts 

1. The facts alleged in paragraphs 2 - 3 of Part 1 of the of the third party are 
admitted. 

2. The facts alleged in paragraph(s) 1, and 4 - 7 of Part 1 of the third party notice 
are denied. 

3. The facts alleged in NONE of the paragraphs of Part 1 of the third party notice 
are outside the knowledge of the third party. 
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Division 2 - Third Party's Version of Facts 

1. The Third Party denies that he authorized the Impugned Transactions as 
Sanovest's nominee. Further, the Third Party denies that he authorized the 
Impugned Transactions with actual or ostensible authority to act on Sanovest's 
behalf; or that he ever represented to Matthews that he had such authority to 
authorize the transactions. 

2. In response to paragraph 5 of the Third Party Notice, the Third Party denies that 
he made the representations alleged, or any representations, to Matthews, either 
expressly, or by implication, or by his conduct, either on his own behalf or on 
behalf of Sanovest. 

3. In response to paragraph 6 of the Third Party Notice, while the Third Party does 
not know what Matthews understood and believed, no action taken , nor 
representation made, by the Third Party could in any way be the basis for 
Matthews' alleged reasonable understanding or belief that the Impugned 
Transactions were done with the Third Party's, or Sanovest's, approval. 

4. In answer to the whole of the Third Party Notice, the Third Party says, and the 
facts are, that it was Matthews who orchestrated , facilitated or carried out the 
Impugned Transactions. Any involvement the Third Party may have had was as 
a result of Matthews' misrepresentations or subterfuge, and Matthews is solely 
liable for any losses which may be assessed as a result of the Impugned 
Transactions. 

Division 3 - Additional Facts 

1. N/A 

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT 

1. The third party consents to the granting of the relief sought in NONE of the 
paragraphs of Part 2 of the third party notice. 

2. The third party opposes the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs 1 (a) - (f) 
of Part 2 of the third party notice. 

3. The third party takes)no position on the granting of the relief sought in NONE of 
the paragraphs of Part 2 of the third party notice. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

1. The Third Party did not breach any duty to Sanovest as alleged, or at all, and did 
not cause or contribute to any loss or damage claimed by the Plaintiff. The Third 
Party is not liable to contribute to any loss or damage which the Plaintiff claims 
against Matthews. 
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2. The Third Party made no misrepresentations to Matthews as to his corporate 
authority to approve the Impugned Transactions on Sanovest's behalf and 
therefore, if any compensable loss or damage was suffered by the Plaintiff as a 
result of the Impugned Transaction, there is no claim for contribution or indemnity 
for any such loss against the Third Party. 

Address for service of third party: Velletta Pedersen Christie Lawyers 
4th Floor - 931 Fort Street 
Victoria, BC V8V 3K3 

Fax number address for service (if any): N/A 

E-mail address for service (if any): 

Date: 01/Aug/2023 

service@victorialaw.ca 

Sig ture of W. Eric Pedersen 
law er for filing party 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 
(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 

control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 
(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 



This is Exhibit "O" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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NO. ____ _ 

VANCOUVER REGISTRY 

· ~~,WEEN 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

TOM KUSUMOTO 

PLAINTIFF 

AND: 

DANIEL MATTHEWS 

DEFENDANT 

NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM 

This action has been started by the plaintiff for the relief set out in Part 2 below. 

If you intend to respond to this action, you or your lawyer must 

(a) file a Response to Civil Claim in Form 2 in the above-named registry of this 
court within the time for response to civil claim described below, and 

(b) serve a copy of the f iled response to civil claim on the plaintiff. 

If you intend to make a counterclaim, you or your lawyer must 

(a) file a Response to Civil Claim in Form 2 and a Counterclaim in Form 3 in 
the above-named registry of this court within the time for response to civil 
claim described below, and 

(b) serve a copy of the filed Response to Civil Claim and Counterclaim on the 
plaintiff and on any new parties named in the Counterclaim. 

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to fi le the response to civil 

claim within the time for response to civil claim described below. 

Time for Response to Civil Claim 

A Response to Civil Claim must be filed and served on the plaintiff(s), 

(a) if you were served with the Notice of Civil Claim anywhere in Canada, within 
21 days after that service, 

(b) if you were served with the Notice of Civil Claim anywhere in the United 
States of America, with in 35 days after that service, 

(c) if you were served with the Notice of Civil Claim anywhere else, within 49 
days after that service, or 

(d) if the time for Response to Civil Claim has been set by order of the court, 
within that time. 

NA TDOCS\64801540\V-1 



CLAIM OF THE PLAINTIFF 

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. The plaintiff, Tom Kusumoto is a business person with an address for service at 2000 -

250 Howe Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3R8. 

2. The defendant, Daniel Matthews is a business person with an address for service at 1600 

- 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3L2 

3. The plaintiff provided three (3) demand loans to the defendant between July 22, 2019 and 

February 10, 2020, documented by way of promissory notes made at Victoria, B.C., signed by 

both the plaintiff and the defendant. 

4. The particulars of each of the loans are as follows: 

(a) On July 22, 2019, the plaintiff loaned the defendant $250,000.00 CDN with a date 

of recall of October 31, 2019, at an interest rate of 5% per annum (the "First 

Loan"). Interest on the First Loan, calculated to July 31, 2022, amounts to 

$25,610.61 CDN. 

(b) On October 28, 2019, the plaintiff loaned the defendant $700,000.00 CDN with a 

date of recall of January 15, 2020, at an interest rate of 5% per annum (the 

"Second Loan"). Interest on the Second Loan, calculated to July 31, 2022, 

amounts to $97,427.42 CDN. 

(c) On February 10, 2020, the plaintiff loaned the defendant $635,000.00 CDN with a 

date of recall of May 31, 2020, at an interest rate of 5% per annum (the "Third 

Loan"). Interest on the Third Loan, calculated to July 31, 2022, amounts to 

$79,414.20 CDN. 

(collectively, the "Loans") 

5. The promissory notes require the defendant to pay to the plaintiff all reasonable costs of 

collection and attorney's fees if he defaulted on the Loans. 

6. The plaintiff has made a formal demand for repayment of the Loans and a plan for 

repayment from the defendant. 

7. The defendant has not provided a plan for repayment and has refused or neglected to 

repay the Loans in spite of demand being made and it now in default. 

2 
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Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT 

8. Judgment against the defendant for the Loans in the amount of $1 ,787,451.90 CDN. 

9. Judgment against the defendant for interest at a rate of 5% per annum, compounded 

annually, with respect to the Loans from the dates of recall, up to and including the date of 

judgment. 

10. An order for payment of the costs of collection on the loans including attorney's fees. 

11. In the alternative, interest pursuant to the Court Order Interest Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 79, 

on the amount of the judgment from and the dates of recall , up to and including the date of 

judgment. 

12. Such further and other relief as to this Honourable Court may seem just. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

13. The promissory notes are a valid and binding contract between the plaintiff and the 

defendant. 

14. The plaintiff is entitled to repayment on the Loans and accrued interest in accordance with 

the promissory notes and the demand made. 

15. The plaintiff is entitled to full legal fees in accordance with the promissory notes and the 

demand made. 

Plaintiff's address for service: 

Fax number address for service (if any): 

E-mail address for service (if any): 

Place of trial: 

The address of the registry is: 

Date: August 2, 2022 

NA TDOCS\64801 540\V-1 

Dentons Canada LLP 

20th Floor, 250 Howe Street 

Vancouver, BC V6C 3R8 

Attn: David Wotherspoon 

604-683-5214 

N/A 

Vancouver, B.C. 

800 Smithe S~BC -

Signature of David Wotherspoon 
Lawyer for plaintiff 
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Rule 7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action 
must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a List of Documents in Form 22 that lists 

(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, 
if available, be used by any party at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 

APPENDIX 

Part 1: CONCISE SUMMARY OF NATURE OF CLAIM: 

Debt claim. 

Part 2: THIS CLAIM ARISES FROM THE FOLLOWING: 

A personal injury arising out of: 

D a motor vehicle accident 

D medical malpractice 

D another cause 

A dispute concerning: 

D contaminated sites 

D construction defects 

D real property (real estate) 

D personal property 

D the provision of goods or services or other general commercial matters 

D investment losses 

~ the lending of money 

D an employment relationship 

D a will or other issues concerning the probate of an estate 

D a matter not listed here 

4 
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Part 3: THIS CLAIM INVOLVES: 

□ a class action 

□ maritime law 

□ aboriginal law 

□ constitutional law 

□ conflict of laws 

~ none of the above 

□ do not know 

Part 4: 

5 
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This is Exhibit "P" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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TOM KUSUMOTO 

PLAINTIFF 

AND: 

DANIEL MATTHEWS 

DEFENDANT 

RESPONSE TO CIVIL CLAIM 

Filed by: Daniel Matthews (the "Defendant") 

Part 1: RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM FACTS 

Division 1- Defendant's Response to Facts 

1. 

admitted. 

The facts alleged in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim are 

2. The facts alleged in paragraphs 3 - 7 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim are 

denied, except as specifically admitted below. 

3. The facts alleged in none of the paragraphs of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim 

are outside the knowledge of the Defendant. 

Division 2 - Defendant's Version of Facts 

A. The Parties 

4. The Defendant, Daniel Matthews is a businessperson resident in British 

Columbia, with an address for service in this proceeding c/o Lawson Lundell LLP, 1600 - 925 

West Georgia Street, V6C 312. 

2:3MAR23 2305237 RDSD 25 .. OC: 
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5. At all material times, Matthews· has been, and he remains, the president and a 

director of 599315 B.C. Ltd. ("599 Ltd."), a private, family-held company incorporated under 

the laws of British Columbia. 

6. The Plaintiff, Tom Kusumoto ("Kusumoto"), is the- elder member of the 

Kusumoto family, which conducts business through Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest"), 

among other entities. Sanovest is a company incorporated pursuant to the laws of Canada and 

registered extraprovincially in British Columbia. Kusumoto is the founder and was the long-time 

president of Sano vest and acted as Sano vest's representative in all dealings with Matthews and 

599 Ltd. until in or around April 2021, when Matthews learned that Kusumoto' s role as 

Sanovest's president and representative would be ·a:ssumed by his son, Tian Kusumoto. 

7. Matthews and Kusumoto had a long history of business dealings together, since at 

least 2010. Their business relationship was built on mutual trust and respect. They have worked 

closely together and have been successful in their shared endeavours. 

B. Bear Mountain Project and Loan Arrangement 

8. In or around September 2013, 599 Ltd. and Sanovest went into business together 

on the "Ecoasis" project at Bear Mountain in the Greater Victoria area (the "Ecoasis Project"). 

The Ecoasis Project involved, among other things, the development of a resort community and 

related amenities, including private residences, a hotel, golf courses, and other recreational 

facilities. The Ecoasis Project has operated through various companies, partnerships and Limited 

Liability Partnerships. 

9. Under the business arrangement,.Sanovest and 599 Ltd. have equal ownership and 

control in the Ecoasis Project. Sanovest agreed to provide financing, in the form of a mortgage 

loan, to fund the acquisition, development work and operations. Matthews was to lead the 

Ecoasis Project's overall operations. While Matthews would receive an agreed-upon salary for 

this work, that salary would be substantially less than his customary annual earnings. Matthews 

(and indeed 599 Ltd. and Sanovest) expected that far more substantial earnings would be realized 

from the sale of land and buildings in the Ecoasis Project. 

39583.160286.GBB.22889007 .3 
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10. In order to induce Matthews to lead the Ecoasis Project's overall operations for a 

limited salary, Kusumoto promised to lend funds to Matthews, upon Matthews' request, in such 

amounts as Matthews would reasonably require (the "Loan Arrangement"). The Loan 

Arrangement mirrored similar prior arrangements between Matthews and Kusumoto in relation 

to other development projects. Matthews agreed to the Loan Arrangement. It was expected, or in 

the alternative, agreed, that Matthews would repay these loans as and when profits were 

distributed from the Ecoasis Project or from other development projects involving Matthews and 

Kusumoto. At various times, and from time to time, between 2013 and 2018, Kusumoto loaned 

funds to Matthews in accordance with the Loan Arrangement. On some or, in the alternative, all 

of these occasions, the advances were documente<l with a promissory note that indicated a date 

for repayment. However, such dates were only notional; and the repayment was in fact subject to 

the terms of the broader Loan Arrangement. . The promissory notes were only used to 

memorialize the amounts and dates of the loans. All funds advanced under the Loan 

Arrangement were repaid in accordance with that arrangement. 

C. The Umbrella Agreement 

11. Iii. or around November 2018, Kusumoto and Matthews agreed to revise and 

replace the Loan Arrangement. In particular, they entered into an agreement having the 

following terms: 

(a) Kusumoto would advance Matthews a loan or loans in the aggregate amount ofup 

to $5,000,000, fundable. in full once real estate sales in Sanovest-involved 

projects, including the Ecoasis Project, reached $25,000,000; 

(b) Once the sales threshold had been met, Kusumoto would advance such amounts 

as Matthews requested from time to time (up to the $5,000,000 maximum); and 

( c) Matthews would repay to Kusumoto the amounts advanced from profits 

distributed to 599 Ltd. in a "Liquidity Event". The parties understood and agreed 

that a Liquidity Event would mean a substantial disposition of the Ecoasis 

Project's land and business, allowing for retirement of the project's debt and the 

realization of profits from the project. 

39583.160286.GBB.22889007 .3 
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(the "Umbrella Agreement") 

12. The Umbrella Agreement was made by way of a series of written communications 

between Kusumoto and Matthews, or, in the alternative, was made partially in writing and 

partially orally. 

13. In 2019, real estate sales reached the $25,000,000 amount and Matthews 

requested that Kusumoto advance funds under the Umbrella Agreement. Kusumoto advanced an 

aggregate amount of$1,585,000 to Matthews in three tranches, as follows: 

14. 

(a) $250,000 advanced on or about Jtily 22, 2019 (the "First Advance"); 

(b) $700,000 advanced on or about October 28, 2019 (the "Second Advance"); and 

(c) $635,000 advanced on or about February 10 - 12, 2020 by two successive 

payments (the "Third Advance"); 

(collectively the "Advances"). 

The Advances were each documented using promissory notes signed by both 

parties (the "Promissory Notes"). 

15. The promissory note for the First Advance states "[t]his loan is a demand loan and 

is due Oct 31, 2019". The promissory note for the Second Advance states "the loan will be 

repaid by Jan 15, 2020". The promissory note for the Third Advance states "the loan will be 

repaid by May 2020". 

16. The parties intended the Advances to be subject to the Umbrella Agreement and 

not demand loans, nor subject to the specific repayment dates stated on the respective 

Promissory Notes. 

17. Kusumoto did not advance the remaining $3,415,000 available under the 

Umbrella Agreement. Ultimately, following Matthews requests, Kusumoto advised Matthews in 

or around February 2021 that he would not be advancing further funds under the Umbrella 

Agreement. Kusumoto' s failure to do so has cal!sed and is causing loss and damages to 

Matthews. 

39583.160286.GBB.228B9007 .3 
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18. October 31, 2019, January 15, 2020, and May 2020 each passed by without 

Kusumoto making any demand for, or otherwise inquiring about, repayment of any of the 

Advances, or making any reference to the Promissory Notes. 

19. To date, and for reasons entirely outside of Matthews' control, there has been no 

Liquidity Event triggering Matthews' repayment obligation under the Umbrella Agreement. 

20. In or about early January 2022, Kusumoto demanded repayment of the Advances, 

purporting to rely on the repayment dates stated on the Promissory Notes. In response, Matthews 

confirmed receipt of the Advances and that repayment was not yet required pursuant to the 

Umbrella Agreement. This remains the case. 

Division 3 - Ad~itional Facts 

1. NIA 

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT 

1. The Defendant consents to the granting of the relief sought in NONE of the 

paragraphs of Part 2 of the Notice of Civil Claim. 

2. The Defendant opposes the granting of the relief sought in ALL of the paragraphs 

of Part 2 of the Notice of Civil Claim. 

3. The Defendant takes no position on the granting of the relief sought in NONE of 

the paragraphs of Part 2 of the Notice of Civil Claim. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

1. The Umbrella Agreement is a binding contract between the parties and its terms 

supersede any repayment dates stated on the Promissory Notes. 

2. 

made. 

3. 

The Umbrella Agreement was in force at the time each of the Advances was 

In the alternative, each of the Promissory Notes documents a contract that is 

collateral to and subject to the Umbrella Agreement. In the further alternative, the Umbrella 

39583.160286.GBB.22889007.3 
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Agreement and the Promissory Notes must be considered as a unified contract consisting of a 

total package of interrelated rights and obligations. 

4. Further, the Promissory Notes must be interpreted m light of the Umbrella 

Agreement and of the prior Loan Arrangement between the parties. 

5. Pursuant to the terms of the Umbrella Agreement, the Advances are not due until 

the occurrence of a Liquidity Event, which has tj.ot yet occurred. 

6. In the alternative, the recall ·dates st~ted on the Promissory Notes are subject to 

the requirement that a Liquidity Event have occurred by such date, failing which the Promissory 

Notes cannot be recalled until the occurrence of a Liquidity Event. 

7. In the further alternative, there is an implied condition precedent in each of the 

Promissory Notes that a Liquidity Event have occurred before Matthews is required to repay any 

of the Advances. 

8. As no Liquidity Event has occurred since the Advances were made, Matthews 

cannot be in default under the Umbrella Agreement or the Promissory Notes. Kusumoto's 

purported demand is invalid, and he is not currently entitled to repayment. 

9. In the alternative, Kusumoto is prevented by the doctrine of estoppel from 

demanding repayment of the Advances at this time. In particular, but without limiting the 

generality of the foregoing, Kusumoto is estopped from demanding repayment of the Advances 

in circumstances where no Liquidity Event has occurred. 

10. In any event, the Promissory Notes do not entitle Kusumoto to have his legal fees 

of this proceeding paid by Matthews. 

Defendant's address for service is c/o the law firm of Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of 
business and address for service is 1600 - 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia V6C 312 (Attention: Craig A.B. Ferris,"K.C./Gordon Brandt). 

Fax number address for service is: (604) 669-1620. 

E-mail address for service is: cferris@lawsonlundell.com: gbrandt@lawsonlundell.com 

39583, 160286.GBB.22889007.3 
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Dated at the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia, this 23rd day of March, 
2023. 

Lawson Lundell LLP 
Solicitors for the Defendant, 
Daniel Matthews 

This Response to Civil Claim is filed by Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C. and Gordon Brandt of the law 
firm of Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of business and address for delivery is 1600 - 925 
West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 312. 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 3 5 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 

(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 
control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 

39583.160286. GBB.22889007 .3 



NO. VLC-S-S-226218 
V ANCOlNER REGISTRY 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH 
COLUMBIA 

BETWEEN: 

AND: 

GBB 

TOM KUSUMOTO 

DANIEL 
MATTHEWS 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANT 

RESPONSE TO CIVIL CLAIM 

~LAWSON 
/aLUNDEL~ 
Barristers & Solicitors 
1600 Cathedral Place 

925 West Georgia Street 
Vancouver, British Colwnbia 

V6C 3L2 
Phone: (604) 685-3456 

Attention: Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C. 
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This is Exhibit "Q" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affomed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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NO. VLC-S-S-226218 
VANCOUVER REGISTRY 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

BETWEEN: 

TOM KUSUMOTO 

PLAINTIFF 

AND: 

DANIEL MATTHEWS 

DEFENDANT 

AND: 

TOM KUSUMOTO 

DEFENDANT BY WAY OF COUNTERCLAIM 

Filed by: 

TO: 

Daniel Matthews 

Tom Kusumoto 

COUNTERCLAIM 

This action has been brought by the Plaintiff against the Defendant for the relief set out in the 
Notice of Civil Claim filed in this action. 

TAKE NOTICE that the Defendant claims against you for the relief set out in Part 2 below. 

IF YOU INTEND TO RESPOND to the claim made against you in this Counterclaim, or if you 
have a set-off or counterclaim that you wish to have taken into account at trial, YOU MUST 
FILE a Response to Counterclaim in Form 4 in the above-named registry of this court within the 
time for Response to Counterclaim described below and SERVE a copy of the filed Response to 
Counterclaim on the address for service of the Defendant bringing this Counterclaim. 

YOU OR YOUR LA WYER may file the Response to Counterclaim. 

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the Response to 
Counterclaim within the time for Response to Counterclaim described below. 

23M;-J:23 2305232 F:DSD 
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Time for Response to Counterclaim 

A Response to Counterclaim must be filed • and served on the Defendant bringing this 
Counterclaim, 

(a) if you were served with the Coiµ1terclaim anywhere in Canada, within 21 days 
after that service, 

(b) if you were served with the Counterclaim anywhere in the United States of 
America, within 35 days after that service, 

( c) if you were served with the Counterclaim anywhere else, within 49 days after that 
service, or 

( d) if the time for Response to Counterclaim has been set by order of the court, within 
that time. 

CLAIM OF THE DEFENDANT BRINGING THE COUNTERCLAIM 

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. Matthews, the Defendant and Plaintiff by way of Counterclaim, repeats and relies 

upon the allegations of fact set out in Part 1 of the Response to Civil Claim. Unless otherwise 

stated herein, capitalized terms are as defined in the Response to Civil Claim. 

2. As set out in the Response to Civil Claim, Kusumoto advanced $1,585,000 to 

Matthews between July 2019 and February 2020 under the Umbrella Agreement. 

3. Between June 2020 and February 2021, Matthews made further requests to 

Kusumoto under the Umbrella Agreement, for advances up to the $5,000,000 ceiling of that 

agreement. Ultimately, Kusumoto advised Matthews in or around February 2021 that he would 

not be advancing further funds under the Umbrella Agreement. 

4. As a result of Kusumoto's failure to advance the full $5,000,000 under the 

Umbrella Agreement, despite Matthews' requests, Matthews has suffered loss and damages, 

including, but not limited to, financial losses, loss of business opportunities, and time and 

expense (including financing charges and interest) incurred in obtaining financing from other 

sources. 

39583.160286,CAF .21992986.3 
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Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT 

I. Damages for breach of the Umbrella Agreement. 

2. Interest pursuant to the Court Order Interest Act, RSBC 1996, c. 79. 

3. Costs. 

4. Such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

I. The Umbrella Agreement is a binding contract between Kusumoto and Matthews. 

2. Kusumoto's failure to advance additional funds under the Umbrella Agreement, 

beyond the Advances of $1,585,000, despite Matthews' requests for same, constitutes a breach 

of the Umbrella Agreement. 

3. Matthews has suffered loss and damages, and is continuing to suffer loss and 

damages, as a result ofKusumoto's breach of the Umbrella Agreement. 

Address for service of the Defendant bringing this Counterclaim is c/o the law firm of Lawson 
Lundell LLP, whose place of business and address for service is 1600 - 925 West Georgia Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2 (Attention: Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C., and Gordon 
Brandt). 

Fax number address for service is: (604) 669-1620. 

E-mail address for service is: cferris@lawsonlundell.com; gbrandt@lawsonlundell.com 

The address of the Registry is: 800 Smithe Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia V6Z 2El 

Dated at the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia, this 23rd day of March, 
2023. 

39583.160286,CAF .21992986.3 

Lawson Lundell LLP 
Solicitors for the Defendant, 
Daniel Matthews 



This Counterclaim is filed by Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C., and Gordon Brandt of the law firm of 
Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of business and address for delivery is 1600 - 925 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 

(i) 

(ii) 

all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 
control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties ofrecord. 

39583.160,286.CAF .21992986.3 



This is Exhibit "R" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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No.226218 
Vancouver Registry 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

BETWEEN: 

AND: 

Filed by: 

Part 1: 

TOM KUSUMOTO 

DANIEL MATTHEWS 

RESPONSE TO COUNTERCLAIM 

The Plaintiff, Tom Kusumoto (the "responding party") 

RESPONSE TO COUNTERCLAIM FACTS 

Division 1 - Response to Facts 

PLAINTIFF 

DEFENDANT 

1. The facts alleged in paragraphs nil of Part 1 of the counterclaim are admitted. 

2. The facts alleged in paragraphs all of Part 1 of the counterclaim are denied. 

3. The facts alleged in paragraphs nil of Part 1 of the counterclaim are outside the 
knowledge of the responding party. 

Division 2 - Responding Party's Version of Facts 

1. The Plaintiff Tom Kusumoto ("Kusumoto") denies each and every allegation in 
the Counterclaim, unless specifically admitted, and puts the Defendant Daniel 
Matthews to the strict proof thereof. 

2. Kusumoto repeats the allegations of fact, and adopts the terms defined, in the 
Notice of Civil Claim, including any amendments thereto. 

3. Kusumoto denies entering into the Loan Arrangement as alleged in the 
Response to Civil Claim and incorporated into the Counterclaim, or at all, and 
puts the Defendant to the strict proof thereof. 

4. Kusumoto further denies that the Defendant accepted a lower salary for his work 
on the Ecoasis development, in exchange for receiving loans from Kusumoto. 
Rather, the Defendant has been well compensated for his work on the Ecoasis 
development. 
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5. Kusumoto pleads, and the facts are, that at various times prior to 2019, 
Kusumoto lent funds to the Defendant and these loans were recorded in written 
promissory notes. From time to time the Defendant was late in repaying loans 
and Kusumoto, voluntarily and without obligation, extended forbearance to the 
Defendant. The Defendant ultimately repaid the funds he borrowed from 
Kusumoto prior to 2019. 

6. In response to the whole of the Response to Civil Claim and Counterclaim, 
Kusumoto denies entering into the Umbrella Agreement as alleged in the 
counterclaim, or at all , and puts the Defendant to the strict proof thereof. 

7. In particular, Kusumoto denies having an ongoing obligation to advance funds to 
the Defendant. Rather, all funds loaned by Kusumoto to the Defendant were 
voluntarily advanced, subject to the specific terms agreed upon between 
Kusumoto and the Defendant at the time of each respective loan. 

8. Kusumoto denies that the Loans documented in the promissory notes were 
intended to be subject to the alleged Umbrella Agreement, which does not exist, 
or to any collateral agreement at all. 

9. The deadlines for repayment of the Loans set out in the promissory notes 
represented the due date for each respective loan, and any forbearance beyond 
the due date was solely at the discretion of Kusumoto. Kusumoto gave no 
assurance of ongoing forbearance. 

10. There are no conditions precedent, or other contractual terms, which prevent the 
Loans from being due and owing in full . In particular, Kusumoto denies that 
repayment of the Loans was due only on occurrence of a "Liquidity Event" as 
defined in the Response to Civil Claim. 

11 . Kusumoto denies that the Defendant has suffered loss or damage as a result of 
actions of Kusumoto as alleged in the Counterclaim, or at all , and puts the 
Defendant to the strict proof thereof. 

12. The Defendant is indebted to Kusumoto as set out in the promissory notes 
documenting the Loans, for the sum of $1 ,787,451 .90, contractual interest, and 
solicitor client costs incurred in collection. These amounts are now due and 
owing. 

Division 3 - Additional Facts 

1. Nil. 
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Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT 

1. The responding party consents to the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs 
nil of Part 2 of the counterclaim. 

2. The responding party opposes the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs all 
of Part 2 of the counterclaim. 

3. The responding party takes no position on the granting of the relief sought in 
paragraphs nil of Part 2 of the counterclaim. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

1. Kusumoto never entered into the Loan Agreement or the Umbrella Agreement 
with the Defendant, and was not obliged to continue advancing funds to the 
Defendant. 

2. If Kusumoto ever indicated an intention to loan the Defendant further funds 
beyond the Loans, which is not admitted and is denied, then such statements 
were gratuitous, were not intended to be contractual , did not involve any 
consideration provided by the Defendant, and did not involve sufficient certainty 
of terms. Kusumoto denies that there was any enforceable agreement between 
him and the Defendant that obliged Kusumoto to loan further amounts to the 
Defendant. 

3. In the alternative, if Kusumoto had any obligation to advance funds to the 
Defendant, which is not admitted and is expressly denied, then Kusumoto denies 
that the Defendant has suffered any loss or damage as a result of Kusumoto not 
advancing further funds, beyond the amount of the Loans, to the Defendant, and 
puts the Defendant to the strict proof thereof. 

4. In the further alternative, if the Defendant suffered loss and damage, which is 
expressly denied, then the Defendant failed or refused to take reasonable steps 
to mitigate such damages. 

5. The Defendant's counterclaim is frivolous, vexatious, and an abuse of process, 
and ought to be dismissed with an award of special costs against the Defendant. 
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Address for service of the responding party: Velletta Pedersen Christie 
4th Floor - 931 Fort Street 
Victoria, BC V8V 3K3 

Fax number address for service (if any): 

E-mail address for service (if any): 

Date: June 16, 2023 

none 

service@victorialaw.ca 

Signature of CADEYRN N. CHRISTIE 
lawyer for filing party 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 
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(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 
(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 

control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial , and 
(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 



This is Exhibit "S" referred to in the affidavit of Zhao 
(Vivienne) Zhang affumed before me at Vancouver 
this 3rd day of July 2025. 
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NO. S 2 J { 0 _4 7' 
VANCOUVER REGISTRY • 

JUN O 'j 2023 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

BET 

AND: 

ECOASIS DEVELOPMENTS LLP 
ECOASIS RESORT AND GOLF LLP 
599315 B.C. LTD. 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD. 
TIAN KUSUMOTO 
TRK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION 

PLAINTIFFS 

ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. 

DEFENDANTS 

NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM 

This action has been started by the Plaintiffs for the relief set out in Part 2 below. 

If you intend to respond to this action, you or your lawyer must 

file a Response to Civil Claim in Form 2 in the above-named registry of this court within the 
time for Response to Civil Claim described below, and 

serve a copy of the filed Response to Civil Claim on the Plaintiffs. 

If you intend to make a Counterclaim, you or your lawyer must 02JUN23 2311314 RISS 
2i4•22 823404 7 

(a) file a Response to Civil Claim in Form 2 and a CoW1terclaim in Form 3 in the 
above-noted registry of this court within the time for Response to Civil Claim 
described below, and 

serve a copy of the filed Response to Civil Claim and Coilllterclaim on the Plaintiffs and on any 
new parties named in the Counterclaim. 

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the Response to 
Civil Claim within the time for Response to Civil Claim described below. 

Time for Response to Civil Claim 

A Response to Civil Claim must be filed and served on the Plaintiffs, 

35082.143365.TDB1 .15964071 .4 
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i 
(b) 

days after that service, 
if you were served with the Notice ofCiv1·1 Claim anywhere in Canada, within 21 

if you were served with the Notice of Civil Claim anywhere in the United States of America, 
within 3 5 days after that service, 

if you were served with the Notice of Civil Claim anywhere else, within 49 days after that 
service, or 

if the time for Response to Civil Claim has been set by order of the court, within that time. 

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. The Parties 

I. The PlaintiffEcoasis Developments LLP (the "Partnership") is a limited liability 

partnership registered in accordance with Part 6 of the Partnership Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 348, 

having an address for service in this proceeding c/o 1600 - 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver 

B.C .. V6C 3L2. 

2. The Plaintiff Ecoasis Resort and Golf LLP (the "Resort Partnership") is a 

limited liability partnership registered in accordance with Part 6 of the Partnership Act, R.S.B.C. 

1996, c. 348, having an address for service in this proceeding c/o 1600 - 925 West Georgia 

Street, Vancouver B.C., V6C 3L2. The units of the Resort Partnership are wholly owned by the 

Partnership, except one unit held by the Defendant Ecoasis Bear Mountain Developments Ltd. 

("EBMD"). 

3. The Plaintiff 599315 B.C. Ltd. ("599315") is a corporation incorporated under the 

laws of British Columbia with an address for service in this proceeding of 1600 - 925 West 

Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3L2. 

4. The Defendant Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest") is a corporation incorporated 

under the laws of Canada, and registered extraprovincially in British Columbia with a head 

office located at 224 West 5th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., VSY 114, and an attorney in British 

Columbia of Tian Kusumoto ("Kusumoto") having an address of 228 West 5th Avenue, 

Vancouver, B.C., VSY IJ4. 

35082.143365.TDB1 .15964071 .4 



3 

5. The Defendant Kusumoto is an individrn\l resident in British Columbia with an 
I 

address of228 West 5th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., VSY )J4. 

6. The Defendant TRK Investments Corporation ("TRK") is a corporation 

transitioned under the laws of British Columbia from the previous foreign jurisdiction of Alberta, 

having a registered and records office of 228 West 5th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., VSY 1J4. 

Kusumoto is the sole director and officer of TRK. 

7. The Defendant EBMD is a corporation incorporated under the laws of British 

Columbia with a registered and records office located at 2800 - 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, 

B.C., V6C 2Z7. 

8. 599315 and Sanovest are equal shareholders in EBMD. Kusumoto is the director 

of EBMD appointed by Sanovest; 599315 has appointed Daniel Matthews ("Matthews") to 

EBMD's board. EBMD is the "managing partner" of the Partnership and the Resort Partnership. 

It holds a single partnership unit in each. The balance of the units in the Partnership and Resort 

Partnership are held in equal numbers by 599315 and Sanovest. 

9. This Action is conunenced by 599315 in the name of and on behalf of the 

Partnership and Resort Partnership for wrongs done to the Partnership and Resort Partnership. 

Further, 599315 claims directly against Sanovest and EBMD (to the extent Sanovest has 

controlled or inhibited EBMD's actions as "managing partner") for wrongs done as partner in the 

Partnership and Resort Partnership. 

B. Facts 

1. The Bear Mountain Project 

10. In or around September 2013, Sanovest and 599315 entered into a business 

relationship involving the intended acquisition, management, and ultimately the sale of assets 

associated with the Bear Mountain project (the "Bear Mountain Project"), a resort conununity 

that was under development near Victoria on Vancouver Island. At that time, Matthews, through 

a company he controlled, had entered into a purchase and sale agreement for the Bear Mountain 

Project's assets (the "Bear Mountain Assets"). 
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' I 
In entering into this business relationship, 599315's principal, Matthews, and 

I 
Sanovest's principal at that time, Tom Kusumoto, discussed and agreed on the following 

I business terms: 

(a) the Bear Mountain Assets would be held in a limited liability partnership 

structure, which would take an assignment of the purchase and sale agreement. 

The partnership would be o.wned equally by Sanovest, which Matthews 

understood Tom Kusumoto controlled, and 50% by 599315, which Matthews 

controlled; 

(b) 599315, through Matthews, would be responsible for managmg the overall 

operations, setting strategic direction and managing relationships with 

stakeholders at Bear Mountain and in the broader community, including the land 

development work; Sanovest's primary responsibility was to provide the funding 

necessary for the acquisition, operations, and land development work; 

(c) Matthews, nominated by 599315, and Tom Kusumoto, nominated by Sanovest, 

would serve as directors in any companies associated with the partnership. In such 

companies, Matthews would serve in the role of President/CEO, reflecting 

599315' s responsibility for managing the overall operations; 

( d) Sanovest would receive an 8% rate of return on its debt financing, together with a 

first charge on assets, and a preferred waterfall distribution based on profitability; 

and 

(e) Their objectives with the Bear Mountain Assets would be to: (i) service and 

improve the operating businesses and amenities, with a view to improving the 

public image and community character of the Bear Mountain development; (ii) 

conduct land development work, including site servicing work, with a view to 

selling bulk sites to developers with vertical construction expertise and single 

family lots to high quality home builders, thereby increasing the sale value of the 

land assets as a whole; (iii) generate sufficient revenues from initial sales to pay 

down the fmancing provided by Sanovest; and (iv) sell the land assets, either in 
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tranches or en bloc, in an appropriate riianner, once the increased land value 
I 
I 

yielded a reasonable return on their investment. 

(the "Bear Mountain Business Terms") 

In order to implement the Bear Mountain Business Terms, EBMD was 

incorporated on September 17, 2013 for the purpose of acting as the "managing partner" in the 

limited liability partnerships to be formed. 599315 and Sanovest each owned 50% of EBMD's 

issued and outstanding shares. Matthews and Tom Kusumoto were each directors. Matthews was 

appointed President and CEO of EBMD and Tom Kusumoto was appointed secretary. 

13. The Partnership was then formed by partnership agreement dated September 24, 

2013 (the "Partnership Agreement") for the purpose of holding the Bear Mountain Assets .. 

599315, Sanovest and EBMD each became partners in the Partnership. In accordance with the 

Partnership Agreement, EBMD subscribed for one Class A Unit, 599315 subscribed for 100 

Class B Units, and Sanovest subscribed for 100 Class C Units. 

14. The Resort Partnership was formed by a separate partnership agreement also 

dated September 24, 2013 (the "Resort Partnership Agreement"). The Partnership and EBMD 

became its partners, with the latter as "managing partner". The units of the Resort Partnership 

were held 100 by the Partnership and 1 by EBMD. As described in the Resort Partnership 

Agreement, the Resort Partnership was formed for the purpose of acquiring the assets comprising 

two golf courses, and a hotel, and to carry out their businesses and other activities or business 

ancillary to or in furtherance of those businesses. 

15. It was an express or implied term of the agreement between 599315 and Sanovest 

in the formation of the Partnership and Resort Partnership that these partnerships would operate 

in accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms. 

16. Sanovest provided funding in accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms 

under a commitment letter dated October 8, 2013 (the "Sanovest Loan Agreement" and the 

"Sanovest Loan"). The terms of the Sanovest Loan Agreement include, inter alia: funding ofup 

to $35,000,000, an interest rate of 8%, and a maturity date of November 30, 2017. The Sanovest 
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Loan was secured by, inter alia, a mortgage over real ~roperty held by nominee companies on 

behalf of the Partnership, as well by guarantees from the ~Resort Partnership. 

17. The Sanovest Loan Agreement was modified by agreement dated June 15, 2016 

2016 (the "First Modification Agreement"), increasing the loan limit to $70,000,000 and 

extending the term of the Sanovest Loan to November 1, 2021. As set out further below, a 

second modification agreement subsequently extended the Sanovest Loan to May 1, 2024. 

2. Breaches of Bear Mountain Business Terms 

18. From October 2013 to June 2021,.the Partnership and Resort Partnership operated 

in accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms. The Partnership and Resort Partnership's 

business was carried out through EBMD in its capacity as managing partner. Decisions that 

required approval of the Partnership w~re made by Tom Kusumoto on Sanovest's behalf and by 

Matthews on behalf of 599315. At all times, and until approximately April 2021, Matthews 

understood and reasonably believed that Tom Kusumoto had full authority to act for Sanovest in 

all matters relating to the Partnership, the Resort Partnership, and Sano vest's position as a 

shareholder in EBMD. 

19. On June 1, 2021, following an internal change within Sanovest, Sanovest 

appointed Kusumoto (who is Tom Kusumoto's son) to replace Torn Kusumoto on EBMD's 

• board of directors. Following this appointment, Kusumoto has prevented EBMD from effectively 

carrying out its role as managing partner and has prevented the Partnership and Resort 

Partnership from operating in accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms. 

.20. 

(a) 

In particular, Sanovest and Kusumoto have: 

Prevented Matthews from effectively carrying out his role as CEO and President 

ofEBMD; 

(b) Prevented EBMD from carrying out the Bear Mountain Business Terms; 

(c) Attempted to seize control .of the Partnership's banking; 
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Claimed, but concealed from 599315, im~' roper and unauthorized fees under the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement, including, in particular, claiming in 2019 but 

concealing until June 2021, an unautho, 'zed fee of $100,000 on reaching an 

alleged $70,000,000 loan threshold under the Sanovest Loan; j 

Prevented the progress of planned and previously approved land development 

work, including with respect to the "Shadow Creek" site; 

(f) Blocked commercially reasonable bulk sales, and indeed sales for unprecedented 

value, of lands comprising the Bear Mountain Assets, which sales were 

contemplated by and consistent with the Bear Mountain Business Terms; 

(g) Acted to improperly entrench Sanovest's position as lender, including by 

preventing sales, and by refusing to subordinate or replace the Sanovest Loan on 

terms that would be commercially advantageous to the Partnership and Resort 

Partnership; 

(h) In the absence of alternative financing, failed to advance funding under the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement for operational and land development purposes 

contemplated by the Sanovest Loan Agreement, thereby depriving the Partnership 

and Resort Partnership of funds necessary to pay debts and to invest in land 

development, that would increase the value of the Bear Mountain Assets; 

(i) Prevented the Partnership and Resort Partnership from retaining incoming 

revenues to the extent required for cash reserves; 

G) After blocking sales, refusing alternative financing and failing to advance funds 

under the Sano vest Loan Agreement, conditioned any further advance of funds on 

entry into a second modification to the Sanovest Loan Agreement (the "Second 

Modification Agreement"), signed January 26, 2022, the terms of which are 

manifestly unfair to the Partnership and Resort Partnership and provide for profit 

and interest in excess of what a third-party lender could obtain in providing 

similar financing; and 
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Acted contrary to the interests of the Partnership and Resort Partnership in 
I 

litigation and arbitration matters for the P'VPOse of extracting separate advantages 

for Sanovest. 

( collectively, the "Partnership Breaches") 

21. As a result of the Partnership Breaches, individually and collectively, the 

Partnership and Resort Partnership, and 599315 as unit-holder, have suffered loss and damages. 

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this loss and damage includes, inter alia, the 

following: 

(a) Lost appreciation of the value of the Bear Mountain Assets, including due to 

impaired land development; 

(b) Reputational harm and damage, and impaired business relationships; 

( c) Lost value of sales, such amount in excess of $164,000,000 in 2022 alone, and in 

the context of a uniquely favourable market during that period; 

( d) Avoidable and improper interest charges and fees accrued to Sano vest under the 

Sanovest Loan Agreement, including as modified in the Second Modification 

Agreement; and 

( e) Impaired litigation outcomes and additional litigation costs. 

22. In executing and persisting in the Partnership Breaches, notwithstanding the loss 

and damages to the Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 599315, Sanovest and Kusumoto 

have acted in their own self-interest and to the detriment of the Partnership, the Resort 

Partnership and 599315. Advantages improperly gained by Sanovest and Kusumoto in this 

regard include: 

(a) Interest and fees claimed under the Sanovest Loan Agreement, including as 

modified in the Second Modification Agreement; 
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Kusumoto, personally or through TRK, eatning management fees in managing the 
I 

Sano vest Loan on Sano vest's behalf, inc,luding fees on the advancing and re-
' advancing of funds to the Partnership and Resort Partnership; 

Private arrangements with the adverse parties in the litigation and arbitration 

matters, the particulars· of which are unknown to the Plaintiffs but are known to 

Sanovest and Kusumoto. 

Sanovest has carried out the Partnership Breaches through Kusumoto in his role 

as its nominee to EBMD's board. Sanovest appointed Kusumoto knowing that he would carry 

out the Partnership Breaches, or, in the alternative, acted recklessly or negligently in making that 

appointment. 

24. At all material times, Kusumoto was aware of Sanovest's partnership obligations 

to 599315, to the Partnership and to the Resort Partnership, and knowingly assisted Sanovest in 

breaching those obligations, including to obtain improper advantages, personaiiy, through TRK, 

or through his interest in Sanovest. 

Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT 

1. As against Sanovest and EBMD (to the extent Sanovest has controlled or 

inhibited EBMD's actions as "managing partner"): 

(a) Damages for breach of the terms of the Partnership and the Resort Partnership; 

and 

(b) Damages for breach of its duties of fairness and good faith, and breach of 

fiduciary duties to the Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 5 99315; 

2. As against Kusumoto, damages for knowingly assisting Sanovest in its breaches 

of duty to the Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 599315; 

3. As against Kusumoto and TRK, damages for knowing receipt of fees earned 

under the Sanovest Loan Agreement (including as extended and modified) m breach of 

Sanovest's obligations to the Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 599315; 
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4. An accounting of all proceeds or payments received by Sanovest, Kusumoto and 
I 

TRK in relation to Sanovest's breach of its duties to the1Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 

599315, and/or the knowing assistance and knowing receipt of such proceeds or payments, and 

an order for restitution or disgorgement, or in the alternative, equitable damages; 

5. A declaration that Sanovest, Kusumot~ and TRK hold all such funds in trust, as 

constructive trustee, for the Partnership and Resort Partnership, and an order for an accounting 

and tracing of all such funds; 

6. In the alternative, damages for unjust enrichment; 

7. Aggravated and/or punitive damages; 

8. Interest pursuant to the Court Order Interest Act, R.S .B. C., 1996, c. 79; 

9. Special costs, or in the alternative, costs; and 

10. Such further and other relief as this Court may deem just. 

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS 

A. Action in the Name of and on Behalf of the Partnership and Resort Partnership 

11. At common law, a partner may bring an action in the name of and behalf of a 

partnership for harms done to a partnership. The Plaintiffs further plead and rely upon Rule 20-1 

of_the Supreme Court Civil Rules. 

B. Breach of Partnership Agreement and Resort Partnership Agreement 

12. It was an express or implied term of the agreement between 599315 and Sanovest 

in the formation of the Partnership and _Resort Partnership that these partnerships would operate 

in accordance with the Bear Mountain Business Terms. Sanovest has breached these terms, and 

caused EBMD to breach those terms, by carrying out the Partnership Breaches. As a result of the 

Partnership Breaches, the Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 599315 have suffered loss and 

damage. 
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C. Breach of Partnership Duties 
! 

I 
13. As partner, Sanovest owes statutory and common law duties to 599315, the 

Partnership and the Resort Partnership. These duties include a fiduciary duty and duty of good 

faith, which requires Sanovest to place the interests of the partnerships ahead of its private 

interests and to account to the partnerships for benefits gained in breach of a duty to the 

partnerships or to another partner. Further, Sanovest is under an express or implied obligation to 

carry out the business of the partnerships honestly and in good faith and with a view to fulfilling 

the business objectives expressed in the Bear Mountain Business Terms. 

14. Sanovest has breached these fiduciary and other duties to the Partnership, the 

Resort Partnership and 599315 by carrying out the Partnership Breaches. Further, Sanovest 

appointed Kusumoto knowing that he would carry out the Partnership Breaches, or acted 

recklessly or negligently in making that appointment, and is liable for his conduct. As a result of 

its misconduct, Sanovest has realized improper gains at the expense of the Partnership, the 

Resort Partnership and 599315, who have suffered loss and damages as a result. 

15. The Plaintiffs plead and rely upon the common law of partnerships and s. 22 of 

Partnership Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 348. 

D. Knowing Assistance and Knowing Receipt 

16. Kusumoto, as a principal of Sanovest and a director of EBMD, has knowingly 

directed the Partnership Breaches, and has permitted himself to carry out the Partnership 

Breaches on behalf of Sanovest. As such, he may be held personally liable for the Partnership 

Breaches. 

17. Further, Kusumoto, personally, and through TRK, has benefitted from the 

Partnership Breaches by earning fees in connection with the Sanovest Loan Agreement, which 

fees were earned by the wrongful preservation of the Sanovest Loan, th,e improper negotiation of 

the Second Modification Agreement, and Sanovest's conduct in preventing the Partnership and 

Resort Partnership from retaining cash reserves. Kusumoto and TRK received these payments 

knowing they were earned in breach of Sanovest's fiduciary and other duties to the Partnership, 
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the Resort Partnership and 599315, and are accordingly ,liable to account to the Partnership, the 
! Resort Partnership and 599315 for those fees. 

E. Unjust Enrichment 

18. In the alternative, Sanovest, Kusumoto and TRK have been enriched through the 

Partnership Breaches while the Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 599315, have suffered a 

corresponding detriment. There is no juristic reason for Sanovest, Kusumoto and TRK to retain 

such benefits at the expense of the Partnership, the Resort Partnership and 599315. 

Plaintiffs' address for service is c/o the law firm of Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of 
business and address for service is 1600 - 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia V6C 3L2 (Attention: Gordon Brandt). 

Fax number address for service is: (604) 669-1620. 

Place of Trial: Vancouver 

The address of the Registry is: 800 Smithe Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia V6Z 2El 

Dated at the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia, this 1st day of June, 2023 . 

.,/) //J /} ---- \\ .. :-.. .J\I\ 
/'::::::::::--, Vv]/(9 0c,ec.on \'3,0JI(!., 

Lawson Lundell LLP 
Solicitors for the Plaintiffs 

This Notice of Civil Claim is filed by Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C. and Gordon Brandt, of the law firm 
of Lawson Lundell LLP, whose place of business and address for delivery is 1600 - 925 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 312. 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 3 5 days after the end of the pleading period, 

(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 
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(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 
control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 
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(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties ofrecord. 
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APPENDIX . 

The following information is provided for data collection purposes only and is of no legal effect. 

Part 1: CONCISE SUMMARY OF NATURE OF CLAIM: 

Claim for breach of fiduciary duty and breach of contract 

Part 2: THIS CLAIM ARISES FROM THE FOLLOWING: 

A personal injury arising out of: 

D . a motor vehicle accident 

D medical malpractice 

cg] another cause 

A dispute concerning: 

D contaminated sites 

D construction defects 

D real property (real estate) 

D personal property 

D the provision of goods or services or other general commercial matters 

D investment losses 

D the lending of money 

D an employment relationship 

D a will or other issues concerning the probate of an estate 

cg] a matter not listed here 

Part 3: THIS CLAIM INVOLVES: 

D a class action 

D maritime law 

0 aboriginal law 

D constitutional law 

D conflict of laws 

cg] none of the above 

D do not know 

PART4: 

NIA 
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VANCOUVER REGISTRY 

BETWEEN: 

AND: 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

ECOASIS DEVELOPMENTS LLP 
ECOASIS RESORT AND GOLF LLP 
599315 B.C. LTD. 

SANO VEST HOLDINGS LTD. 
TIAN KUSUMOTO 
TRK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION 
ECOASIS BEAR MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. 

NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM 

~LAWSON 
•LUNDEL~ 

Barristers & Solicitors 
1600 Cathedral Place 

925 West Georgia Street 
Vancouver1 British Columbia 

V6C 3L2 
Phone: (604) 685-3456 

Attention: Craig A.B. Ferris, K.C. and Gordon Brandt 
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PLAINTIFFS 

DEFENDANTS 



This is Exhibit "T" referred to in the affidavit of 
Zhao (Vivienne) Zhang affirmed before me at 
Vancouver this 3rd day of July 2025. 



No. S234047 
Vancouver Registry 

ECOASIS DEVELOPMENTS LLP, ECOASIS RESORT AND 
GOLF LLP and 599315 B.C. LTD. 

AND: 

SANOVEST HOLDINGS LTD., TIAN KUSUMOTO, TRK 
INVESTMENTS CORPORATION and ECOASIS BEAR 
MOUNTAIN DEVELOPMENTS LTD. 

RESPONSE TO CIVIL CLAIM 

PLAINTIFFS 

DEFENDANTS 

Filed by: Sanovest Holdings Ltd., Tian Kusumoto and TRK Investments Corporation 
(the "Defendants") 

Part 1: RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM FACTS 

Division 1- Defendants' Response to Facts 

I. The facts alleged in paragraphs 1-7, 14, and 17 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim are 
admitted. 

2. The facts alleged in paragraphs 8, 10, 11-13, 15-16, and 18-24 of Part 1 of the Notice of 
Civil Claim are denied. 

3. The facts alleged in none of the paragraphs of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim are outside 
the knowledge of the Defendants. 

4. The Defendants say that paragraph 9 of Patt 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim contains no 
allegation of fact. 
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Division 2 - Defendants' Version of Facts 

1. The Defendants deny each and every allegation of fact contained in Part 1 of the Notice of 
Civil Claim except as expressly admitted herein . 

. -The Parties 

2. The Plaintiffs, Ecoasis Developments LLP (the "Partnership") and Ecoasis Resort and 
Golf LLP (the "Resort Partnership"), are each limited liability partnerships created in accordance 
with Part 6 of the Partnership Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 348 (the "Act"). 

3. The Plaintiff, 599315 B.C. Ltd. ("599"), is a company incorporated under the laws of 
British Columbia and is a partner in the Partnership. 599 is controlled by Daniel Matthews 
("Matthews"). 

4. The Defendant, Sanovest Holdings Ltd. ("Sanovest"), is a company incorporated under 
the laws of Canada with an address for service in this proceeding at 2900 - 550 Burrard Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia. Sanovest is a partner in the Partnership. 

5. The Defendant, Ecoasis Bear Mountain Developments Ltd. ("EBMD"), is a company 
incorporated under the laws of British Columbia with a registered and records office located at 
2800 - 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. EBMD is a partner in the Partnership 
and the Resort Partnership, and is the managing partner of each. 

6. The respective interests of the parties in the Partnership are as follows: Sanovest (49.75%), 
599 (49.75%) and EBMD (0.5%). The units in the Resort Partnership are held entirely by the 
Partnership with the exception of one unit, which is held by EBMD. 

7. Sanovest and 599 each own 50% of the issued and outstanding common shares ofEBMD. 
The directors of EBMD are Matthews and the Defendant Tian Kusumoto ("Tian Kusumoto"), 
who is a businessperson, with an address for service in this proceeding at 2900 - 550 Burrard 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. While Matthews has been a director of EBMD since its 
incorporation, Tian Kusumoto was appointed as a director ofEBMD in June, 2021. 

8. The Defendant, TRK Investments Corporation ("TRK Investments"), is a company 
transitioned under the laws of British Columbia from the previous foreign jurisdiction of Alberta, 
with an address for service in this proceeding at 2900 - 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia. 

9. Tian Kusumoto is the sole director and officer of TRK Investments. 

Acquisition of the Bear Mountain Assets by the Partnership 

10. The Partnership was created to acquire certain assets comprising the Bear Mountain Resort 
located near Victoria, British Columbia (the "Bear Mountain Assets"), including two golf 
courses known as the "Mountain Course" and the "Valley Course" (the "Golf Courses"), a 156 
room hotel located at Bear Mountain (the "Hotel") and other real property holdings. 
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Denial of the Alleged Bear Mountain Business Terms 

11. Sanovest, 599, and EB:MD agreed that the Partnership and Resort Partnership would 
operate on the terms set out in the partnership agreements entered into in writing between the 
parties. More particularly: 

(a) as it relates to the Partnership: by a written limited liability partnership agreement 
between EB:MD, Sanovest and 599 made as of September 24, 2013 (the 
"Partnership Agreement"); and 

(b) as it relates to the Resort Partnership: by a limited liability partnership agreement 
between the Partnership and EB:MD, also made as of September 24, 2013 (the 
"Resort Partnership Agreement". 

12. Further, the terms on which Sanovest agreed to provide funding to the Partnership are set 
out in an agreement made as of October 8, 2013, as subsequently amended, by which Sanovest, as 
"Lender", agreed to loan the Partnership, as "Borrower", up to $35 million, which was later 
increased to $70 million (the "Sanovest Loan"), secured by a first mortgage on certain of the Bear 
Mountain Assets and other security (collectively, the "Security"), on terms and conditions set out 
in the agreement, including as to the payment of interest ( originally and as amended, the "Sanovest 
Loan Agreement"). 

13. Sanovest denies that it agreed through Tom Kusumoto, or otherwise, to the Bear Mountain 
Business Terms (as defined at paragraph 11 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim) and denies 
further that Sanovest and 599 expressly or impliedly agreed that such terms would govern the 
operation of the Partnership or Resort Partnership or the provision of funding by Sanovest. 

14. Sanovest pleads and relies on the Partnership Agreement, the Resort Partnership 
, Agreement and the Sanovest Loan Agreement in their entirety. 

15. In specific response to paragraphs 11 (b ), ( c) and ( e) and paragraph 15 of Part 1 of the 
Notice of Civil Claim, the Defendants say that: 

(a) It was agreed th~t as equal partners in the Partnership and equal shareholders of 
EBMD, Sanovest and 599 would, through the board of directors ofEB:MD, exercise 
shared management control of EBMD, and through EBMD, of the affairs of the 
Partnership and the Resort Partnership; 

(b) Sanovest's "main responsibility" as partner was not to provide financing, as 
alleged; the Sanovest Loan Agreement is a contractual agreement between 
Sanovest, qua Lender, and the Partnership; 

( c) In any event, under the terms of the Sanovest Loan Agreement, Sano vest was not 
required to advance funds to the Partnership as and when requested, but rather, 
advances under the Sanovest Loan Agreement were always subject to the 
satisfaction of the conditions precedent to advances and the Partnership's 
satisfaction of the other terms and conditions of the Sanovest Loan Agreement and 
the Security; and 
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( d) There was no agreement, understanding or business plan as alleged at paragraph 
ll(e) of the Notice of Civil Claim. In particular, there was no understanding or 
agreement that the Partnership's land development" work would be limited in the 
nature alleged at paragraph 11 ( e )(ii) or that the Partnership would sell its assets as 
alleged in paragraph 1 l(e)(iv). The Partnership Agreement defines the Business of 
the Partnership and required the preparation of a business plan for the development 
of the real estate portion of the Bear Mountain Assets. Despite the terms of the 
Partnership Agreement and Sano vest and Tian Kusumoto' s demands, Matthews did 
not prepare, or cause EBMD to prepare, a business plan in this respect, and no 
business plan was approved by the directors of EBMD or by the partners of the 
Partnership, as contemplated by the Partnership Agreement. 

16. In specific response to paragraph 16 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim, Sanovest has 
made and, at the Partnership's request, has continued to make advances under the Sanovest Loan 
Agreement, including as recently as approximately June 27, 2023. In making the advances, and 
in agreeing to amendments to the Sanovest Loan Agreement, Sanovest was relying on the terms 
of the Sanovest Loan Agreement, including its entitlement to interest thereunder. 

Tian Kusumoto's appointment as a director of EBMD in 2021 and discovery of the Self­
Interested Transactions 

17. In early June 2021, Tian Kusumoto was appointed as a director of EBMD by resolution of 
the shareholders ofEBMD. 

18. Over the course of the period spanning the months preceding his appointment as a director 
of EBMD, and in the period thereafter, Tian Kusumoto gradually learned facts indicating that 
between January, 2016 and June, 2021, Matthews and Tom Kusumoto, in breach of their fiduciary 
duties and while having disclosable interests in the transactions for which no proper shareholder 
approval was sought or obtained, caused EBMD and a related company owned by the Partnership, 
to sell, assign or transfer valuable assets to Bear Mountain Adventures Ltd. ("BMA"), a 
corporation that Matthews and Tom Kusumoto controlled, or to Matthews personally, for no or 
inadequate consideration (collectively, the "Self-Interested Transactions"). 

19. The details of the Self-Interested Transact.ions are set out in a Notice of Civil Claim 
commenced by Sanovest in the Supreme Court of British Columbia on May 13, 2022 under 
Vancouver Registry Action No. S-223937. 

20. In defence to the Self-Interested Transactions, Matthews pleads and relies on the authority 
and consent of Tom Kusumoto, certain aspects of which are repeated in the Notice of Civil Claim. 
Contrary to those allegations, Tom Kusumoto was not the principal of Sanovest. He divested 
himself of his shares in Sanovest years before the Partnership and Resort Partnership were formed. 
Further, from September 2013 to March 2021, Tom Kusumoto was one of two directors of 
Sanovest. He ceased to be a director of Sanovest in the fall of 2021. To the extent Matthews held 
any different understanding, which is not admitted but expressly denied, such understanding was 
not reasonably held. 
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Denial of the claims of breach against the Defendants 

21. Tian Kusumoto denies that, following his appointment as a director ofEBMD, he acted in 
a manner to prevent ·EBMD from effectively carrying out its role as managing partner of the 
Partnership or the Resort Partnership or that he acted to prevent the Partnership or the Resort 

.. ... -Partnership from operating in accordance with the terms upon which-the parties agreed they would 
act, as set out in the Partnership Agreement and the Resort Partnership Agreement. 

22. In response to paragraphs 19 and 20 of ·Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim, Sano vest and 
Tian Kusumoto deny that they have committed the "Partnership Breaches" (as defined therein), 
or any one of them, as alleged or at all. At all material times, Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto have 
acted in accordance with the duties owed by them, including such statutory, contractual, common 
law and equitable obligations as were owed by them respectively. More specifically: 

(a) Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that they have acted to prevent Matthews from 
carrying out his role as CEO and President ofEBMD, as alleged at paragraph 20(a); 

(b) Tian Kusumoto says that steps taken by him in relation to the Partnership's banking 
were undertaken in furtherance of his duty as a director of EBMD to ensure the 
existence of proper financial controls, not in an effort by him or Sano vest to seize 
control of the Partnership's banking as alleged at paragraph 20(c), which 
allegations are expressly denied by Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto; 

( c) Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that any fees claimed by Sanovest were 
improper or unauthorized or that any such matters were concealed from 599, as 
alleged at paragraph 20( d) of the Notice of Civil Claim; 

( d) Tian Kusumoto says that the steps taken by him in considering development work 
were undertaken in furtherance of his duties as a director of EBMD, including 
acting to ensure that a business plan, including appropriate arrangements as to 
financing, were in place before approving the commencement of work; 

( e) Sano vest and Tian Kusumoto deny that they have blocked commercially reasonable 
bulk sales, as alleged or at all. Since Tian Kusumoto' s appointment to the board of 
EBMD in June, 2021, the directors have fallen into disagreements over the 
appropriate business policy and strategy for EBMD and the Partnership, including 
with respect the disposition of the Bear Mountain Assets. Matthews wishes to 
pursue the sales of bulk sites and single family lots, whereas Tian Kusumoto wishes 
to examine the desirability of a broader range of options, including pursuing 
construction, development, marketing and sales for the Partnership's own account, 
either alone or with partners, or exploring the sale of all or substantially all of the 
Bear Mountain Assets; and 

(f) Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that they have acted contrary to the interests of 
the Partnership and Resort Partnership in litigation and arbitration matters, as 
alleged at paragraph 20(k), and in particular, deny any interference in such matters 
with a view to extracting advantages for Sanovest. • 
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23. In specific response to paragraphs 20(g), 20(b ), and 20G) of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil 
Claim, Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that they have acted to "improperly entrench Sano vest's 
position as Lender", "refused to subordinate or replace the Sano vest Loan on terms that would be 
commercially advantageous to the Partnership and Resort Partnership", "failed to advance funding 
under the Sanovest Loan Agreement", or "conditioned any further advance of funds on entry into 

- ---a-second modification to the Sanovest Loan Agreement". In answer to these allegations generally: 

(a) Sanovest has preferred status as Lender to the Partnership pursuant to the terms of 
the Sanovest Loan Agreement; 

(b) No actual proposal for financing to replace the Sanovest Loan bas ever been 
presented to the EBMD board of directors for consideration, with the result that 
Tian Kusumoto has exercised no power as a director that bas prevented EBMD and 
the Partnership from replacing the Sanovest Loan with other financing. Tian 
Kusumoto has previously agreed in principle that the board of EBMD should 
investigate the refinancing of the Sanovest Loan once the Partnership has audited 
financial statements and the board bas approved a business plan that encompasses 
the servicing and repayment of the existing and new debt financing; 

( c) Instead of replacing the Sanovest Loan, by an agreement dated January 26, 2022, 
Matthews, on behalf of EBMD and the Partnership, entered into an extension and 
modification of the Sanovest Loan Agreement (the "Second Modification 
Agreement"); and 

(d) Both before and after the Second Modification Agreement, EBMD, at Matthews' 
direction or with his concurrence, sought and accepted advances of the Sanovest 
Loan from Sanovest. Despite Matthews' misconduct and breaches by the 
Partnership of the Sanovest Loan Agreement, Sanovest has continued to make 
advances under the·Sanovest Loan Agreement, including as recently as June 27, 
2023. 

24. In further response to paragraph 20 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim, the Partnership 
Breaches, or a substantial portion thereof, lack particulars and are accordingly deficient. The 
Defendants reserve the right to make further response to such matters upon the provision of further 
and better particulars. 

25. In response to paragraph 21 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim, Sanovest and Tian 
Kusumoto deny that the Partnership, Resort Partnership, or 599 have suffered any loss or damages 
as a result of the alleged Partnership Breaches. 

26. Further, and in specific response to paragraph 21(d) of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim, 
Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that the Partnership has suffered any loss or damage arising 
from interest charges and fees accrued to Sanovest under the Sanovest Loan Agreement. Sanovest 
is and has been entitled to interest on the amounts outstanding on the Sanovest Loan from time to 
time, and to fees in connection therewith, pursuant to the express terms of the Sanovest Loan 
Agreement. 
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27. In response to paragraph 22 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim, Sanovest and Tian 
Kusumoto deny that_ they have acted at any material time in their own self-interest and to the 
detriment of the Partnership, Resort Partnership, or 599. As set out above, Sanovest and Tian 
Kusumoto have complied with their statutory, common law, and equitable duties. In further 
response: 

(a) Any interest or fees earned by Sanovest are proper and flow from the express terms 
of the Sanovest Loan Agreemerit, which was a commercial agreement negotiated 
at arm's length between sophisticated commercial parties; and 

(b) Neither Sanovest nor Tian Kusumoto have "private arrangements" with adverse 
parties in ongoing litigation and arbitration matters involving the Partnership or 
Resort Partnership. This allegation is made entirely without foundation and 
Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto put 599 to the strict proof thereof. 

28. In response to paragraph 23 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim, Sanovest denies that it 
carried out the Partnership Breaches, as alleged or at all or that it acted knowingly, negligently or 
recklessly in approving the appointment of Tian Kusumoto as a director ofEBMD. 

29. In response to paragraph 24 of Part 1 of the Notice of Civil Claim, Tian Kusumoto denies 
that he knowingly assisted Sanovest in breaching any duties to the Partnership, Resort Partnership, 
or 599, in order to "obtain improper advantages" or for any purpose, as alleged or at all. 

Division 3 - Additional Facts 

1. Not applicable. 

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT 

1. The Defendants consent to the granting of the relief sought in none of the paragraphs of 
Part 2 of the Notice of Civil Claim. 

2. The Defendants oppose the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs 1-10 of Part 2 oftbe 
Notice of Civil Claim. 

3. The Defendants take no position on the granting of the relief sought in none of the 
paragraphs of Part 2 of the Notice of Civil Claim. 

Part 3: • LEGAL BASIS 

1. In answer to the whole of the Notice of Civil Claim, 599 does not have standing to advance 
any, or alternatively all, of the claims alleged therein. Sanovest pleads and relies on s. 3.3(c) of the 
Partnership Agreement. 
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2. Fwther, the claims advanced by the Plaintiffs, which seek to attribute liability to Sanovest 
for the conduct of Tian Kuswnoto in discharging his duties as a director of EBMD and for the 
conduct of EBMD, disclose no cause of action against Sanovest. Tian Kusumoto, when 
discharging his duties as a director ofEBMD, was not acting for or on behalf of Sanovest. 

3. Alternatively, if Sanovest is liable for the conduct of Tian Kusumoto or of EBMD, which 
is not admitted but expressly denied, Sanovest did not breach the Partnership Agreement, the 
Resort Partnership Agreement or any other agreement between the parties and did not breach any" 
statutory or common law duties owed by Sanovest to 599, the Partnership or the Resort 
Partnership, as alleged. 

4. In particular, Sanovest and 599 did not expressly or impliedly agree that the Bear Mountain 
Business Terms would govern the operation of the Partnership or the Resort Partnership. Sanovest 
specifically denies that it is under any obligation, express or implied, to "carry out the business of 
the partnerships . .. with a view to fulfilling the business objectives expressed in the Bear Mountain 
Business Terms". Rather, Sanovest, 599, and EBMD agreed that the Partnership and the Resort 
Partnership would be governed by the Partnership Agreement and the Resort Partnership 
Agreement. Sanovest did not breach the Partnership Agreement, or cause EBMD to breach either 
the Partnership Agreement or the Resort Partnership Agreement, or any other agreement between 
the parties. Further, Sanovest did not commit the Partnership Breaches or cause EBMD to commit 
said breaches. 

5. In further answer to the Notice of Civil Claim, Sanovest denies that it breached any duty 
of fairness and good faith or that it breached any fiduciary duty owed to the Partnership, the Resort 
Partnership or 599. In particular, Sanovest denies that it placed its private interests ahead of the 
interests of the Partnership or the Resort Partnership, except as permitted by the terms of the 
Sanovest Loan Agreement or that it derived any improper gains as a result of its conduct. 

Tian Kusumoto is Not Personally Liable 

6. Tian Kusumoto is not personally liable for the Partnership Breaches or for knowing 
assistance and knowing receipt. Tian Kuswnoto denies that he or Sanovest committed the 
Partnership Breaches, as alleged, or that he knowingly directed or permitted the sam~. At all 
material times, Tian Kusumoto has exercised his powers as a director of EBMD in good faith and 
in the best interests ofEBMD and the partnerships that it manages. 

7. Further, and in response to paragraph 17 of Part 3 of the Notice of Civil Claim, Tian 
Kusumoto and TRK deny that they have benefitted from the alleged Partnership Breaches, as 
alleged. Neither Tian Kusumoto nor TRK Investments are liable to account to the Partnership, the 
Resort Partnership, or 599 on the basis of knowing receipt or knowing assistance. 
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No Loss or Damage 

8. In the alternative, Sanovest and Tian Kusumoto deny that the Partnership, Resort 
Partnership, or 599 have suffered any loss or damages as alleged. 

No Unjust Enrichment 

9. The Defendants are not liable in unjust enrichment. In particular, and in response to 
paragraph 18 of Part 3 of the Notice of Civil Claim, the Defendants deny that they or any one of 
them have been enriched through the "Partnership Breaches", as alleged or otherwise. The 
Defendants further deny that the Plaintiffs have suffered a corresponding detriment in relation to 
said breaches. 

Defendants' address for service: Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP 
550 Burrard Street, Suite 2900 
Vancouver, BC V6C 0A3 

Attention : Andrew I. Nathanson, K.C./Jennifer Francis 

Fax number address for service (if any): n/a 

E-mail address for service (if any): n/a 

Dated: August 25, 2023 
Signature of"' • C-._;/ 

D Defendant IZl Lawyer for Defendants 

Andrew I. Nathanson, K.C./Jennifer Francis 

Rule 7-1(1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states: 

(I) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of 
record to an action must, within 3 5 days after the end of the pleading period, 

( a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists 

(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or 
control and that could, if available, be used by any part at trial to 
prove or disprove a material fact, and 

(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and 

(b) serve the list on all parties of record. 
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The Solicitors for the Defendants Sanovest Holdings Ltd., Tian Kusumoto and TRK Investments 
Corporation are Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, whose office address and address for delivery 
is 550 Burrard Street, Suite 2900, Vancouver, BC V6C OA3 Telephone: + 1 604 631 3131 
Facsimile: +l 604 631 3232. (Reference: Andrew I. Nathanson, K.C./329480.00001) 
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